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FERE
Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Tongfang
Kontafarma Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present to you the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
was approximately HK$1,344.3 million (2016: HK$633.3 million),
representing an increase of 112.3% as compared to the previous
year. The profit for the year of the Group was HK$35.9 million
(2016: loss of HK$27.6 million). The basic loss per share amounted
to HKO0.04 cents (2016: HKO0.75 cents).

The Group recorded a net profit for the year ended 31 December
2017 as compared to the net loss for the year ended 31 December
2016. Such turnaround was primarily attributable to (i) the profit
generated by the medical, pharmaceutical and health business of
the Group following the Group’s acquisition of 60% equity interest
in RJ5ZEEBAER AR Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group Co.,
Ltd* (“Tongfang Pharmaceutical”) and its subsidiaries in July 2016;
(i) the profit generated by the fitness business of the Group since
the completion of the Group’s acquisition of 51% and 29% of the
issued share capital in TFKT True Holdings and True Yoga Holdings
Limited, respectively, in May 2017 (the “Acquisition”); and (i) the
other gain arising from the Group’s Acquisition.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).
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OUTLOOK

Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business

Under the dual impact of the regulatory and economic environment,
the competitive landscape, operating mode and other material
aspects of the PRC pharmaceutical industry will be greatly
affected. The changes in policies and regulations bring direct
challenges to the Group’s capabilities in funding, research and
development, management and adaptability to changes. Tongfang
Pharmaceutical will capture the direction of the policies and grasp
opportunities arising from such reforms. As an overall strategy,
Tongfang Pharmaceutical will focus on front-line-markets, further
leverage its own strengths, reinforce internal management and
take the lead in individual market segments. Leveraging on its
own unique advantages and adopting a scientific management
approach, Tongfang Pharmaceutical will create greater value for its
shareholders and the society as a whole.

Fitness Business

In 2017, various competitors have opened new fitness clubs in
response to the steady and strong demand driven by the increasing
awareness of a healthy lifestyle. In particular, there is a foreseeable
strong growth potential for fitness centers in urban city areas in
the PRC amid the increasing recognition and demand. Many chain
fitness clubs are looking to expand their presence in the key cities
such as Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou. The growing fitness
trend has also led to the emergence of many new concepts and
small scale fitness studio concepts which provide small group
training classes for groups of 8 to 20 people. The growth of these
small scale fitness studios strengthen the awareness of fitness as
many of these studios are located in shopping malls and on main
street and prime locations in the cities.

The Group plans to engage a social media marketing company to
help build the brand by utilizing various social media platforms. The
management will also identify locations for flagship clubs in PRC’s
major cities and potential locations for franchised clubs in each city,
followed by the identification for acquisition of chain clubs in the
second and third-tier cities of the PRC. The Group will also explore
on the possibilities of taking over and rebranding existing clubs and
fitness centres in residential developments. In addition, the Group
will explore the likelihood of setting up fitness centres in industrial
parks in view of the demand from the operators, either by way of
franchising or by managing the respective fitness centres of the
corporates in the industrial parks.
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Cement Business

As cement is a raw material and bulk commodity, the cement
industry is by nature subject and closely related to macro-
economic-cycles and fluctuations in fixed assets investment. In
recent years, the PRC has been pushing forward the supply-
side reform for industries with overproduction, such as iron and
steel, coal, electrolytic aluminium and cement industries, thereby
greatly changing their fundamentals. With general decreases in
both supply and demand, cement market equilibrium in the PRC
restored recently. Nonetheless, the equilibrium was short-lived as
investment in fixed assets is declining. Due to the growing concern
about environmental protection issues, the PRC environmental
regulatory framework will become increasingly stringent. The
cement industry in the PRC may have to bear additional expenses
on environmental issues for compliance purposes. The Group must
consider the direction to tackle such challenges.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank our shareholders,
customers and suppliers for their continuous support to the Group.
| would also like to express the Group’s appreciation for the
contributions of the members of the Board and all staff.

Huang Yu
Chalrman

28 March 2018

* For identification purpose only
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Extraordinary General Meeting in 2018

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2017 was approximately HK$1,344.3 million
(2016: HK$633.3 million), representing an increase of 112.3% as
compared to the previous year. The profit for the year of the Group
was HK$35.9 million (2016: loss of HK$27.6 million). The basic loss
per share amounted to HK0.04 cents (2016: HKO0.75 cents).

The Group recorded a net profit for the year ended 31 December
2017 as compared to the net loss for the year ended 31 December
2016. Such turnaround was primarily attributable to (i) the profit
generated by the medical, pharmaceutical and health business of
the Group following the Group’s acquisition of 60% equity interest
in R7#EEBAER AR Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group Co.,
Ltd* (“Tongfang Pharmaceutical”) and its subsidiaries in July 2016;
(i) the profit generated by the fitness business of the Group since
the completion of the Group’s acquisition of 51% and 29% of the
issued share capital in TFKT True Holdings and True Yoga Holdings
Limited, respectively, in May 2017 (the “Acquisition”); and (iii) the
other gain arising from the Group’s Acquisition.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded
significant increases of HK$98.1 million and HK$42.8 million in
distribution and selling expenses and administrative expenses,
respectively. Such increments were mainly attributable to the
Group’s acquisitions of the medical, pharmaceutical and health
business and fitness business in July 2016 and May 2017,
respectively.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business

2017 was a year of changes for the pharmaceutical industry in the
PRC. In January 2017, the National Health and Family Planning
Commission of the People’s Republic of China (a supervisory
department of the pharmaceutical, medical and health management
of the PRC) issued the implementation plan for the Two-Invoice
System in respect of medicine circulation, signifying that the
system will be put in place nationwide. The implementation plan
requires that all provinces and municipalities shall introduce a
written proposal of the Two-Invoice System at provincial level in
2017 and the system be fully implemented across the country from
2018 onwards. Besides, the Ministry of Human Resources and
Social Security of the PRC released a new version of the medical
insurance catalog on 23 February 2017. This represented the first
substantial update to the national medicine catalog for medical
insurance schemes after eight years. It also permitted negotiating
market entry for medical insurance drugs. In other words, drug
tendering will be reopened, and resumption is expected to take
place in most of the provinces in 2017. Moreover, many other
policies that have significant impact on the industry were issued.
For example, the 13th Five-Year National Plan for Drug Safety
((T+=R]BEXREREL2#EE) ) tightened safety and quality
requirements for drugs. The Decision of the China Food and Drug
Administration on Matters concerning Adjusting the Registration
Administration of Imported Drugs ((EREmEREEEE
BEARNAREDERIMERBFBEEIENRE) ) permitted
simultaneous applications and modified registration procedures.
The Law of the People’s Republic of China on Traditional Chinese
Medicine ( (FFZEARKEFBEIFEESZE) ) supports and promotes
the development of traditional Chinese medical industry. Last but
not least, laws and regulations regarding medical devices and
shortage drugs shall materially change the competitive landscape
of the medical industry.

ERREKREFRAR ([EBRL )BT [#RGMPEE ]
“Certificate of Good Manufacturing Practices for Pharmaceutical
Products” awarded to Chongqing Kangle Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*
(“Chongging Kangle”)




— T — L FF 3K ANNUAL REPORT 2017

S B & &m &2 T Management Discussion and Analysis

10

CE-¥ 3

RAAFH#EFENESLBENEERE
E At mEEREBIBEFRKNE
HER FERARESTARRBER
BEmMERE BEE T —+tF+ =
A=+ —HIFEHBSEERAAR
B163.6EE L L E—RFARK
82.6EBELEREIBI%  HE_T—+
F+-_A=+-—BHULEEFEEENARE
1433FE L LT —RNFARK

e —

66.98 B TER114.2% °

RTEXZNEMBRARAR —T—1LF
BENTRENBARERIEREERRK
O WERESAETFEREEMBARE
BoREMN LR [MES] &
RERBE ROBEXIRREAZEES
- FEHERE R ERIIETIHE
B NERICEBRRBRER AR
ETTIERE - EHRMERBELIED
BERER - X EEHMFAZEOE D EED
B RARAFENREREREFT TE
o[ 77 BEEEMAME S F R
RARE BB TE - AZENKEERE
SRR DRE e AL RTWEE
BHFR SRR ERAREE S8
Hb BT B B[R] E2 41 R o

REZRARBEEZERAT ([RA
R#&])

PRARELETENSPEABEBEE
% RIEPEEE RiERDEARE
BAUNRKRFAEAEA ™ 2 £ E &R
AREHZ_ZFT—tF+_A=+—
BIEFEHSEERAARKE4.3H
BT T RNFEERAARK
56.1EBTER146% HE_T—+
F+_A=1+—"HILFEEINARKE
24 3BEB L LT —RNFEFMARK

i —

1458 &L K67.6% °

RARBER _FT—+tFHEAMBE
BRPL HTRALCER -TERE
MERRNE [REH] ] LR R B 8%
PR 78 = 8 1 3 5 <RI T BT AIUFT - Al T
EEESGRHMEHEN &£ mEMN
M mBHENTEMSGERSTTER
HOW—/F -

Tongfang Pharmaceutical

Tongfang Pharmaceutical is principally engaged in the
production and sales of chemical drugs with 30,000
square meters of drug production workshops in Yanging
District, Beijing. Its key products are prescription drugs for
gynecological and local anesthesia purposes. For the year
ended 31 December 2017, it recorded an operating revenue
of RMB163.6 million, representing a growth of 98.1% from
RMB82.6 million for 2016. Gross profit for the year ended 31
December 2017 amounted to RMB143.3 million, representing
an increase of 114.2% from RMB66.9 million for 2016.

In 2017, Tongfang Pharmaceutical and its subsidiaries
continue to focus on budgeting and key performance
indicators control, as well as fully strengthening its
information-based management. Benefiting from the
abovementioned Two-Invoice System and updated medical
insurance catalog, Tongfang Pharmaceutical aims to
strive for growth to a new higher level. On the sales front,
Tongfang Pharmaceutical has appointed external sales
agency to accurately capture the direction of national
policies to promote market expansion. In parallel with
deepening and solidifying its existing key markets, Tongfang
Pharmaceutical has been awarded tenders in the provinces
resuming tendering activities, which have laid a foundation
for the sustainable and rapid growth in the future. Besides
business expansion, Tongfang Pharmaceutical also upholds
the philosophy of fairness, strictness, trustworthiness and
lawfulness in its operation; due payment of taxes and
contribution to the society, and as a result, it was recognised
and awarded grade-A tax credit by the local government in
Yanqing District, Beijing.

Shaanxi Unisplendour Life Care Pharmaceutical Co.,

Ltd.* (BRER X REZEEEFR A F) (“Shaanxi Life Care”)

Shaanxi Life Care is principally engaged in business in the
Chinese medicine-related fields, including the planting,
manufacturing and distribution of Chinese medicines and
operating a production facility in Baoji, Shaanxi. For the year
ended 31 December 2017, it recorded an operating revenue
of RMB64.3 million, representing an increase of 14.6% from
RMB56.1 million for 2016. Gross profit for the year ended 31
December 2017 amounted to RMB24.3 million, representing
an increase of 67.6% from RMB14.5 million for 2016.

In 2017, Shaanxi Life Care continues to focus on financial
management by implementing micro management measures.
On the sales front, benefiting from the abovementioned Two-
Invoice System and updated medical insurance catalog,
Shaanxi Life Care pursues innovative and unique marketing
model, enabling it to gain a foothold among competitors in
the Chinese medicine market.
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Chongging Kangle

Chongging Kangle is principally engaged in the research and
development, production and sales of Active Pharmaceutical
Ingredients (“API”) and intermediate APl in Chongging
Changshou Chemical Industrial Park. For the year ended
31 December 2017, it recorded an operating revenue of
RMB45.1 million, representing a decrease of 24.8% from
RMB60.0 million for 2016. Gross profit for the year ended 31
December 2017 amounted to RMB7.1 million, representing a
decrease of 34.3% from RMB10.8 million for 2016.

The performance of Chongging Kangle for the first half
of 2017 was impacted by the external environment, with
its foreign trade business showing a significant decline as
compared to 2016. Furthermore, sales to individual key
customers in the PRC were terminated due to various reasons
including restructuring and adjustments in quality standards.
Chongging Kangle has conducted an analysis on its current
condition from market, production, quality and other
perspectives, and has also taken corresponding measures,
which included exploring new customer base, verification
and registration of new products, etc. Such measures
have vyielded excellent results. For instance, in respect of
Hydroxychloroquine Sulfate APl which approval was pending
for years, written approval and GMP certificate were granted
by Chongging Food and Drug Administration; the initial launch
of the products will take place in early 2018. Meanwhile,
the construction of Phase Il has reached the completion
and closing stage, and this newly built plant will commence
operation in the first quarter of 2018. Thus, it is envisaged
that the performance of Chongging Kangle will achieve a
turnaround in 2018 and become an important contributor to
the Group’s results.

SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (Ef B g (4t ) &£
MEMERDH) (“SPF”)

SPF is principally engaged in the supply of standardised
laboratory animals and animal indigenous raw materials. For
the year ended 31 December 2017, it recorded an operating
revenue of RMB34.5 million, representing an increase of
31.2% from RMB26.3 million for 2016. Gross profit for the
year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to RMB14.8
million, representing an increase of 52.6% from RMB9.7
million for 2016.

After years of efforts, SPF is now one of the leaders in the
laboratory animal industry in the PRC. Going forward, it is
the strategy of SPF to capitalise on its existing resources
and expand its business outreach. It will take advantage
of its strengths in technology, product and capital, and
focus on laboratory animals and animal indigenous drugs to
achieve fast expansion and build a business layout regarding
peripheral services and products.

11



— T — L FF 3R ANNUAL REPORT 2017

B E I & H T Management Discussion and Analysis

RATHEENR -+ FEREHINITEEY
%ﬁiﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁﬁ FRER B £ Al T 89 B
E)RES  EIR ARG . h B SR - 4
EEBEREYMBENRFPETREEMNREZ
ZhHiRRAT—EBEH - B—ER - B—EFH
BUBEAE FANEHRME FEERX
LR KEBF ARRNAFEEES
TEERE o

In 2017, Tongfang Pharmaceutical continued its effort in developing
a full value-chain biopharmaceutical enterprise. Based on its
focused and innovation-driven strategy, it has made every effort
to enhance the value of every segment, every product and every
customer of the existing chemical generic medicine, Chinese
medicine and other businesses using its internal resources and
market and customer development. It has also taken aggressive
attempts in product and business model innovation in order to lay a
foundation for sustainable development in the future.
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Production plant of SPF
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Fitness Business

The global fitness industry continued to grow in 2016. According
to the International Health, Racquet and Sportsclub Association
(“IHRSA”) Global Report 2017, the total industry revenue reached
an estimated US$83.1 billion, as roughly 200,000 clubs served 162
million members worldwide. Leading markets in North America,
Europe and Asia continued to grow.

The Asia-Pacific, home to nearly half of the world’s population, is
the world’s largest potential market for the health club and fitness
industry. At present, it serves 17 million members at 31,000 health
clubs across 14 markets (excluding the Middle East), where the
industry revenue totals US$14.4 billion in the region. The IHRSA
Asia-Pacific Health Club Report shows the regional market remains
largely untapped. Larger cities in Asia, including Beijing, Shanghai,
Kuala Lumpur and Jakarta, are home to maturing industries, while
future growth is anticipated in growing cities as well as the Asia-
Pacific.
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URFEEMRZEEREE

Spinning studio located in Xiamen, China

The implications of the above are immense as Asia-Pacific will be
the world’s largest consumer of health and fitness services as its
membership penetration rate moves closer to those of developed
economies, where a small increase of the membership penetration
rate will translate to a sizeable opportunity for local and emerging
players. Combined with exceptional demand dynamics, the
currently low penetration rates and sizable population will present a
rare growth opportunity to capitalise on a yet unpenetrated market.

The Group’s revenue in its fithess business segment for the year
since the completion of the Acquisition was HK$229.1 million,
which was attributable to (i) operation of fitness and wellness
groups comprising mainly fitness, yoga, spa and aesthetics groups
in Singapore and PRC; and (i) royalty fee income and service fee
income in relation to fitness and health activities in Taiwan.

The Singapore operation currently includes 8 fitness and yoga
centres operating under the brand name of True Fitness. In addition
to these clubs, the Singapore operation also operates a yoga
centre under the brand name of True Yoga.

The Singapore market has the highest penetration rate among the
population in Asia with over 4.8% of the population being members
of a fitness centre. The Group has opened a new express club in
the year to cater for the increasingly health awareness. This new
concept club has an average size of 4,000 to 5,000 sq ft and
charges a lower monthly fee as compared to the mainstream clubs.

Cement Business

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s revenue
generated from the cement business amounted to HK$761.5
million (2016: HK$508.8 million), representing an increase of 49.7%
as compared to last year. The increase in revenue from the cement
business was mainly attributable to higher average selling prices
and sales volume of the Group’s cement products as compared
to last year driven by the recovery of the cement market in the
PRC. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the sales volume
of the Group’s cement and clinker was approximately 2,601,000
tons (2016: 2,318,000 tons), representing an increase of 12.2% as
compared to last year. Notwithstanding an increase in revenue from
the cement business, write-off of fixed assets and other receivables
and the increase in research and development expenses have
hugely reduced the contribution of the cement business to the
Group as compared to last year.

The Group’s subsidiaries engaging in the cement business will
continue to follow the philosophy of innovation to forge ahead with
innovation in management and operation. They will also enhance
their corporate culture, continue to strengthen their technological
innovation and explore potential in all respects.

13



— T — L FF 3K ANNUAL REPORT 2017

S B & &m &2 T Management Discussion and Analysis

Bt 75 o]

RZE—NE+_AZ+=-8 A27RAA
REE ([ARABE])PEIINEFITRHNUNE
EMERIBEETENAI5.08 BE L A%
EZHBRBRIBERR 2 EMHENARNFER
FLSELOEEETEREN[ARABEZHE
RBER®| -

REBARBREER ZMBHEN AKH
REBEE_T—+tF+-A=+—HILFEDH
BARY ARKLENRETEMHELEM
SHReUARKBEFZERRTLE=F2E
AREfEES-

CE-LEABAREBZEEIFESR

2017 annual work conference in relation to the cement business

RZE—+F+-_A=+—H AEEEEH
BRITEBNESREBEN45.088E T (=
T—XRF:1,0274888 1) BERAe R

R FEEYWH3B1.58EBITU KD EMER
TERNBLSAEAET(—T—RF B
kR ZEMABI1BEEE T BEMIR
TERN421488E T RIFAANE
ToEAAZERFERL22.38EETIART
REIRITFERL25B8EEBT)

14

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financing

On 22 December 2014, additional shares of the Company were
issued in an open offer (the “Open Offer”) to raise gross proceeds
of approximately HK$495.0 million. Details of the Open Offer and
update on the use of proceeds are set out in the section headed
“Use of Proceeds from Open Offer” in the Directors’ report on
pages 48 and 49 of this annual report.

Except for the proceeds raised from the Open Offer, the Group’s
capital expenditure, daily operations and investments during
the year ended 31 December 2017 were mainly funded by cash
generated from its operations and loans from principal bankers and
third parties.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group maintained bank balances
and cash reserves of approximately HK$415.0 million (2016:
HK$1,027.4 million), including cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$381.5 million and pledged bank deposits of
approximately HK$33.5 million (2016: cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$581.1 million, pledged bank deposits
of approximately HK$421.4 million, time deposits with original
maturity between 4 to 12 months of approximately HK$22.3 million
and restricted bank deposit of approximately HK$2.5 million).
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As at 31 December 2017, the Group had outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$629.5 million repayable within one year (2016:
HK$916.3 million) and outstanding borrowings of approximately
HK$175.5 million repayable after one year (2016: HK$163.1
million). The Group’s outstanding borrowings were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”), United States
dollars (“USD”) and Singapore dollars (“SGD”) as to 47.2%, 52.3%,
0.3% and 0.2%, respectively. Around 78.2% of the Group’s
outstanding borrowings were charged with interest at floating rates
while the remainder were at fixed rates.

The gearing ratio (total borrowings over total assets) of the Group
as at 31 December 2017 was as follows:

—E-tF ZTE-RF

2017 2016

FEx FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total borrowings 805,002 1,079,441
Total assets 3,444,210 3,154,191
Gearing ratio 23.4% 34.2%

As at 31 December 2017, a balance amounting to HK$158.6
million (2016: HK$147.7 million) were included in the amounts
due from other related parties, which represent the provision of
entrusted loans through a bank to /&M (£E) AR A A
(Shanghai Building Material (Group) Company Limited*) (formerly
known as /g @M E (£E )82 A (Shanghai Building Material
(Group) General Company*)) (“Shanghai Building Material”) and the
related interest receivable. Details of the transactions were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 26 May 2017.

Financial Management and Policy

The Group’s financial policy aims at minimising the Group’s
financial risk exposure. Our policy is not to engage in speculative
derivative financial transactions and not to invest the current capital
in financial products with significant risk.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC and
Singapore and most of its transactions, related working capital
and borrowings are denominated in RMB, SGD, USD and HKS$.
The Group closely monitors such foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant currency exposure if necessary.
However, since the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$ which is different from its functional currency, it
is inevitable that the Group would face foreign exchange exposure,
whether positive or negative, from translating the accounts to its
presentation currency.
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Pledge of Assets

Details regarding the pledge of assets are set out in note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Material Acquisitions

On 6 May 2017, the Company, as guarantor, and Fester Global
Limited (“Fester Global”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as purchaser, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with each of Active Gains Universal Limited and
Active Yield Investment Limited (collectively, the “Vendors”),
and Mr. Patrick John Wee Ewe Seng, as warrantor, pursuant to
which Fester Global has conditionally agreed to purchase, and
the respective Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell 51%
shareholding in TFKT True Holdings and 29% shareholding in True
Yoga Holdings Limited, respectively for the consideration in an
aggregate sum of US$36,720,000. The completion of the above
acquisition took place on 29 May 2017. Details of the transaction
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 6 May
2017, 11 May 2017 and 29 May 2017, respectively and the circular
of the Company dated 28 July 2017.

Material Capital Commitments and Investments

As announced by the Company on 15 February 2012, Shanghai
Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai SAC”) entered into the <(BAR
#RIAfESEE | AEH%) (Ballonggang Project Construction
Cooperation Agreement®) and the (ERFZZAEE XA (FRA))
##%) (Agreement in Principle for the Establishment of the Joint
Venture Company*) on 13 February 2012 with Shanghai Building
Material, a state-owned enterprise, for the purpose of setting
up a joint venture company (the “JV Company”) to operate and
manage the development of new cement production facilities at
Bailonggang, Pudong, Shanghai (the “Bailonggang Project”) after
the relevant government approvals for the Bailonggang Project
being obtained. The setting up of the JV Company constituted
a very substantial acquisition of the Company under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules. The 50% share of registered capital of
the JV Company amounting to RMB400.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$480.0 million (2016: HK$446.9 million)) will
be contributed and funded by internal resources of the Group.
Details of the transaction were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 15 February 2012 and 30 January 2014,
respectively and the circular of the Company dated 16 March 2012.
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Tongfang Pharmaceutical

As announced by the Company on 3 October 2012, Shanghai
SAC entered into three purchase agreements on 28 September
2012 for the purchases of certain equipment and machineries at
the aggregate consideration of RMB380.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$456.0 million (2016: HK$424.6 million)), for
future use in the Bailonggang Project. The Company does not
intend to retain such equipment and machineries for its own use.
Up to 31 December 2017, Shanghai SAC has settled the first
installment of the total consideration under the three respective
agreements in an aggregate amount of RMB68.3 million (2016:
RMB68.3 million) (equivalent to approximately HK$82.0 million
(2016: HK$76.3 million)). Details of the transaction were set out in
the announcement and circular of the Company dated 3 October
2012 and 15 November 2012, respectively.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details regarding the event after the end of the reporting period are
set out in note 56 of the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 2,118 (2016: 1,064)
employees. The Group maintains a policy of paying competitive
remuneration packages and employees are also rewarded salary
and bonus on a performance related basis. In addition, share
options and awarded shares may be granted to eligible employees
pursuant to the terms of the share option scheme and the share
award scheme, respectively. The purpose of the schemes is to
provide incentives to the selected employees to contribute to the
Group and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees, and attract and retain human resources that are
valuable to the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

We have adopted the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to
the Rules Governing the List of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”) in
preparing this report. The board of directors (the “Directors” and
“Board”, respectively) of Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) considered we have complied with the “comply or
explain” provisions as set out in the ESG Guide for the year ended
31 December 2017. The Board plans to prepare the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG report”) annually and this
is the second ESG report of the Group.

BUSINESS OPERATION OF THE GROUP

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) was principally engaged in (1) the
manufacturing and sales of prescription drugs, laboratory related
products and pharmaceutical research and testing in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the “Medical, Pharmaceutical
and Health Business”); (2) the operation of fitness centres and
provision of consultation services for fitness and health activities
in Singapore, Taiwan and the PRC (the “Fitness Business”); and
(3) the manufacturing and sales of cement and clinker, trading
of cement and provision of technical services with operations
in Shandong province and Shanghai (the “Cement Business”),.
This report provides general disclosures that cover Medical,
Pharmaceutical and Health Business, Fitness Business and Cement
Business.

OUR ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG”) MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

The Board endorsed an initiative to pursue a clear and prioritised
ESG management approach that is closely aligned with the
Company’s overall business strategy.

The Executive Committee is responsible for the formation of
policy and guideline, and allocates the budget for ESG activities
undertakings for sustainable development.

Qur vision is to promote sustainable economies, build a solid
foundation and a bright future for the Group and enhance the
value of business partners of the Group and shareholders of the
Company.
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Our strategy is to comply with all environmental requirements
applicable to our business and to continuously improve our
environment management towards the industry best practice.

We engaged an external consultant to organise trainings
and workshops on risk management and ESG reporting for
management of all group entities in August 2016 and October
2017. Environmental Protection and Product Responsibilities are
chosen as our key aspects. The external consultant also provided
the Group with latest development and updates on the Code on
Corporate Governance and recommended best practice. These
information are valuable to us in achieving continuous improvement
in corporate governance.

PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT

We recognise the environmental responsibilities associated with our
business and are committed to minimise the environmental impacts
of our business operation. Our environmental strategy is to strike a
harmonious balance between our business and the environment.

Our major environmental policy is as below:

= To comply with all environmental requirements applicable to
our operations

- To improve the environmental structure towards the industry’s
best practices

= To integrate environmental considerations in all stages of
business operations (e.g. planning, design and manufacturing)

— To enhance environmental awareness of our employees via
trainings

- To support environmental initiatives of the communities where
we operate

We have a constant endeavour of reducing the consumption of
resources and emissions in all possible aspects in the course of
business operations by promoting the 3R Principle (Reduce, Reuse
and Recycle). We have formulated internal operational guidelines
containing detailed requirements regarding water and electricity
consumption such as the operating hours and temperature setting
of air conditioners.
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Huge amount of water is required during the cement manufacturing
process, residual heat power generation process, the medicine
manufacturing process and provision of fitness service. Our
sources of water vary and largely depend on the location of our
plants and fitness centres. We are consciously taking steps in
reducing our consumption and contributing towards maintenance
and recharge of water sources. We provide waste recycling bins
at all common areas of our plants to separate waste by nature for
recycling and appoint waste recyclables collection contractors to
help discharge them.

We have started to replace or upgrade our aged equipment to
models that have higher efficiency. When constructing or upgrading
plants impacts on the environment are our key consideration.
Ongoing replacement of Light Emitting Diodes (“LED”) lights in our
plants and office provides energy savings of up to 40% compared
to conventional lights.

In order to promote a green working environment, we request at
least one-third of the managed area of our operation plants to be
green.

About our Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health
Business

In response to the promotion of alternative energy use by the
PRC government, we have implemented a solar energy generation
project (“Solar Energy Generation Project”) in our plant in Beijing.
The project installed solar photovoltaic, which covers an area of
over 30,000 square feet and is able to supply the daily energy
consumption of our plant in Beijing. Any surplus of solar energy
generated would be sold to the plants nearby. Our Solar Energy
Generation Project effectively promotes the development of
alternative energy use as well as making contribution to a better
environment by reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Due to the
technical issue of the constructors, the project has been delayed
and the project will be resumed once the technical issue is solved.
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Clinical waste such as reagent bottles, disposed drug and
experimental liquid waste are the major hazardous wastes of
our Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business. We handle
all of our hazardous waste in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations. All hazardous wastes would have to go through
neutralisation treatment by qualified firms before disposal. During
the reporting period, our production base in Chongging produced
147 tonnes chemical wastes including distillation residues, actively
sludge, spent carbon, reagents and contaminated packaging. Our
experimental animal workshop produced 20.5 Tonnes medical
wastes including animal carcasses. All these wastes were sent to
qualified firms for disposal.

Unpleasant smell (mainly composed of ammonia) is produced by
our experimental animal workshop in the breeding of animals. We
adopted closed independent ventilation cage to raise our animals
and to collect 100% of the unpleasant smell from the cage to
spray tower through fans. In the tower, water recycled from other
processes would be sprayed to purify the gas from the impact of
ammonia. To improve the efficiency of the spray tower, we adopted
hacketten to increase the surface area of the gas and to diverse
the stream efficiently. Purified gas would be discharged through
chimneys.

All of our central-station air handling units adopts frequency control
to constant temperature and humidity, which provides energy
savings of up to 25-30%.

Water used in pressure cookers in our experimental animal
workshops would be recycled for cleansing the equipment and for
the spray absorber, which provides water savings of up to 1,540
tonnes each year. During the reporting period, we consumed
674,600 tonnes of water.

Regular energy audit or carbon audit was performed by
certain subsidiaries of the Group to monitor energy usage. All
pharmaceutical plants have passed the environmental assessment
certification of the Ministry of Environmental Protection in the PRC.
During the reporting period, we consumed 3,937 million kWh of
electricity, which generated approximately 12 million tonnes of
carbon dioxide emission.

About our Fitness Business

Electricity and water are the major resources used in our Fitness
Business. Apart from replacing our lighting system with LEDs,
we promote energy saving by having posters around the fitness
centres to remind users and staff to consume less water.
Furthermore, we are digitalising our business and transitioning
ourselves into a paper-less office. Since the acquisition to the
Group, our fitness business consumed 307,528 tonnes of water
and 10.86 million kWh of electricity, which generated approximately
6.37 million tonnes of carbon dioxide emission.
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About our Cement Business

During the manufacturing process of clinker and slag, exhaust gas
emissions (e.g. nitrogen oxides (“NOx”), sulphur dioxide (“SO2")
and dust) and greenhouse gas emissions (e.g. carbon dioxides
(“CO2") are produced. We have installed kiln gas analysers to our
cement kilns for online monitoring of the air pollutants. We have
also installed SNCR for the de-sulfurization and de-nitrification
to our kilns in accordance to the Emission Standard of Air
Pollutants for Cement Industry “GB4915-2013” requirement (dust
density <20mg/Nm?2, NOx<400mg/Nm?, SO2<100 mg/Nm?). Dust-
reclaiming mills were in place to recycle the dust incurred in the
manufacturing process and to be reused in cement production.
Site visits are regularly conducted by local environmental authorities
to monitor the pollutant emissions of the production lines. All
emission standards have met the requirements of the environmental
authorities.

During the past few years, we have completed the reformation of
inverter of clinker powder raw mill, technological updates of the
belt-conveyed bulk cement carrier and the reformation of electrical
dust precipitator. We have adopted low NOx staged burning
techniques in the kiln system.

In 2016, we have technically improved our water usage and
discharge system so that discharged used water is able to meet
the production standards for reuse purpose. As such, the water
system is able to achieve zero emission. During the reporting
period, we consumed 240,038 tonnes of water.

Regular energy audit or carbon audit has been performed by the
Company to monitor energy usage over the years. Our cement
has met the Norm of Energy Consumption per Unit Products of
Cement “GB16780-2012" requirement. During the reporting period,
we consumed 7,988 million kWh of electricity, which generated
approximately 24 million tonnes of carbon dioxide emission.

As a result of ongoing upgrade of our manufacturing plants,
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited was identified as one
of the national high-tech enterprises in 2015. In the coming future,
we would continue to enhance the dust collection rate of our
cement kiln and other environmental projects.

Our cement is either distributed by cement tankers or packed in
environmental friendly bags, which fulfilled the National Standard of
Sacks for packing cement “GB 9744-2010".
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Development Zone
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COMPLIANACE

Major relevant laws and regulations include but not limited to the
below:

- (CREDEBRBETEIEL)
(BERIRBERELBHSE 55 :1999.10.01E izhix )

- (PEARLFBEEREEYSRIREAE)
(FELE575:2016.F11 A07E M hR)
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- (SEETEERNRERESN) (ARTmEFZEARRERE
HHBEE SRS FE205 : 2012.03.01 E e hl)

In the reporting period, no reported instances of non-compliance
to relevant environmental laws and regulations was noted in our
operation.

Non-material key performance indicators

The Group decided not to disclose the material consumed for
finished goods and non-hazardous wastes as we considered they
are not significant. Materials consumed for finished goods are
mainly paper boxes and non-hazardous wastes which are normal
commercial wastes.

EMPLOYMENT

We recognise our employees as an important asset and we
provide fair and equal opportunities to our employees regardless
of their backgrounds and genders. As at 31 December 2017,
the Group had 750 employees from the medical, pharmaceutical
and health business, 1,124 employees from fitness business and
223 employees from the cement business. We are committed to
build an open and inspirational working environment to all our
employees.
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We promote fair competition

All employment decisions shall be based on objective criteria. Equal
opportunities principles are applied in all employment policies,
in particular to recruitment, training, career development and
promotion of employees. Remuneration packages are determined
based on responsibilities and performance. Working time, rest
periods and defined contributions are in compliance with relevant
labour laws and regulations.

Regulated by the employee handbook, our remuneration scheme
consists of basic salary, bonus, social security contribution and
statutory holidays. We contributed social security in compliance
with local labour law and regulations. Our remuneration scheme
is comparable to the peers in the local industry. Working hours
and rest periods are in compliance with local labour laws and
regulations.

In the reporting period, no reported instance of non-compliance
with relevant labour laws and regulations was noted.

We do not tolerate discrimination or harassment

We do not tolerate discrimination or harassment against any
employee based on their gender, age, race, or any status protected
by law. Complaints about discrimination or harassment would be
dealt with on a confidential basis and impartially. In the reporting
period, no reported instance on discrimination or harassment was
noted.

We welcome feedbacks

We encourage our employees to provide feedbacks and address
their concerns to the management proactively. Number of channels
are in place for its employees to express grievances and complaints
which will be well-handled according to the predetermined
procedures to ensure equality to all employees when related
matters are handled.

We promote occupational safety and health

We are committed to provide a safe working environment to
our employees and to protect them from occupational hazards.
Environmental, Health and Safety Management Systems are
implemented in all sites. Safety guidelines are formulated and
communicated to all employees.
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Relevant trainings are organised regularly to improve our
employees’ awareness on health and safety. We have appointed
safety officers to supervise the safety level of each aspect of
operations and provide the Group’s employees with information
and training courses about operation of equipment in office,
production facilities, mining tools and inspection equipment
on a regular basis. Spot checks by the management on the
implementation of safety measures are in place. Regular internal
trainings and ad-hoc external trainings are provided to our physical
trainers to ensure they are well-equipped.

In October 2017, our experimental animal workshop invited
external advisers to conduct an in-house fire safety training for our
staff.

In the reporting period, no reported instance of non-compliance to
relevant occupational safety and health laws and regulations was
noted in our operation.

O ©

We provide learning opportunities

We provide our employees with adequate trainings regarding
production, skillsets and code of behaviour. We provide appropriate
and ongoing trainings on quality and Good Manufacturing
Practice (“GMP”) to our employees. Our system not only ensures
that all applicable employees are trained, but also monitors the
effectiveness of the trainings.

Prohibition on child and forced labour
Our employment policy strictly prohibits the employment of children

and forced labour. In the reporting period, no reported instance on
child labour or forced labour was noted.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

All our raw materials were sourced from the Group’s list of qualified
suppliers. Admission to the list of qualified suppliers must follow
strict standards. After a preliminary screening, potential suppliers
will be subject to an on-site audit entailing a comprehensive
assessment of the supplier’s quality management level, capability
of ensuring a stable supply, safety and environmental management,
employee health and social responsibility, corporate culture
and business reputation, etc. The list of qualified suppliers was
managed closely with regular assessments to eliminate unfit
suppliers.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Product quality is one of our main focuses in our business
operation. We have established a strict internal control system to
manage our intellectual property, encompassing the administration
of trademarks and patents, the management of proprietary
technology and confidentiality, and intelligence and information
gathering. Trademarks of newly designed products would be
registered on a timely basis. Detailed descriptions of most of our
products are updated timely on our websites.

Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business

We apply and adhere to a strict set of quality standards, and we
adopted policies and procedures to identify, measure, control
and sustain product-quality excellence. We strive continuously to
improve these standards in order to enhance our quality and safety
procedures and ensure ongoing compliance with GMP.

Our manufacturing facilities are inspected by national authorities.
We adopted GMP in all of our manufacturing plants. Our chemical
drugs production base located in Beijing, the Chinese medicines
production base located in Baoji City, Shaanxi Province, and the
active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates production
base located in Chongqging City have all obtained the GMP
certification from the China Food and Drug Administration of the
PRC. The active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates
production line located in Chongging City have also obtained the
FDA certification of the United States and the PQ certification of
the World Health Organisation (“WHQO”). In 2017, Chongqging Kangle
obtained a new WHO PQ Certification for an active pharmaceutical
ingredient. Our experimental animal workshop located in Beijing
City has obtained the experimental animal production qualification
certification of the Beijing Municipal Science & Technology
Commission.
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Labelling is essential for our brand reputation. To prevent
mislabelling, we separate our production lines for different
products. All of our products are labelled with detailed information
in line with the requirements of relevant labelling laws and
regulations.

According to our drug recall policy, our pharmaceutical products
are divided into three categories based on their emergence level
of harmful impact and consequences. The drug recall policy also
prescribes that affected items be recalled immediately, as fast as
24 hours. To ensure the effectiveness of the recall process, recall
drills are performed every year.

Our experimental animal workshop breeds over 3 million mice
every year and we sell those mice to domestic and international
research institutions, tertiary institutions and other pharmaceutical
companies to support the life and health science research. In
2016, SPF, which principally engaged in the supply of standardised
laboratory animals and animal indigenous raw materials, obtained
the 2015 Beijing Advanced Laboratory Animals Industry Award (“Jb
REBRBYITE L EEREIE) issued by the Beijing Association
on Laboratory Animal Care. To ensure the laboratory mice being
raised humanely, we provide them with a good living environment
with adequate space, quality food and suitable temperature.
Technical updates regarding the animal welfare are given to related
employees from time to time. We follow the Principle of Animal
Welfare and Humane Endpoint (‘E)#)48 FI| B2 (- 22 4R Bh i 7 A9 R 1))
and implement euthanasia on our laboratory mice.

Fitness Business

We are committed to provide quality fitness service with latest
state-of-the-art cardiovascular training equipment to our
customers. Our fitness centres locates in Taiwan, Singapore and
PRC. As at 31 December 2017, there are 12 fitness centres and
1 yoga and dance club in Taiwan, 8 fitness centres and 1 yoga
and dance club in Singapore, and 2 fitness centres in PRC. Free
Personal Trainers Sessions are provided to new customers to help
them get familiar with the correct ways to use the machines. We
provided a 24-hour cool down period for each signed contract.
Customers are welcomed to cancel any signed contracts within the
cool down period. We handle our customers’ private information
in accordance to the relevant privacy protection laws. Our fitness
centres in Singapore is awarded by Shape Sports Awards for
consecutive three years from 2015 to 2017.
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Cement Business

We are committed to provide quality cement to our customers
through customer engagement such as quarterly questionnaire
surveys. We ensure the quality of our products is up to the National
Standard of Common Portland Cements “GB175-2007".

ANTI-CORRUPTION

In order to maintain a fair and efficient business and working
environment, we put great emphasis on anti-corruption. Our Group
does not tolerate any form of corruption. Also, we adopted relevant
code of conduct in employee handbook to prohibit employees
from extorting, charging or accepting any form of interest from
people, companies or organisations which conducts business with
the Group. Whistleblowing system is formulated for employees to
report any suspect of all forms of illegal practices. In the reporting
period, no reported instance on bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering was noted.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

We actively take part in community and charitable activities. For our
cement business, the Group donates cement to help surrounding
villages repair bridges, construct roads, and improve infrastructure
facilities. For people living in poverty, the Group helps them through
donating money or goods. Since the establishment of the Group, it
has donated over RMB4.1 million to external parties.

Over the years, Allied Wangchao has sponsored uniforms to
schools on Children’s day (1 June), sponsored notebooks and
granted scholarships to the children of our employees, paid visit to
the elderly living in adjacent villages and poverty-stricken families of
our staff during Chung Yang Festival and voluntarily repaired roads
nearby. The Group has spent over HK$15.4 million on donation and
charity work since 2008.

As part of corporate social responsibility initiatives, we also
provided free personal training sessions to underprivileged children
in Singapore.

*  For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report

Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
within a sensible framework with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence. The board
of directors of the Company (the “Directors” and the “Board”,
respectively) believes that good corporate governance is essential
to the success of the Company and to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of
the Company in light of the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the Directors, the Company
applied the principles of, and complied with, all the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2017 (the “Year”).

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises six Directors in total, with
three executive Directors (the “Executive Directors”) and
three independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”). The
composition of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Chaowen (appointed as the

chief executive officer of

the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”)

with effect from 11 December 2017 and

an Executive Director with effect from 23 January 2018)
Mr. Ng Qing Hai (ceased to be the Managing Director

with effect from 11 December 2017)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yi (re-designated as a non-Executive Director

with effect from 11 December 2017 and resigned as
a non-Executive Director with effect from 23 January 2018)

INEDs

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Zhang Ruibin
Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the

“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
in the Directors’ Report on pages 54 to 60 of this annual report.
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There are no financial, business, family or other material relationship
among the Directors.

Board Process

During the Year, the INEDs provided the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) with a wide range of
expertise and experience. Their active participation in the Board
and Board committee meetings has brought independent
judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, performance
and management process, taking into account the interests of all
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
had three INEDs representing not less than one-third of the
Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of
his independence and considers that all the INEDs are independent
under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well
as the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to
review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and
other ad hoc matters which need to be dealt with. The attendance
records of each Director at board meetings, board committee
meetings and annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”)
for the Year are set out below:

BREE C-3-tf
g R#¥ZEE HMZEE ENZEE  REZEE ZEE REBEXE
Risks
Nomination Remuneration Audit Investment  Management 2017
Board Committee ~ Committee Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee AGM
REAEERETEEZNY Number of meetings held during the Year 6 1 1 2 1 1 1
HE/BTEEZRY (M)
Number of meetings attended/held (Note 1)
HTES: Executive Directors:
BORE(FE) Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman) 6/6 11 11 11 11
BRgRE M Mr. Ng Qing Hai Mete2 6/6 11 il 0/1
FoTES: Non-Executive Director:
iR Bk A (i) Mr. Zhang Yi Mete® 5/6 1/1
BUFATES: INEDs:
BRBEEE Mr. Chan Sze Chung 6/6 11 11 2/2 11 1/1 11
Rini s Mr. Zhang Ruibin 6/6 11 11 2/2 11 1/1 11
REEHE Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack 4/6 11 il 212 il 0/1
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Notes:

1. Attendances of each of the Directors appointed or resigned during the
Year were made by reference to the number of such meetings held during
their respective tenures.

2. Mr. Ng Qing Hai ceased to be the Managing Director with effect from 11
December 2017 but continue to act as an Executive Director.

3. Mr. Zhang Yi had been re-designated as a non-Executive Director with
effect from 11 December 2017 and resigned as a non-Executive Director
with effect from 23 January 2018.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, Directors’ appointment or
re-appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions,
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and
financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive management under the instruction/
supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific
written terms of reference. The respective functions of the Board
and the management of the Company have been formalised and
set out in writing and are reviewed by the Board from time to
time to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and
regulations.

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance each year to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. A notice of a regular
Board meeting of at least 14 days is given to all Directors such
that they are given an opportunity to include matters for discussion
in the agenda. The company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman/Managing Director/the
Chief Executive Officer in preparing the agenda for meetings and
ensures that all applicable laws, rules and regulations are complied
with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are sent to
all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a regular
Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial
Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to
be considered by the Board, which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter will be dealt with by the Board at
a duly convened Board meeting. The amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”) also stipulate that save for the exceptions
as provided therein, a Director shall not vote (nor shall he/she be
counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board in respect
of any contract, arrangement or proposal in which such Director or
any of his/her close associates has a material interest.
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and the
related materials and to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
Directors are continuously updated on the major development of
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practices. In addition, a written procedure was established in
December 2011 to enable the Directors, in discharge of their
duties, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development
(“CPD”)

For CPD, in addition to Directors’ attendance at meetings and
review of papers and circulars sent by the management of the
Company, the Directors participated in the activities including the
following during the Year:

SHBESERETH
Participation in CPD Activities
HEHRES
BEREZ
= H R
BE B3
Attending
trainings/
briefings/
BIEEZRER seminars/
Reading conference
Regulatory relevant to
EENA Name of Directors Updates Directors’ duties
HTESE: Executive Directors:
=a L AE Mr. Huang Yu v v
=AM RE Mr. Ng Qing Hai v v
FHITES: Non-Executive Director:
o Bk ot A (WD) Mr. Zhang Yi Note) v v
BYFHITES: INEDs:
PR BB S A Mr. Chan Sze Chung v v
o B A 5t A Mr. Zhang Ruibin v v
RIEE L& Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack v v
B E - Note:

REKEEN_T—tF+ A+ BREIFNTES
YR NF-—AZ+=HEEFRNTES-

EERARECEHAFHRESTEIZLEE
SasrRl 2 FRIE X EA.6.51&-
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Mr. Zhang Yi had been re-designated as a non-Executive Director with effect
from 11 December 2017 and resigned as a non-Executive Director with effect
from 23 January 2018.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on directors' training.
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Board Diversity

Code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code stipulates that the
Nomination Committee (or the Board) should have a policy
concerning diversity of board members, and should disclose the
policy or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance
report.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in December 2013. The Nomination Committee
has been in charge of the review of the Board Diversity Policy.
The Board Diversity Policy sets out the objectives and principles
regarding board diversity for the purpose of achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives of balanced diversity at the Board
as far as practicable.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience
and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the Board.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive should be separate and
performed by different individuals.

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Managing
Director/the Chief Executive Officer are separate. Such division
of responsibilities reinforces the independence and accountability
of these Directors. Mr. Huang Yu, the Chairman of the Board, is
responsible for leadership and effective running of the Board, while
Mr. Ng Qing Hai, the Managing Director, is responsible for overall
management of the Group. With effect from 11 December 2017,
Mr. Ng Qing Hai ceased to be the Managing Director but continue
to act as an Executive Director, and Mr. Jiang Chaowen had been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary or the lawyer of the Company on the
first occasion of his/her appointment. This induction package is a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the responsibilities
and on-going obligations to be observed by a director pursuant
to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “Ordinance”), Listing Rules and Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).
In addition, this induction package includes materials briefly
describing the operations and business of the Company, the latest
published financial reports of the Company and the documentation
for the corporate governance practices adopted by the Board.
Directors are continuously updated on any major developments
of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practices.

All INEDs were appointed for a specific term, but subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office but are eligible for re-election. Details of the term of
appointment of the INEDs are set out in the section headed “Terms
of Office for the Independent Non-Executive Directors” contained in
the Directors’ Report on page 60 of this annual report.

According to the Articles of Association, at each AGM, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation. Further, any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the
first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment
whilst for those appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold
office until the next AGM and in both cases, those Directors shall
then be eligible for re-election at the relevant meeting. Every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
duties in accordance with its terms of reference. The duties of the
Board in respect of the corporate governance functions include:

()  developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and CPD of Directors
and senior management;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board has performed the corporate
governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
Committee, the Investment Committee, the Risks Management
Committee and the Executive Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by
the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members
and the committees are required to report back to the Board on
their decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The
procedures and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned
in the section headed “The Board” of this report, have been
adopted for the committee meetings so far as practicable.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by the Chairman of
the Board and comprises a majority of INEDs. Currently, the
Nomination Committee consists of five members, namely Mr.
Huang Yu (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Mr. Ng
Qing Hai, who are Executive Directors, and Mr. Chan Sze Chung,
Mr. Zhang Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, who are INEDs.

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on matters including nomination
and appointment of directors, succession planning and structure
and composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee is
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and it can
seek independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which
are available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with
matters by way of circulation. A Nomination Committee meeting
was held in 2017 and the attendance of each member is set out
in the section headed “The Board” of this report. In addition to the
above-mentioned Nomination Committee meeting, the Nomination
Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation during the
Year. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the major
work performed by the Nomination Committee was as follows:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’'s approval of the
proposed resolutions for re-election of Directors at AGMs;

(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition of the Board taking
into account the Board Diversity Policy;

(i)  reviewed the independence of INEDs;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
renewal of two INEDs’ appointments and relevant terms of the
appointments;

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
appointment of the Chief Executive Officer and re-designation
of Directors;

(vi) reviewed the functions/roles of the Board, Chairman,
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer and management;

(vii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
appointment of Executive Director and the new compositions
of the Executive Committee and the Share Dealing
Committee; and

(viii) recommended for the Board’s approval of the formation of
investment committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Mr. Zhang Ruibin (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Chan Sze Chung and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, all
being the INEDs.

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for remuneration of all directors and senior management
of the Group and other matters relating to remuneration. The
remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that their remuneration and
compensation are reasonable. The Remuneration Committee is
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and it can
seek independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of
the Remuneration Committee are included in its terms of reference,
which are available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. A Remuneration Committee
meeting was held in 2017 and the attendance of each member is
set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report. In addition
to the above Remuneration Committee meeting, the Remuneration
Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation during
2017. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee had performed the work as summarised
below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
existing policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors
and senior management;

(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
for the year ended 31 December 2016, and the salary
increments of the Executive Directors for the Year; and

(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the

remuneration packages of the Chief Executive Officer and
Directors.
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Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee which is to be
proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGM each year.
Further remuneration payable to the Directors (including any service
fees of the INEDs) for their additional responsibilities and services
will depend on their respective contractual terms under their
respective employment contracts or service contracts as approved
by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
while detailed changes in the emoluments of certain Directors since
the date of the 2017 Interim Report of the Company and up to the
date of this report were also disclosed in the “Changes in Directors’
Information” of the Directors’ Report. Details of the remuneration
policy of the Group are also set out in the “Employees” section
contained in the Management Discussion and Analysis on page 17
of this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than the Directors) during the Year by band is set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three INEDs, namely Mr.
Chan Sze Chung (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Zhang
Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack. To retain independence and
objectivity, it is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The primary duty of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board
in its oversight of the completeness, accuracy and fairness of
the financial statements of the Company, the effectiveness and
adequacy of risk management and internal control systems, the
independence of the external auditor and the performance and
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit and compliance
function. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and it can seek independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are included
in its terms of reference, which are available on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were
held during the Year and the attendance of each member is set out
in the section headed “The Board” of this report. In addition to the
above Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also dealt
with matters by way of circulation during the Year.
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During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Audit
Committee had performed the work as summarised below:

(i)

)

(ii)

(iv)

(vl

reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed
by the external auditor in respect of the final audit for the Year
(the “2017 Final Audit”) of the Group;

reviewed the independent review report/audit completion
report from the external auditor and the management’s
response in relation to the final audit for the year ended 31
December 2016, the interim results review for the six months
ended 30 June 2017 (the “2017 Interim Period”) and 2017
Final Audit;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval
of the financial reports for the year ended 31 December
2016, for the 2017 Interim Period and for the Year together
with the relevant management representation letters and
announcements;

reviewed the internal audit review report/summary (the “IA
Reports”) prepared by the Internal Audit Department (the
“IAD”) and an external consultant respectively, and instructed
that the issues raised would be addressed and managed by
the management;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
risk reports;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’'s approval of
the updated report on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget; and

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review
of the connected transaction policies, the related party
transaction policies and procedures, the whistle blower policy,
the policy on the disclosure of inside information and the code
of conduct and compliance manual.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently consists of three Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman of the Executive
Committee), Mr. Jiang Chaowen (the Chief Executive Officer) and
Mr. Ng Qing Hai.

The Executive Committee is vested by the Board with all the
general powers of management and control of the activities of the
Group, save for those matters which are reserved for the Board's
decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of
the Executive Committee.

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to
discuss the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal
with matters by way of circulation. The Executive Committee is
mainly responsible for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day
management and is empowered to:

()  formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(i) plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group
as determined by the Board.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors
have confirmed, following a specific enquiry made by the Company,
that they had complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code during the Year. Relevant employees who, because of
their office in the Company, are likely to be in possession of inside
information have been requested to comply with the provisions of
the Model Code.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with
the support from the finance department of the Company, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the Year, the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted
and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Ordinance have been complied with. The Directors believe that
they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable and ensure the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis. The reporting
responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 72 to 78 of this annual report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

During the Year, the Group has engaged an external consultant
to review the risk management framework of the Group (the “Risk
Management Framework”), including risk identification and risk
assessment for the newly acquired fitness business during the
Year; the risk assessment performed by the Group for the Year; and
the risk management policy of the Group (the “Risk Management
Policy”). We highlighted the key features of the Group’s structured
risk management approach as follows:

l. Risk governance structure

The Risk Management Framework is guided by the “Three
Lines of Defense” model as shown below:

EEe
‘ Board of Directors ‘

EREEESS

Risks Management Committee

BEZZEEE
Audit Committee

L

E—ERR —BEEE BER A ——REREERE EZEBRE —ABEX
(RBREE) (RLBgEEH) (RBRRE)
First line of defense — Second line of defense — Third line of defense —
Operational Management Risk Management Functions Internal Audit
(Risk Ownership) (Risk Control) (Risk Assurance)
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Board of Directors

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group’s strategic business objectives,
and ensuring the Group establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss; to manage
rather than completely eliminate the risk of system failure; and
to assist in the achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives
and goals. It is a key role in the management of risks that are
significant to the fulfilment of business objectives. In addition
to safeguarding the Group’s assets, it should provide a basis
for the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist
in the compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

The Board, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the IAD and the external consultant, conducted
risk management and internal control reviews of the business
operations of the Group for the Year and considered it to be
effective and adequate during the Year.

Risks Management Committee

The Risks Management Committee is responsible for
overseeing the overall Risk Management Framework and
to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related matters. It
currently consists of five members, namely Mr. Zhang Junxi
Jack (Chairman of the Risks Management Committee),
Mr. Chan Sze Chung and Mr. Zhang Ruibin, who are the
INEDs, and Mr. Huang Yu and Mr. Ng Qing Hai, who are the
Executive Directors.

Risk Management Team

The Risk Management Team is responsible for maintenance
of the effectiveness of the Risk Management Framework and
co-ordination of risk management activities of the Group. The
Risk Management Team provides input and feedback on the
development of the Risk Management Framework, assists
in promoting the framework and its processes, and has
oversight on the bottom-up reports and top risk records prior
to the submission to the Risks Management Committee.

First line of defense

At the first line of defense, operating subsidiaries of the
Group, as the risk owners, are responsible for identifying,
assessing and monitoring risks associated with each business
operations.
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Second line of defense

The directors and senior management teams of the respective
business units, as the second line of defense, are responsible
for assessing relevant risks and carrying out necessary control
activities, exercising appropriate supervision to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of control over activities within
and between different departments, and assessing and
presenting regular reports to the Risk Management Team.

Third line of defense

As the third line of defense, the IAD and the external
consultant perform internal audit work on annual basis
and ensures that the first and second lines of defence are
effective. They provide independent assurance to the Audit
Committee and the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal controls for the Group.

Risk management process

During the Year, the Group uses a blended top-down and
bottom-up approach for identifying risks. Sources of risk,
areas of impact, events and their potential consequences
are identified. A risk universe has been created to ensure
the entire spectrum risks are captured. The identified risks
are categorised into 4 main areas which involve financial,
operational, reputation and human resources.

The Group uses a 5-by-5 risk matrix (“heat map”) to assess
risks. The risk rating is scored in terms of the consequence
and likelihood of occurrence. Risks are rated according
to their residual risk levels. Residual risk levels refer to the
scoring of risks which exist, taking into account all existing
controls. The result from the risk analysis is evaluated to
determine whether or not identified risks are within predefined
risk appetite and tolerance levels.

Based on the risk evaluation, risks are transferred, eliminated
or effectively controlled through proposed risk mitigation
measures. Each proposed risk mitigation measure has a
designated risk owner and an expected completion date
assigned to ensure accountability for risk mitigation, which is
documented in the top risk records of the Group.
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Risk monitoring and reporting

We highlighted below the bottom-up reporting channel and
frequency of our key risk reporting activities:

From operating subsidiaries to the Risk Management Team:

° Prepares and updates the risk register of the operating
subsidiaries (annually)

° The remediation status of the proposed risk mitigation
measure documented in the top risk records (semi-
annually)

° Any significant risks identified from operating
subsidiaries (semi-annually)

° Any risks that exceed the risk appetite of the Group (real
time)

From the Risk Management Team to the Risks Management
Committee and the Board:

° The remediation status of top risks (annually)
° Any updates to the risk universe (annually)

° Update of risk management policy, including risk
assessment criteria (annually)

o Top risk identification including top risk dashboard, risk
universe and top risk records (annually)

° Any risks that exceed the risk appetite of the Group (real
time)

Annual confirmation

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss; to manage
rather than completely eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives. It has a key role in the management
of risks that are significant to the fulfiiment of business
objectives. The Board, through the Audit Committee and
with the assistance of the IAD and the external consultant,
conducted risk management and internal control reviews of
the business operations for the Year and considered it to be
effective and adequate for the Year. The management has
provided a confirmation to the Risk Management Committee
(and the Board) on the effectiveness of these systems for the
Year.
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Internal Audit

The IAD reports to the Audit Committee. The IAD plays an
important role in providing assurance to the Board that a
sound internal control system is maintained and operated by
the management. During the Year, the Group has engaged
an external consultant to perform internal audit services, in
which the scope of work and findings of the review have been
discussed between the Audit committee and the external
control consultant.

The IA Reports were issued to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the internal audit function. A discussion of the policies and
procedures on the management of each of the major types
of risk which the Group is facing is included in the section
headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the Directors’
Report on pages 50 to 51 of this annual report. The issues
raised in the IA Reports would be addressed and managed
promptly by the management, and the Audit Committee
and the Board are satisfied that there are adequate risk
management and internal control systems in the Company.

Handling and dissemination of inside information

The Company has a policy with regard to the principles and
procedures for handling and disseminating the inside information of
the Company in compliance with the requirements under Part XIVA
of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling
and dissemination of inside information, which includes:

Designated reporting channel for relevant officers in
possession of potential inside information to notify the
persons designated by the Board (the “Designated Persons”);

Designated Persons to assess the potential inside information
and provide advice, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on further
actions so as to comply with applicable laws and regulations;
and

Restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis.

External Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the Year is set

TN out as follows:
THERT
HK$’000
BAEERME R Services rendered for the Group
%8R 7% Audit services 2,350
FEZ B AR T Non-audit services (including review of
(BREEMEPHERRAEM) interim results and others) 250
T Total 2,600
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Si Tou Man Wai is the Company Secretary and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company. Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
stipulates that an issuer’s company secretary is required to take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in each financial
year. Ms. Si Tou has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to the Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

In addition to publication of information, the general meetings of
the Company provide important opportunities for constructive
communication between the Board and the Shareholders.

The 2017 AGM was held on 20 June 2017. The Chairman of the
Board took the chair of the 2017 AGM to ensure Shareholders’
views are communicated to the Board. The chairman of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee were also present thereat to answer any
question to ensure effective communication with the Shareholders.
The attendance record of the Directors at the AGM is set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.

The chairman of any independent Board committee formed as
necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman
is appointed, at least a member of the independent Board
committee) should also be available to answer questions of the
Shareholders at any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meeting for each
substantial issue, including but not limited to the re-election of
Directors and the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
the independent auditor of the Company.

The notice to Shareholders is sent at least 20 clear business
days before the meeting in the case of AGM and at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman
answers questions from the Shareholders regarding voting by way
of a poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed
under the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company can request the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting according to Article 64 of the Articles
of Association by written requisition, with stated business proposed
to be transacted, which must be validly served at the head office
and principal place of business of the Company registered in
Hong Kong (the “Head Office”) or at Tricor Secretaries Limited, the
branch share registrar of the Company (the “Registration Office”).
Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal at a Shareholders’
meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board at the Head
Office or at the Registration Office in the form of a proposed
resolution, which shall clearly and concisely set out the proposal for
discussion and be relevant to the Company’s business scope.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy. A
Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board to the Head Office
for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall state the
nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry. In
addition, Shareholders can contact the Registration Office for any
questions about their shareholdings.

As regards a proposed election of a person as a Director, the

procedures are available on the website of the Company at
http://www.tfkf.com.hk.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal actions against its directors and officers.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 13.90 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
posted its Articles of Association on the respective websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. During the Year, no
amendments were made to the constitutional documents of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Yu
Chailrman

28 March 2018
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Tongfang Kontafarma
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2017 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities and details of its subsidiaries as at 31 December
2017 are set out in note 52 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

The Group’s revenue for the Year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
Singapore. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Year set out
in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM OPEN OFFER

On 22 December 2014, the Company completed an open offer
(the “Open Offer”) to raise approximately HK$495.0 million (before
costs and expenses) by way of the Open Offer of 330,000,000
new ordinary shares of the Company (the “Offer Shares”) at a
subscription price of HK$1.5 per Offer Share on the basis of one
Offer Share for every two ordinary shares of the Company held
on the record date, 28 November 2014, on the terms pursuant
to the underwriting agreement dated 7 November 2014 entered
into among the Company, China Health Management Investment
Limited and First Shanghai Securities Limited in respect of the
underwriting and other arrangement in respect of the Open Offer.
Details of the Open Offer and the completion of the Open Offer
were set out in the Company announcements dated 7 November
2014 and 22 December 2014 and the Company’s listing document
dated 1 December 2014. The net proceeds raised upon completion
after deduction of relevant costs and expenses were approximately
HK$487.3 million. It was intended that the entire amount of the
net proceeds would be applied by the Group in funding the
development of and/or investment in pharmaceutical and health
business.
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As at 31 December 2017, all the net proceeds from the Open Offer
had been utilised in the following manner:

(i)  as to approximately HK$338.9 million in the settlement of
the consideration for the acquisition of 60% equity interest in
Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd* Rl S & ¥ £ E H R
‘A 8] (“Tongfang Pharmaceutical”) completed in July 2016;

(i) as to approximately HK$36.8 million in the investment in
medical research with a focus in immunology and small
molecule in August 2016; and

(i) as to approximately HK$111.6 million in the settlement of part
of the consideration for the acquisition of 51% and 29% of
the issued share capital in TFKT True Holdings and True Yoga
Holdings Limited, respectively completed in May 2017.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 79 to 80 of this annual report
and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for
the Year (2016: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the Company’s reserves during the Year are set out in
note 51 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$82.8 million.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and

equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” from pages 5 to 7, pages 8 to 17 and
pages 18 to 28 of this annual report and the paragraphs below.
The discussion and analysis in the “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” form part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Business

The medical, pharmaceutical and health business of the Group is
principally exposed to the impact of the policies and regulations
regarding the pharmaceutical industry. The increasing efforts to
reform the Chinese medical system in recent years have changed
the competitive landscape of the sector and created a lot of
uncertainties. From a micro perspective, various new laws and
regulations have been introduced every year in terms of research
and development and reporting of drugs, control on product quality,
environmental and safety issues, tendering and sale, accounting
standards and tax laws. The Group has to put in place concrete
and effective measures in response to the impact brought by the
changes in operating environment and rules.

Fitness Business

With the recent mergers of larger gym operators and the increase
in number of smaller gym operators in Singapore, the industry
is now faced with keen competition. Low entry barrier coupled
with a constant change in customers’ preferences have made the
industry even more challenging. The increased competition from
budgeted gym room and online mobile apps had forced the more
sizeable players in the market to react accordingly with price war
and deployment of technology to secure the existing members.
The industry is currently faced with the increase in both labour and
rental costs. Shortage of trained personal trainers and sales staff in
the local markets have also aggravated the manpower issues. The
Group will take effective measures to reduce the impact of these
changes and control the various risks.
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Cement Business

The cement business of the Group are mainly conducted in the
PRC, the economic conditions in the PRC have a significant impact
on the operating results and financial conditions for the cement
business of the Group. The Group’s average selling price of cement
products fluctuates along with demand and supply of the PRC
cement market. Moreover, the cement industry is highly competitive
in the PRC. The cement business of the Group competes with
its competitors for customers, raw materials, energy resources,
distribution network and skilled labour force. Although market
conditions cannot be controlled, the Group believes it has effective
measures in place to respond to changes. The Group will continue
to focus on the basis of pricing of our products, our service, variety
of product offerings, access to resources, sales and marketing,
network, production efficiency and brand image to mitigate and
control the various risks.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, a discussion
of the policies and procedures on the management of each of the
major types of financial risks which the Group is facing is included
in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations
Details of compliance with relevant laws and regulations are set out
in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 18 to

28 of this annual report.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

Details of relationships with employees, customers and suppliers

are set out in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 18 to 28 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Particulars of the share award scheme of the Company are set out
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the amended
and restated articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Bank and other borrowings of the Group which are repayable within
one year are classified as current liabilities. Repayment analysis of
bank and other borrowings of the Group is set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The Group
had not capitalised any interest during the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results as well as the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 220 of this
annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
Shares (the “Shares”).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) during the Year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Chaowen (chief executive officer of the Company
(the “Chief Executive Officer”))
(Date of appointment: 23 January 2018)

Mr. Ng Qing Hai

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Yi
(Date of re-designation from Executive Director:
11 December 2017)
(Date of resignation: 23 January 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Zhang Ruibin
Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang
Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack shall retire from office by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 6 June 2018 (the
“2018 AGM”).

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Jiang
Chaowen shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and subject to re-election at such
meeting. Since Mr. Jiang Chaowen was not offered for re-election
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 16
March 2018, he shall retire at the 2018 AGM and, being eligible,
offer himself for re-election at the 2018 AGM.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Huang Yu, aged 49, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company (the “Executive Director”) and Chairman of the
Board on 15 March 2014 and 24 July 2014, respectively. Mr.
Huang was also appointed as a chairman of each of the executive
committee, nomination committee, share dealing committee and
investment committee of the Company and a member of the risks
management committee of the Company. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Huang obtained a
master’s degree in science from the University of Greenwich. He
is the chairman of the board of directors of Shenzhen Huakong
Seg Co., Ltd.” (stock code: 68), the issued shares of which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, an executive director
of Shenzhen Aorongxin Investment Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Shenzhen Aorongxin”), the chairman of supervisory committee of
Penghua Fund Management Co., Ltd* and the vice chairman and
president of Tsinghua Tongfang Co., Ltd.* (“Tsinghua Tongfang”)
(stock code: 600100), the issued shares of which are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang is also the chairman of
Technovator International Limited (stock code: 1206), the issued
shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and Neo-Neon Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1868), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

Jiang Chaowen, aged 52, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director on 11 December 2017 and 23
January 2018 respectively. He was also appointed as a member
of each of the executive committee and share dealing committee
of the Company. He joined the Group in July 2016, is currently
the president of Tongfang Pharmaceutical and the chairman of Hf
B (dbR) £ AR A7 (SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co.,
Ltd.*), EEELR L5 A a (Chongging Kangle Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd."), BRFAE LR R B B ¥ B BR A A) (Shaanxi Unisplendour Life
Care Pharmaceutical and PHHEI M2 T E BB AR (Tibet Linzhi
Medical Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.”*), all of which are the subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Jiang obtained his master degree from the
School of Business Administration of Chongqging University. He
did further study at the Party School of Chinese Communist Party
of Chongqing City, Tsinghua University, Southwest China Normal
University, and Chongqging University etc. during working time.
Prior to joining the Group, he held positions of general manager
and chairman in various companies, including 78 F 2 25— % (The
First South-west Pharmaceutical Factory*) ( EE 55 Z 2GR A A
(Chongaing Qingyang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*), EEEREY T
2B R A7) (Chongging Jiachen Biological Engineering Co., Ltd.*),
Chongging Jewelland Pharmaceutical Development Co., Ltd.* and
Si Chuan Jewelland Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* He has nearly 30
years of extensive management experience in the pharmaceutical
industry.
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Ng Qing Hai, aged 61, was appointed as a Director in March 2011
and was re-designated as an Executive Director in December 2011.
Upon ceasing to act as Managing Director of the Company on 11
December 2017, Mr. Ng continues to be the Executive Director.
Mr. Ng was also appointed as a member of each of the executive
committee, nomination committee, risks management committee
and share dealing committee of the Company. Mr. Ng is a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ng completed a three-
year course in finance and accounting in building materials industry
in the faculty of enterprises management at Shanghai Institute
of Building Materials Industry in 1983. He is a non-practising
member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Ng was the 6th vice chairman of Shanghai Cement Industrial
Association of the PRC, and was a fellow member of the Asian
Knowledge Management Association from November 2005 to
November 2006. He was appointed as a member of 11th and
12th Shandong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference in January 2013 and January
2018, respectively. Mr. Ng was the chief executive officer (from 15
May 2001 to 20 April 2010), the president (from 15 May 2001 to
24 June 2014) and an executive director (from 15 May 2001 to
24 June 2014) of ChinaVision Media Group Limited (now known
as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited) (stock code: 1060), the issued
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ng was a
non-executive director of Tian An China Investments Company
Limited (stock code: 28), the issued shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange, from 18 January 2012 to 18 January 2018.
Mr. Ng was a non-executive director of China Shanshui Cement
Group Limited (stock code: 0691), the issued shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange, from 1 December 2015 to 2
February 2016. Mr. Ng was appointed as a director (on 27 June
2014) and the general manager (on 21 December 2015) of Grand
Ocean Retail Group Limited (security code: 5907), the issued
shares of which are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, and the
president (on 21 December 2015) and the director as well as the
chairman (on 18 October 2016) of its subsidiary, Grand Ocean
Department Stores Group Ltd. He is a director of First Steamship
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2601), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Taiwan Stock Exchange, with effect from 11 July 2016.
Mr. Ng is a younger brother of Mr. Huang Wuhu, a member of the
senior management of the Group.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Chan Sze Chung, aged 48, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company (the “INED”) on 20
December 2011. He entered into a new appointment letter with
the Company on 11 December 2017 upon the expiry of previous
terms with a term from 18 January 2018 until 17 January 2020.
He is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of
each of the remuneration committee, nomination committee,
risks management committee and investment committee of the
Company. He graduated from the University of Wales with a
bachelor of arts degree in accounting and finance in July 1991
and obtained a master of arts degree in accounting and finance
at the University of Lancaster in December 1992. Mr. Chan is a
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Besides, he is also recognised as a
chartered financial analyst by the CFA Institute of the United States
of America. Prior to joining the Company, he acted as the chief
financial officer (from December 2009 to August 2010) of Coolpoint
Energy Limited (now known as Viva China Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 8032), the issued shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, as the acting chief financial officer (from September
2008 to March 2009) of Nam Tai Electronic & Electrical Products
Limited, the issued shares of which were previously listed on the
Stock Exchange, and as the vice chief financial officer (from March
2009 to November 2009) of Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. (now known
as Nam Tai Property Inc.) (NYSE: NTP), the issued shares of which
are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. During the period from
January 1993 to August 1997, Mr. Chan was employed by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu and served as a senior accountant at the time of
his resignation.
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Zhang Ruibin, aged 45, was appointed as an INED on 24 July
2014. Mr. Zhang was also appointed as the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit
committee, nomination committee, risks management committee
and investment committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang holds a
doctoral degree in statistics from the Xiamen University. He was
a postdoctoral research fellow at the Renmin University of China
and R E A RIE{TE R IFT. He obtained a qualification of non-
practicing certified public accountant in China. He was qualified as
a senior economist by EH & A FEE. He was qualified as a certified
treasury professional of The Association for Financial Professionals.
He has been awarded the research project second prize by The
Securities Association of China and the key research project third
prize by the People’s Bank of China. Mr. Zhang is an external
director of Moutai Group Company Limited*. Mr. Zhang has been (i)
an independent director of Guizhou Panjiang Refined Coal Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 600395), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, from 18 May 2013 to 23 March 2017;
(i) an independent director of China Zhenhua (Group) Science &
Technology Co. Ltd.* (stock code: 000733), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since 25 July
2014; (i) an independent director of Guizhou Qianyuan Power Co.,
Ltd.” (stock code: 002039), the issued shares of which are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since 12 September 2014; (iv) an
independent director of Guizhou Jiulian Industrial Explosive Material
Development Co., Ltd.* (stock code: 002037), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since 10 March
2016; and (v) an executive director of Beijing Wudaokou Education
& Technology Co., Ltd.* since 22 July 2016.
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Zhang Junxi Jack, aged 54, was appointed as an INED on 21
August 2015. Mr. Zhang was also appointed as the chairman of the
risks management committee and a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Zhang graduated from the Nankai University with
a bachelor degree in Physics in July 1983. He obtained a master
of business administration degree established jointly by the Ministry
of Education of the People’s Republic of China (formerly known
as the State Education Commission of the People’s Republic of
China), Nankai University and Canadian International Development
Agency in July 1986. Mr. Zhang also obtained a doctoral degree
in the Department of Economics at the University of Pittsburgh in
the United States in August 1992. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years
of experience in the field of economics, financial and business
management, and mainly engaged in teaching and research work
in the aspect of Monetary Economics and Finance. Mr. Zhang
has been an independent director of China Bohai Bank Co., Ltd.
since February 2013, the vice principal of the Tianjin University
of Finance and Economics since December 2011 and a part-
time professor of China Center for Economic Research in Peking
University since September 2000. From April 2007 to March 2010,
he was an investment strategy and development analyst of Binhai
Investment Company Limited (stock code: 2886), the issued shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. From August 1992 to
August 1995, Mr. Zhang taught in the Department of Economics
of The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and he was engaged in
teaching and researching at the University of Dundee in the United
Kingdom from August 1995 to July 1997. Mr. Zhang taught in the
National University of Singapore from July 1997 to August 1998.
From September 1998 to August 2012, he has been a doctoral
tutor in the School of Economics and Finance at The University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Zhang is an internationally well-known financial
economist, he has been the dean of the China Academy of
Finance and Development at the Central University of Finance and
Economics from September 2006 to August 2009 and the dean of
the Institute of Finance and Development at the Nankai University
from September 2009 to April 2012.

Senior Management

Si Tou Man Wai, aged 40, was appointed as the chief financial
officer and the company secretary of the Company on 7
November 2014. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Ms. Si Tou holds a master of commerce degree
in funds management and a bachelor of commerce degree
in accounting and finance from the University of New South
Wales. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia. Ms. Si Tou has more than 17 years
of experience in auditing, accounting, financing, and financial
advisory services including mergers and acquisitions, valuation
and corporate restructuring, gained from both professional firm
and listed company. Prior to joining the Company, she worked at
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Hong Kong. From 29 June 2015 to 26
September 2016, she was an independent non-executive director
of Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8316), the
issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Leung Ka Yip Danny, aged 36, joined the Company in July 2016.
He is the financial controller of the Company and also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Leung was graduated
from the University of Toronto with a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration in Accounting. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Certified Management Accountants. Prior to joining the Company,
he worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Hong Kong as an audit
manager. Mr. Leung has extensive experiences in the field of
accounting, auditing and financial management.

Cao Jie, aged 49, joined the Group in July 2016. He is the
general manager of Huakong Innovation (Beijing) Institute of
Pharmaceutical Research Co., Ltd.*, a subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Cao obtained his undergraduate degree in Chinese Medicine
from the Tianjin University of Traditional Chinese Medicine in the
year of 1992. He has accumulated nearly 26 years of experience
in the medical and pharmaceutical industry working for, amongst
others, biotechnology companies and pharmaceutical science
and technology companies where he has acted as a research and
development director for approximately 15 years.

Li Shawn Xiang, aged 38, joined the Group as the Chief
Investment Officer in July 2015. Mr. Li obtained his undergraduate
degree in Information Science from the University of Pittsburgh, and
obtained his MBA degree from the Marshall School of Business of
the University of Southern California. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Li worked at OppenheimerFunds (New York), Investment Banking
Division of Morgan Stanley (Hong Kong), and Investment Banking
& Asset Management Division of Bank of China (Beijing), during
which he was actively involved in numerous initial public offering,
financing, and mergers and acquisitions projects, many of which
are in the healthcare industry. Mr. Li has accumulated over 10 years
of extensive experience in finance and investment related fields.

Huang Wuhu, aged 65, joined the Group in June 2001, is
a director and the general manager of Shandong Shanghai
Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shandong SAC”) and the chairman of
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited (“Allied Wangchao”),
both of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Huang worked for various unions in Nan'an City
of Fujian province, the PRC, now known as Fujian Nan’an Rural
Cooperative Bank, for more than twenty years. He was a registered
planner in the PRC and was qualified as a finance economist and
was also qualified as an international senior occupation manager by
the China Manager Society. Mr. Huang was appointed as a member
of the 7th to 9th Zaozhuang Committee of the China People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He is an elder brother of Mr. Ng
Qing Hai, an Executive Director.
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Li Chao, aged 55, joined the Group in February 2002. He is
currently the financial controller and a director of Shanghai Allied
Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai SAC”) and also a director of Allied
Wangchao, both of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Li completed a three-year course in finance and accounting in
building materials industry in the faculty of enterprises management
at the Shanghai Institute of Building Materials Industry in 1983. In
2001, he completed a three-year part-time post-graduate course
in economic management at Party School of Chinese Communist
Party of Hubei province, the PRC. Mr. Li was qualified as a senior
accountant by the Professional Title Reform Office of Hubei
province in 1996.

Yu Zhong, aged 55, was appointed a Director in March 2011 and
redesignated as an Executive Director from December 2011 to
15 March 2014. He joined Shanghai SAC in December 1993 and
is currently a director and the vice general manager of Shanghai
SAC, and has been a director of Allied Wangchao since December
2003. He served as the deputy general manager of Shandong SAC,
for the period from June 2001 to July 2004. Mr. Yu completed
a two-and-a-half-year course in cement craftsmanship at the
Shanghai School of Building Materials in 1982 and in 1988, he
graduated from the Shanghai Light Industry Authority Workers
College in industrial enterprise management. In 1993, Shanghai
Building Material Authority certified that Mr. Yu was qualified as an
economist.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Sze Chung was appointed for a specific term of two
years, which shall continue until 17 January 2020 but subject to
the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office.

For Mr. Zhang Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, their terms of
appointment shall be three years, which commenced on 24 July
2017 and 21 August 2015 respectively and are subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURE

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (the “SFQ”) as recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
were as follows:

(a) Interests in the Company
The table below sets out the aggregate long positions in the Shares

and underlying shares of the Directors and chief executive as at 31
December 2017.

R4 8B
Number of Shares
BREHE

(Fi5E3) BOBRED L
EERERTHABESR AR AEER Number of Approximate
Name of Directors and Personal Corporate share options @ percentage of
chief executive Interests Interests (Note 3) Total shareholdings
HA - 3,165,974,000 - 3,165,974,000 63.96%
Huang Yu (KisE1 K2)

(Notes 1 and 2)

HiE S = S 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.10%
Ng Qing Hai
Rk - - 20,000,000 20,000,000 0.40%
Zhang Yi
539 = = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.02%
Chan Sze Chung
R Im it - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.02%
Zhang Ruibin
RES = = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.02%
Zhang Junxi Jack
BHEX - - 12,000,000 12,000,000 0.24%

Jiang Chaowen
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(3)

(b)

As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Huang Yu owned 99% interests in the
registered capital of Shenzhen Aorongxin and Shenzhen Aorongxin
owned 52% interests in the registered capital of Shenzhen Waranty
Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen Waranty”). Shenzhen Waranty,
through its subsidiary, namely Waranty Assets Management (HK) Limited
(“Waranty Hong Kong”), owned 100% interests in the issued share capital
of China Health Management Investment Limited (“China Health”). Since
China Health is the beneficial owner of 3,165,974,000 Shares, Mr. Huang
Yu was deemed interested in the Shares held by China Health.

As at the date of this report, China Health directly held 3,165,974,000
Shares representing approximately 59.18% of the issued Shares.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 22 July 2016 and
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report for
further details.

Interest in associated corporation

L
ERBAas L
Approximate
percentage of

HELE AR interest in the
EEnE Name of 54 associated
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity corporation
=Al RN B EREAA 99%
Huang Yu Shenzhen Aorongxin Beneficial owner

() ANZE—+F+ZA=+—H FEakEHEE
Y BB = E B ANQ9% 2 A 2k - MR I B
FEHEFYERTTMEARS2% 2 o FI
ERRERENBRARERRESHARERE
REZITRA100% 2 i - FEBEEEREE
3,165,974,0008% f% 15 °

@) RAIRE B - R BZRERERFAE3,165,974,000
BB - 16 B 1T D £959.18% ©
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Notes:
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As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Huang Yu owned 99% interests in the
registered capital of Shenzhen Aorongxin and Shenzhen Aorongxin owned
52% interests in the registered capital of Shenzhen Waranty. Shenzhen
Waranty, through its subsidiary, Waranty Hong Kong, owned 100%
interests in the issued share capital of China Health. China Health directly
held 3,165,974,000 Shares.

As at the date of this report, China Health directly held 3,615,974,000
Shares representing approximately 59.18% of the issued Shares.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of

the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in
the businesses which compete or are likely to compete with the
businesses of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which the Company, its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was
a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors and every
one of them is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty
in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Year which provides appropriate cover for
legal actions brought against the Directors.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with
the exception of granting of share options to subscribe for Shares
under the share option scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or executed during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2017, so far as it was known by or otherwise
notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company,
the following Shareholders (other than a Director or the chief
executive of the Company) had 5% or more interests in the Shares

BHEMHAEKRGIFEI6KET 2 ELM 5% or underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be kept
XLAJ:% i under section 336 of the SFO:
e
Long Positions
BORER D
Approximate
BHEE percentage of
REER g4 Number of interest in
Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares shareholding
o B 2 R EREBA 3,165,974,000 63.96%
China Health Beneficial owner (FF3ET)
(Note 1)
ERBEB REREE R 3,165,974,000 63.96%
Waranty Hong Kong Interest of a controlled corporation (FMF5E2)
(Note 2)
R B R REHEE RS 3,165,974,000 63.96%
Shenzhen Waranty Interest of a controlled corporation (BfF7ES)
(Note 3)
A7 erER ORI BRA REHEEER 3,165,974,000 63.96%
(TRAFEE]) Interest of a controlled corporation (MI5E4)
Tongfang Financial Holdings Co., Ltd* (Note 4)
(“Tongfang Financial”)
A 77 A& 15 REHEE RS 3,279,968,000 66.26%
Tsinghua Tongfang Interest of a controlled corporation (FMI5E5)
(Note 5)
RN FE REHEEER 3,165,974,000 63.96%
Shenzhen Aorongxin Interest of a controlled corporation (FHFzE6)
(Note 6)
B 5 Notes:
1. It B $5 7h B i B0 3,165,974, 000X A% 15 2 3% 1. The figure refers to the legal and beneficial interest of China Health in

B ERE R - H#F1,375,000,0008 &5 E
K ## F Haitong International Financial Products
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. ([Haitong International
Financial ] ) < 1B #& 7% % & #1 & % {5] - Haitong
International FinancialZ = # A Bl IME R A S
#%1,375,000,0000% AR 15 2 R =

2. %Eﬂﬁ%%%ﬁﬂ? Bl 2 B B B 1T IRAR100% 2 #E
AR RER T RERERSEE 2 RG T

T?’EETE  IRIBEFE %&Hﬂffwﬁﬂ It B 45 B
2 FE 2 18 R A f0 #E &
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3,165,974,000 Shares. 1,375,000,000 Shares of which are pledged to
Haitong International Financial Products (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (“Haitong
International Financial”’). Under the SFO, the holding companies of
Haitong International Financial are also deemed to be interested in these
1,375,000,000 Shares.

2. Waranty Hong Kong owned 100% interest in the issued share capital of
China Health and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares
in which China Health was interested. The figure refers to the same
interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.
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3. Shenzhen Waranty, through its subsidiary, namely Waranty Hong Kong,
owned 100% interests in the issued share capital of China Health and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which China Health
was interested. The figure refers to the same interests of China Health in
the Shares under the SFO.

4. Tongfang Financial owned 48% interests in the registered capital of
Shenzhen Waranty and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Shenzhen Waranty was interested. The figure refers to the
same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

5. Tsinghua Tongfang owned 100% interests in the registered capital of
Tongfang Financial and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Tongfang Financial was interested.

In addition, THTF Energy-Saving Holdings Limited (“THTF Energy-
Saving”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Tsinghua Tongfang, was
the beneficial owner of 113,994,000 Shares, and Tsinghua Tongfang was
therefore also deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which THTF
Energy-Saving was interested under the SFO. Tsinghua Tongfang was
therefore interested in 3,279,968,000 Shares representing approximately
66.26% of the issued Shares.

6. Shenzhen Aorongxin owned 52% interests in the registered capital of
Shenzhen Waranty and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Shenzhen Waranty was interested. The figure refers to the
same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

7. As at the date of this report, China Health was interested in
3,165,974,000 Shares representing approximately 59.18% of the issued
Shares. Therefore, each of Waranty Hong Kong, Shenzhen Waranty,
Shenzhen Aorongxin, Tongfang Financial and Tsinghua Tongfang was
indirectly interested in such Shares. THTF Energy-Saving, a directly
wholly-owned subsidiary of Resuccess Investments Limited (“Resuccess”),
was the beneficial owner of 513,994,000 Shares representing
approximately 9.61% of the issued Shares. Resuccess was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which THTF Energy-Saving
was interested under the SFO. The entire equity interest of Tongfang
Financial and Resuccess were held by Tsinghua Tongfang and Tsinghua
Tongfang was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in
which Tongfang Financial and Resuccess were interested under the SFO.
Tsinghua Tongfang was therefore interested in 3,679,968,000 Shares
representing approximately 68.78% of the issued Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Company
had not been notified by any person (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associate(s)) of any
interest and short position in the Shares and underlying shares
which were required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to
the Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 37.5% and
52.5% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
largest customer and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier were approximately 27.9% and 32.2% of
the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares, had a beneficial interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year,
except that the trustee of the share award scheme of the Company
as adopted on 20 September 2016 (the “Share Award Scheme”),
pursuant to the trust deed of the Share Award Scheme, purchased
on the Stock Exchange a total of 6,756,000 Shares amounting to
HK$3,483,240.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The following is the change in the information of Directors since the
date of the 2017 Interim Report of the Company and up to the date
of this report, which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
183.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules:

(1) Mr. Zhang Ruibin, the INED, ceased to be an independent
director of Guizhou Panjiang Refined Coal Co., Ltd.* (stock
code: 600395), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, with effect from 24 March 2017.

(2) Mr. Ng Qing Hai was appointed as a member of 12th
Shandong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference in January 2018.

(3) With effect from 11 December 2017, Mr. Zhang Yi was re-
designated from Executive Director to Non-Executive Director,
ceased to be a member of the executive committee of
the Board (the “Executive Committee”) and his salary was
revised to HK$300,000 per annum. He was resigned as a
non-Executive Director and a member of the share dealing
committee of the Board (the “Share Dealing Committee”) with
effect from 23 January 2018.
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(4)  Mr. Jiang Chaowen was, subsequent to his appointment as
Chief Executive Officer on 11 December 2017, appointed
as an Executive Director and a member of each of the
Executive Committee and the Share Dealing Committee with
effect from 23 January 2018. He is entitled to a director’s
fee of HK$10,000 per annum, and an annual remuneration
of HK$1.5 million as an Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer.

(6) Director’s salary of Mr. Huang Yu was changed to
HK$681,343 per annum with effect from 1 January 2018.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group has entered into the following
transactions which constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules:

Continuing Connected Transactions

As disclosed in the announcement and circular of the Company
dated 6 May 2017 and 28 July 2017, respectively, True Fitness
Holdings (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (“True Fitness”), an indirectly non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as the franchisor
and ZEMSREEERH BB A E True Concept Ltd.* (“True
Concept”), a direct wholly owned subsidiary of True Yoga Holdings
Limited which is ultimately controlled by Mr. Patrick John Wee
Ewe Seng (“Mr. PJW”) and owned as to 29% by the Company,
as franchisee have entered into a franchise agreement (the
“Franchise Agreement”) on 29 May 2017 for a initial term of 30
years, pursuant to which True Fitness shall grant and provide True
Yoga Holdings Limited and its subsidiary with non-transferable right
and license to operate the business of operating and managing
each channel of distribution located within Taiwan offering
merchandise and services for sale by reference to the system and
using the proprietary marks in Taiwan (the “Franchise Business”)
in consideration for the payment of royalty fee equivalent to 15%
of the gross turnover of the immediately preceding month derived
from the Franchise Business.

Mr. PJW is a substantial shareholder of TFKT True Holdings which
is a subsidiary of the Company by virtue of controlling over 10% of
the voting power at the general meetings of TFKT True Holdings.
Accordingly, Mr. PJW shall become a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level and the transactions contemplated
under Franchise Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
5 March 2018, True Fitness and True Concept entered into
a supplemental agreement to the Franchise Agreement (the
“Supplemental Agreement”) and a service agreement (the
“Service Agreement”) appended to the Supplemental Agreement
(the Franchise Agreement, the Supplemental Agreement and
the Service Agreement collectively referred to as the “Revised
Franchise Agreement”) to amend the way fees are calculated,
paid and classified. The amount of fees to be actually received
by True Fitness under the Revised Franchise Agreement remains
unchanged and so thus the approved annual caps. Amendments
are made merely to the way of calculation and payment of the fee
payable under the Franchise Business such that they will now be
classified and sub-divided as (i) royalty fee under the Franchise
Agreement as amended by the Supplemental Agreement; and (ii)
service fee under the Service Agreement.

During the Year, the actual amount of transactions under the
Franchise Agreement was 33.32 million and was within the annual
cap of HK$35.82 million.

The continuing connected transactions mentioned above have
been reviewed by the Board, including the INEDs and have
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions have been
entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, on normal commercial terms or better and
according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the above
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. They have provided a letter to the Board confirming
that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the continuing connected transactions:

(1)  have not been approved by the Board;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(3) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(4) have exceeded the cap.
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Connected Transactions

On 26 May 2017, E/&&EM (£E)HERAF (Shanghai Building
Material (Group) Company Limited*) (“Shanghai Building Material”)
and Shanghai SAC entered into an extension framework agreement
(the “Third Extension Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
the term of each of the following entrusted loans was further
extended by one year beyond the term extended by the extension
framework agreement dated 27 May 2016 (the “Second Extension
Framework Agreement”):

()  On 23 May 2014, Shanghai SAC, Shanghai Building Material
and a bank entered into an entrusted loan agreement,
pursuant to which Shanghai SAC entrusted the bank to
provide an entrusted loan in the principal amount of RMB54.0
million to Shanghai Building Material for a term of one year
(the “First Entrusted Loan”). The maturity date of the First
Entrusted Loan was 26 May 2015; and

(i)  On 2 July 2014, Shanghai SAC, Shanghai Building Material
and a bank entered into an entrusted loan agreement,
pursuant to which Shanghai SAC entrusted the bank to
provide an entrusted loan to Shanghai Building Material in
the principal amount of RMB78.0 million for a term of one
year (the “Second Entrusted Loan”). The maturity date of the
Second Entrusted Loan was 3 July 2015.

Pursuant to the Third Extension Framework Agreement, the First
Entrusted Loan and the Second Entrusted Loan are extended to 29
May 2018 and 28 June 2018, respectively.

Since Shanghai Building Material holds 40% equity interest in
Shanghai SAC which is a subsidiary of the Company, Shanghai
Building Material, as a substantial shareholder of Shanghai SAC,
is therefore a connected person at the subsidiary level of the
Company. Accordingly, the Third Extension Framework Agreement
constituted a connected transaction at the subsidiary level of the
Company and is subject to the reporting and announcement, but is
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 23
May 2014 in relation to the provision of First Entrusted Loan; (ii) the
announcement of the Company dated 2 July 2014 in relation to the
provision of the Second Entrusted Loan; (iii) the announcement of
the Company dated 22 May 2015 in relation to the First Extension
Framework Agreement; (iv) the announcement of the Company
dated 27 May 2016 in relation to the Second Extension Framework
Agreement; and (v) the announcement of the Company dated 26
May 2017 in relation to the Third Extension Framework Agreement
for further details.
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The related party transactions and balances set out in note 49
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
included transactions that constituted connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions within the meaning of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the requirements
prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transactions entered into by the Group during the Year.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2018 AGM is scheduled to be held on Wednesday, 6 June
2018. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
2018 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 31 May 2018 to Wednesday, 6 June 2018 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered.

In order for the Shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the
2018 AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited of Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 30 May 2018.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$0.4 million during the
Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 47 of this annual
report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information which is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the
Year and up to the date of this report as required under the Listing
Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group’s financial statements for the Year have been audited
by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and to authorise the Directors to
fix its remuneration will be proposed at the 2018 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Yu
Chailrman

28 March 2018

*  For identification purpose only
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TO THE MEMBERS OF TONGFANG KONTAFARMA
HOLDINGS LIMITED
RAETREEXREERRAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings Limited R A BREEXEBE AR
A 7] (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as “the Group”) set out on pages 79 to 219, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“"HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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EREEZEE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

REZTEESREBERMZBEHE B Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

HEGEYBRER L ERRAEELEH- judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the

ZESERTBEMNERERBGEEVBMRER consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

HAERNETEEN -EMIglzss matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

HiEHEBHER - consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

HREEZER

Key audit matter

BEMzERNMEERREELRER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RIFRBE

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

HREEBERTGHERKES KA IREREREE
FAFIET R fdEt MBS RBREFRTCRBRERS
I8 o

We identified the allowance for bad and doubtful debts
as a key audit matter due to the use of judgment
and estimates by the management in assessing the
recoverability of trade receivables.

BANER G B SR M 4R E - B E R AT RIERE
HREEERWESIFALEFEERESL (BREBRN
EAEFRWESHIE RELERKESREZER
NEWE S HRERERDT) REZR 2 EBHE-

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, in estimating the allowance for bad and
doubtful debts, the management considers the credit
history of the customers including default or delay in
settlement, subsequent settlements and aging analysis
of the trade receivables and the business relationship
with the customers.

RZE—tF+A=+—H0 EBUREZFEZEKES
¥ /400,758,000 7t ( 2 1Bk R 58 Bk # 1520,368,000
ABIT) °

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is HK$400,758,000, net of the allowance
for bad and doubtful debts of HK$20,368,000.

BMEEIEEREMETREREAETILRETHEE 22
FrEiE

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the
appropriateness of the management’s assessment of the
allowance for bad and doubtful debts included:

. T BEEETEENMAMEREREE:

o Understanding how the allowance for bad and
doubtful debts is estimated by the Group’s
management;

s ZEBRWBHFEZEFEEEREL (BEHEXRNTE
HERKESGHRIE RELHERKEGFRBZBRAK
JEWE B FIARM 2T ) MEREF 2 EBEIE - 5P
EIREMAREREFRELAE:

° Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for bad
and doubtful debts assessed by the management
with reference to the credit history of the customers,
including default or delay in payments, subsequent
settlements, aging analysis of the trade receivables
and the business relationship with the customer;

o RBMAREXHMERFEKE SRIERE ST REE
HEEREWESHRE BN REE: &

° Testing the accuracy of the aging analysis and
subsequent settlements of the trade receivables, on
a sample basis, to the relevant documents; and

e LEUBEMEREBEEERNRMEREEEL KM
HEEEEREMIT BTSN LR

o Evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance
estimated by the management by comparing
historical allowance made to the actual settlements
and actual loss incurred.
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HREEZEHR

Key audit matter

RMzBERNMERERAREERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EE W B TFKT True HoldingsK H B A 8 ([TFKT TruefE E ) 51% & # % Ll X True Yoga Holdings
Limited R HKi B2 7 ([True Yogaf M@ [)29% Az (£ [MrueBEE ) EE 2 ARBARNEERFR

AEAEZAFEE

Determination of fair values of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from
acquisition of 51% equity interest in TFKT True Holdings and its subsidiaries (the “TFKT True Group”)
and 29% equity interest in True Yoga Holdings Limited and its subsidiary (the “True Yoga Group”)

(collectively the “True Acquisition”)

B EEEEEERETTuelW B EIEE £ 2T
A EERFAEEGBECATEERSELHTR
HE - MBS LIEATREREREZSIE

We identified the determination of fair values of
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
arising from the True Acquisition as a key audit matter
due to the estimation and judgment exercised by the
Group’s management in such determination.

WA AT BREMFTNAMER  REEZF—tF
TZA=T—BLFE BHEEZTKKETFKT True
SH (REgLEgP O REHREBSNEEZARS)
51%R 7~ # # - # X {8 /236,720,000% 7T (18 E R4
284,580,000/ 7T ) °

As disclosed in note 41(A) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group completed the acquisition of
51% of the equity interest in the TFKT True Group
(engaged in the operation of fitness centres and
provision of consultation services for fitness and health
activities) during the year ended 31 December 2017 for
a total consideration of US$36,720,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$284,580,000).

TruelIEFECERABEEAR - RAAWEBRAIERIE E
KA EEREY EREL2ZHEREE (EZ@NHE
RETHE BERTFPER) LNERWRAEE 2R
RenBMEZERTEENELERAZ A TFEER
FERAEAMG RAE RNKRBRPMREBETLEE R
FrEERERA 2~ FEES 5 7R307,585,0007% 7T K&
170,399,000 7T * IAB & BB B EMER ([EE
b)) T2 EERER-

The True Acquisition has been accounted for using
the purchase method. Amongst the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, the management
applied significant estimation and judgments in
assessing the fair values of intangible assets (mainly
related to recognition of franchise agreement,
trademark and customer relationship) and deferred
income by reference to the discounted cash flows
associated with these intangible assets and deferred
income. The fair values of intangible assets acquired
and deferred income assumed on acquisition date of
HK$307,585,000 and HK$170,399,000, respectively,
are based on valuation performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”).
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BB BT (A True i B8 FIRE &£ 2 FTURE 7T 38 5l & 2 I PR
AEABZATEEZREFEAE:
Our procedures in relation to assessing the fair values of
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising
from the True Acquisition included:

THREBBINMENTuel B EHES 2 KB EE
MR ERE:

Obtaining an understanding of how the management
identify the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
arising from the True Acquisition;

BB E e IR R AT T W B A s Bl & B R PR
EEERKERBRZATEEREAZEEMET £
RFEBE2E BEREZAREBRAERITEBD T
BARKRERNELSTABEMELFUBARESR
ERAZRE(BEERE BEHEEREMNE) MU
R ER 228150 &

Discussing with the management the key estimates
adopted by the management in assessing the
acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed, including the
assumptions underpinning the discounted cash flow
models, including growth rates, budgeted sales and
gross margin through assessing the reasonableness
of forecasted future cash flows by reference to
the future business plan of the Group as well as
industrial trend and the involvement of the Valuer;
and

SEMEM EE O REEM-
Evaluating the Valuer’s competence, capabilities and
objectivity.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wu Ka Ming.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
HE-Z—+F+=-A=+—BILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

—E—+tF —FT—R
2017 2016
B 5 TER FH&T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ON Revenue 5 1,344,336 633,279
5 K AR Cost of sales (1,007,461) (539,160)
EA Gross profit 336,875 94,119
H At g A Other income 7 40,096 43,705
E b Y as K g5 18 Other gains and losses 8 5,788 534
H M RAEAF R E WA Interest income on other principal
protected deposits - 2,020
DERIEHEER Distribution and selling expenses (133,027) (34,900)
THER Administrative expenses (138,808) (96,021)
HiER Other expenses (32,641) (7,456)
A& B AR Finance costs 9 (21,882) (18,018)
i NE Share of results of associates (8,765) (15)
EiE—HEERRIEE Share of results of a joint venture (11,666) (4,096)
e B A& A (EE) Profit (loss) before taxation 35,970 (20,128)
I8 Taxation 11 (119) (7,425)
REZmM (EE) Profit (loss) for the year 12 35,851 (27,553)
HEf 2w () - Other comprehensive income
(expense):
BErteEna s ltem that will not be reclassified
ExnkcER: subsequently to profit or loss:
HBMRBEJNNEEEEL Y Exchange difference arising on
& ZE translation to presentation
currency 101,338 (87,677)
BEE A REEF D ER ltem that may be reclassified
ExkcEE: subsequently to profit or loss:
HBMBINEBEEZ Exchange difference
N ZE5 arising on translation of
foreign operations (7,319) -
REZHMPEKE Other comprehensive income
() (expense) for the year 94,019 (87,677)
RFE2mEKE Total comprehensive income
(X H) B (expense) for the year 129,870 (115,230)
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P 5E

Notes

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year
attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share 13
Basic

Diluted

—E—tF A

2017 2016
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(1,806) (37,076)
37,657 9,523
35,851 (27,553)
60,782 (94,726)
69,088 (20,504)
129,870 (115,230)

Bl B

HK cents HK cents
(0.04) (0.75)
(0.04) (0.75)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RZZE—+F+=-H=+—H At 31 December 2017

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Deposits for equipment and
machineries

Prepaid lease payments on
land use rights

Investment properties

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Interests in associates

Interests in a joint venture

Deferred tax assets

Rental deposits

Pledged bank deposits

Current assets

Properties held for sale

Biological assets

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Loans receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Prepaid lease payments on land use
rights

Amount due from an intermediate
holding company

Amount due from a joint venture

Amount due from an associate

Amounts due from other related
parties

Restricted bank deposit

Pledged bank deposits

Time deposits with original maturity
between 4 to 12 months

Cash and cash equivalents

B 5
Notes
15
16
17
18
19
20
22
23
39

30

24

25
26

27
28

29
17
48
48
48
49(c)
30

30
30

—E—tF A
2017 2016
FHE T FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
690,533 552,204
81,927 76,279
107,140 104,378
5,276 5,066
439,160 217,555
324,302 15,675
13,007 2,601
21,093 32,759
4,360 199
5,127 _
2,247 -
1,694,172 1,006,716
2,321 2,161
4,761 2,743
97,401 78,488
532,671 347,989
149,432 141,028
178,878 167,264
114,720 120,504
3,289 1,499
= 89,385
7,972 131
34,667 =
208,961 168,865
- 2,518
33,515 421,416
= 22,347
381,450 581,137
1,750,038 2,147,475

81



— T —EFF 3K ANNUAL REPORT 2017

454 BF 1% AR &R Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R=ZT—+F+=F=+—H At 31 December 2017

—EB—+F —E—K
2017 2016
B 5 FET FAT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
REBAE Current liabilities
JENESZHBEREMNZE  Trade and bills payables 31 207,512 175,428
HEa A mE LR E WiE e Other payables and deposits received 32 123,782 86,346
R—MEFNERAFFKIE  Amount due to an intermediate
holding company 48 17,011 24,230
R E b B 5 3B Amounts due to other related parties  49(c) 57,974 9,528
MIEEE Tax liabilities 87,292 91,385
—FREEZRITR Bank and other borrowings due
Hithfg & within one year 33 629,518 916,313
MEHEST Obligations under finance leases 1,504 -
EIEUR A Deferred income 34 114,721 -
1,239,314 1,303,230
REBEEFHE Net current assets 510,724 844,245
BWEERRBES Total assets less current liabilities 2,204,896 1,850,961
B AR Capital and reserves
% A Share capital 35 9,900 9,900
& 15 % B M 1 Share premium and reserves 38 1,214,123 1,115,934
NN R ey Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 1,224,023 1,125,834
FE 12 i A 2 Non-controlling interests 624,689 517,229
g Total equity 1,848,712 1,643,063
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
—FRIARITR Bank and other borrowings due
Hitnfg & after one year 33 175,484 163,128
IR IET IR Deferred taxation 39 113,537 44,770
BMEHEST Obligations under finance leases 1,910 —
B R A Provision of reinstatement cost 40 18,943 =
IR IE U A Deferred income 34 46,310 =
356,184 207,898
2,204,896 1,850,961

FIOREF2I0BE L HAEMBHREAN_F
—NF=ZRA-T//\BEE=g4fEMIET
B UARTINEERREE:

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 219 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

=A HEE
Huang Yu Ng Qing Hai

BEFE EBEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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At 1 January 2016

Loss for the year

Exchange difference arising on
translation to presentation
curtency

Total comprehensive expense
for the year
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments
Share options lapsed
Purchase of shares for
share award scheme
Dividend distribution to
non-controling interests

At 31 December 2016

Profit for the year

Exchange difference arising on
translation to presentation
currency

Exchange difference arising on
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year

QObligation arising from a put
aption to non-controling
sharefolder

Derecognition of obligation arising
from a put option to non-controling
sharefolder (note 9)

Acauisition of subsidlaries
(note 41)

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments

Share options lapsed

Purchase of shares for
share award scheme

Deemed contrioution from
a shareholder (note 38)

Deemed acquisttion of additional
interest in a subsidiary
(note 38(3))

Partial disposal of interest to
non-controling shareholder

Dividend distribution to
non-controlling interests

At 31 December 2017

AAEZFEEZEEEER AT TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

BARREDE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-Z—+F+=-A=+—BILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

AARRRER
Attributable to owners of the Company

ARH NS

B4R | RERY

BERE RERERE

Shares  Employee FERER
R RiEE held for ~ share-based EXGE RHEE us-1 ik REEF Non- ERlE
Share Share  share award compensation  Translation Special Capital Other Retained &%  controlling Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
T T T T T T T ThRL ThnL Thn ThnL Thn
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
(Hi3t3s) (Hi3t38) iG]
(note 38) (note 38) (note 38)

9,900 1,215,024 - - 4076 (392,735) 824 32814 337,756 1,207,659 400,946 1,608,605
R - - - - - - - (37,076) 37,076) 9523 (27,553
- - - - (67,650) - - - - (57,650) (30,027) 87.677)
- - - - (67,650) - - - 37,076) 94,726) (20,504) (115,230)
- - - - - - - - - - 140,855 140,855
- - - 13761 - - - - - 13,761 - 13,761
- - - (22) - - - - 2 - - -
- - (860) - - - - - - (860) - (860)
R - - - - - - - - - (4,068) (4,068)
9,900 1,215,024 (860) 13,739 (63,674) (392,735) 824 32814 300,702 1,125,834 517,29 1,643,083
- - - - - - - - (1,806) (1,806) 37,657 35,851
- - - - 66,507 - - - - 66,507 34,831 101,338
- - - - (3919) - - - - (3919) (3,400) (7,319)
- - - - 62,588 - - - (1,806) 60,782 69,088 129,870
- - - - - - - - - - (81,900) (81,900)
- - - - - - - - - - 83,335 83,335
- - - - - - - - - - 43,558 43,558
- - - 10,397 - - - - - 10,397 - 10,397
- - - (2,426) - - - - 2,42 - - -
- - (3,484) - - - - - - (3,484) - (3,484)
- - - - - - 22,81 - - 2,81 - 2,81
- - - - 562 - - 2,104 - 2,666 2,666) -
- - - - - - - - 591 591 2,709 3,300
- - - - - - - - - - (6,664) (6,664)
9,900 1,215,024 (4,344) 21,110 9,576 (392,735) 28,061 34,918 301,918 1,224,023 624,689 1,848,712
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss) before taxation
Adjustments for:

Amortisation and depreciation

Release of prepaid lease payments
on land use rights

Allowance for bad and doubtful
debts on trade receivables

Allowance for bad and doubtful
debts on other receivables

Finance costs

Loss on disposal of a joint venture

Interest income from loans
receivables

Interest income on other principal
protected deposits

Interest income from banks

Interest income from a
non-controlling shareholder
of the Group’s subsidiary

Interest income from an
intermediate holding company

Interest income from other
receivables

Net loss (gain) on disposal and
write-off of property, plant and
equipment

Fair value (gains) losses on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

Equity-settled share-based
payments

Share of results of associates

Share of results of a joint venture

Loss on impairment of inventories

Provision of financial guarantee

Gain on shortfall of profit
undertaking

Operating cash inflow before

movements in working capital

—E—tF ZE-RF
2017 2016
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
35,970 (20,128)
56,745 28,780
3,151 1,440
2,696 4,001
15,154 -
21,882 18,018
180 -
(6,499) (11,555)
- (2,020)
(4,344) (8,321)
(6,387) (6,918)
(995) (2,214)
(828) (846)
11,176 (6,060)
(3,798) 1,545
- 12
10,397 13,761
8,765 15
11,666 4,096
1,469 576
1,488 2
(27,125) 5
130,763 14,182
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AAEZFEEZEEEER AT TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

AL mBEK Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

(Increase) decrease in inventories

(Increase) decrease in biological
assets

Increase in trade and bills receivables

Decrease (increase) in other
receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Increase in trade and bills payables

(Decrease) increase in other payables
and deposits received
Decrease in deferred income
Decrease (increase) in held for trading
investments
Increase in provision of
reinstatement cost
Increase in amount due from
an associate

Cash (used in) generated from
operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

—E—+F —F—X
2017 2016
FHE T FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(13,583) 11,346
(1,739) 505
(157,647) (16,215)
4,958 (40,171)
15,205 40,060
(12,280) 29,733
(15,626) -
47,277 (21,694)
1,898 -
(34,983) -
(35,757) 17,746
(11,505) (6,160)
(47,262) 11,586
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of
cash and cash equivalents acquired

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment
Addition of intangible assets
Addition of interests in a joint venture
Addition of investment in an associate
Advance to a joint venture
Advance to related parties
Advance of loans receivables
Advance of other receivables
Purchase of financial assets
designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Placement of other principal
protected deposits
Proceeds from redemption of
loans receivables
Proceeds from redemption of
financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from other principal
protected deposits upon maturity
Repayment from (advance to) an
intermediate holding company

Placement of pledged bank deposits
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits
Placement of time deposits
Withdrawal of time deposits
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposit
Placement of restricted bank deposit
Interest received from loans
receivables
Interest received from other principal
protected deposits
Interest received from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Other interest received

NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

B 5

Notes

41

—E—+tF —F—R
2017 2016
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(249,675) (115,524)
4,433 13,367
(84,592) (48,890)
(6,791) (1,128)
- (36,855)
- (2,615)
(7,841) (131)
(449) -
(3,080,883) (954,972)
(2,054) -
(122,600) (150,838)
- (122,905)
3,081,843 789,944
85,473 129,606
- 312,849
91,996 (609)
(33,284) (427,266)
423,001 429,630
- (22,347)
24,001 -
2,518 -
- 2,518)
6,388 8,837
- 4,008
1,263 2,808
14,592 17,598
147,339 (177,951)
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid

Other financial cost paid

New bank and other borrowings
raised

Repayments of bank and other
borrowings

Repayment of finance leases

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

(Repayment to) advance from an
intermediate holding company

Advance from (repayment to)
other related parties

Advance from non-controlling
interests

Repayment to non-controlling
interests

Proceeds from partial disposal of
interest in a subsidiary to
non-controlling shareholder

Purchase of shares for share award
scheme

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF
THE YEAR

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Represented by
bank balances and cash
time deposits with original maturity
within 3 months

IR & mE X Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
tHF+_A=+—HBIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

—E—tF ZE-RF
2017 2016
TER FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(20,316) (14,300)
(135) (828)
222,153 780,000
(528,706) (888,993)
(1,993) -
(2,500) (3,568)
(8,637) 11,682
5,692 (4,006)
48 89
(89) (137)
3,300 =
(3,484) (860)
(334,667) (120,921)
(234,590) (287,286)
581,137 897,933
34,903 (29,510)
381,450 581,137
381,450 579,771
- 1,366
381,450 581,137
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House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box
1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands’ MAAR A Z @ F R
LEBLEMWBUNEBEFTE LT
E138 AR E RNE15E -

ARRAR/—EREERQF - EMBA
Al EBXBHNM RS2

HAaPBRERABIT([EBT]) 25,
BRINARBZEEE AR ([A
RE%]) RARARRIER([EF])
READBZ LT AES  WETA
REBEZZ2NE®-

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 21 March
2011 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 18 January
2012. Its parent is China Health Management Investment
Limited (“China Health”), a private limited company which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding
company is AT RFEEREZERBR A A (Shenzhen
Aorongxin Investment Development Co., Ltd.*), a company
established under the laws of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) with limited liability. The ultimate controlling party
is Mr. Huang Yu.

The address of the registered office of the Company is Clifton
House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands and the head office and principal
place of business of the Company is 15th Floor, Allied Kajima
Building, 138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 52.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”) which is different from the functional
currency of the Company, Renminbi (“RMB”), as the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that HK$ is the
most appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of
listing is in Hong Kong.
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014 - 2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the
amendments also require disclosures on changes in financial
assets if cash flows from those financial assets were, or future
cash flows will be, included in cash flows from financing
activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be
disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes
arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other
businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange
rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of these items is provided in note 50. Consistent with the
transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not
disclosed comparative information for the prior year. Apart
from the additional disclosure in note 50, the application
of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments’

HKFRS 16 Leases?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration’

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments?
Amendments to HKFRS 2  Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions’
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures?

Transfers of Investment Property’

Amendments to HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 40
Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014 — 2016 Cycle!
Amendments to HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015 - 2017 Cycle?
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HE-ZT—

tHF+_A=+—HBIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (CONTINUED)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group
are described as follows:

all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have
contractual terms that give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
are generally measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All other financial
assets are measured at their fair value at subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities
may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit
or loss.
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—ZE—tHF+=-A=1+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (CONTINUED)

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to
have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2017, the directors
of the Company anticipate the following potential impact on
initial application of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement:

Debt instruments classified as loans receivables carried
at amortised cost as disclosed in notes 28: these
are held within a business model whose objective is
to collect the contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding. Accordingly, these financial assets will
continue to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost upon the application of HKFRS 9;

The designation of convertible bonds listed in the PRC
and exchange rate linked structured deposits at FVTPL
will be revoked upon application of HKFRS 9. However,
the Group will continue to measure these instruments at
fair value through profit or loss as the contractual terms
of these instruments give rise to cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding; and

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will
continue to be measured on the same bases as are
currently measured under HKAS 39.

Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured
at amortised cost.
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (CONTINUED)

Impairment (CONTINUED)

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company,
if the expected credit loss model were to be applied by
the Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss to
be recognised by the Group as at 1 January 2018 would
be increased as compared to the accumulated amount
recognised under HKAS 39. Such further impairment
recognised under expected credit loss model would reduce
the opening retained profits and increase the deferred tax
assets at 1 January 2018.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (CONTINUED)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

The Directors have assessed the impact on application
of HKFRS 15 and did not anticipate a material impact on
revenue from (1) manufacturing and sales of cement and
clinker, trading of cement and provision of technical services
and (2) manufacturing and sales of prescription drugs and
laboratory related products. However, application of HKFRS
15 may have impact on the following areas:

Currently under HKAS 18, revenue derived from registration
fee is recognised when service package contract is entered
with customer; whilst membership fee paid upfront are
deferred and recognised over the period based on the
remaining tenure of the service package contract entered with
each customer.

However, under HKFRS 15, registration fees derived may not
result in the transfer of a promised service to the customer
when service package contract is entered with customer.
Management has assessed that registration fee and
membership fee received should be recognised as revenue
over the contract period when those future services are
provided in accordance with the service package contract.

The Group has also considered all the relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether the service package
contacts contain significant financing component. The Group
has applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 and has not
considered the financing component of contracts which are
expected to be completed within one year from the date of
payment made by customers.
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (CONTINUED)

If registration fee is recognised as revenue under HKFRS
15 overtime, deferred revenue of the Group as at 1 January
2018 would be expected to increase approximately by
HK$18,887,000, the related deferred tax assets would be Nil
and beginning retained profits would decrease approximately
by HK$18,887,000 because the amount and/or timing of
revenue recognition of the performance obligation is expected
to be different from current practice.

In addition, the Directors anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The
lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently,
the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments,
as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash
flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use while other
operating lease payments are presented as operating cash
flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in
relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and
an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash
flows by the Group.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (CONTINUED)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an
asset and a related finance lease liability for finance lease
arrangement and prepaid lease payments on land use rights
where the Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16
may result in potential changes in classification of these
assets depending on whether the Group presents right-of-use
assets separately or within the same line item at which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either
as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$222,404,000 as
disclosed in note 43. A preliminary assessment indicates that
these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$8,429,000 as rights and obligations
under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits
are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying
assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits
may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments
are considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments
to refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result
in changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above.

Other than the above, the Directors anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments and biological assets that are measured at fair
values and fair value less costs to sell, as appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period, and in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that the results of the valuation technique equals the
transaction price.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (CONTINUED)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (CONTINUED)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS
39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses involving entities under common
control or acquired from outsiders are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (CONTINUED)

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’'s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) (or
groups of CGU) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(CONTINUED)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net
assets of the associate/joint venture other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest
in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint
venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(CONTINUED)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and titles have passed.

Revenue from sale of properties held for sale is recognised
when the respective properties have been delivered to the
buyers. Deposits and instalments received from purchasers
prior to meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
under current liabilities.

Monthly fees received for membership are recognised as
revenue on straight-line basis over the service usage period.
Instalments received in advance for prepaid packages are
recorded as deferred income.

Revenue from trial classes is recognised when the trial class is
provided.

Revenue from personal training classes is recognised when
the personal training class is provided.

Revenue from registration and processing fee is recognised
when service package contract is entered with customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (CONTINUED)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Royalty arrangements that are based on sales are recognised
by reference to the underlying arrangement.

Services income is recognised when the relevant services are
provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
structures held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purpose other than construction
in progress, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at
cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets, other than construction in progress, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (CONTINUED)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is
recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account
of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment
losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following
have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure

attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (CONTINUED)

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and
development expenditure (CONTINUED)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Alternatively, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (CONTINUED)

Impairment of tangible assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (CONTINUED)

Impairment of tangible assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as immediately in profit or
loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease
obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see the
accounting policy below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (CONTINUED)
The Group as lessee (CONTINUED)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a liability and release as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest
which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been
transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire property is
accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments)
are allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element
at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments on land use rights” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is released over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Properties held for sale
Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value represents the estimated

selling price less all estimated cost of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Biological assets

Biological assets represent laboratory mice which is measured
on initial recognition and at each end of the reporting period
at their fair value less costs to sell. A gain or loss arising on
initial recognition of biological asset at fair value less costs
to sell and from a change in fair value less costs to sell of a
biological asset is included in profit or loss for the period in
which it arises.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less
all estimated cost of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit or loss as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
difference. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
and interests in associates and joint ventures except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs (CONTINUED)

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK9) at the rate of exchange rate prevailing at the end
of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences in relation to foreign operation are
recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation is
disposed of.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants (CONTINUED)

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund and state-managed
retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined
contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the
plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan.

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as expenses unless other
HKFRSs requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the
higher of:

()  the amount of obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,

cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provision of reinstatement cost

A provision for reinstatement cost is made for the estimated
costs of dismantlement, removal restoration of plant and
equipment arising from acquisition or use of assets, which are
capitalised included in the cost of plant and equipment.

Equity-settled share-based payment to
employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (employee share-
based compensation reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the employee
share-based compensation reserve. For equity instruments
that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
equity instruments granted is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in employee share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

Awarded shares granted to employees

When trustee of the share award scheme purchases the
Company’s shares from the open market, the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs,
is presented as shares held for share award scheme and
deducted from total equity. No gain or loss is recognised on
the transactions of the Company’s own shares.

The fair value of services received is determined by reference
to the fair value of share award granted at the grant date and
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (shares held for share
award reserve).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Awarded shares granted to employees
(CONTINUED)

When the trustee transfers the Company’s granted shares
to grantees upon vesting, the related costs of the granted
shares vested are reversed from shares held for share award
scheme. Accordingly, the related expense of the granted
shares vested is reversed from shares held for share award
reserve. The difference arising from such transfer is debited/
credited to retained profits. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of shares that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss with a
corresponding adjustment to the shares held for share award
reserve.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

117



=ed=

=AN

he= A
BE

118

£ & & ¥k ANNUAL REPORT 2017

& B %53 R Bd 5f Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—E—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

BEESHHE &)

eRIA (&)
SHMEE (E)
-1 20-8>3

ERFEBEABECREEHHKAN
&Fﬁ?%ﬁﬂfﬁ% DM BUAZTTE
RMERNEMEEZARFRNL
(ZZDLEE)$%4E@F'EJWHME‘+5EXHKEX
2B % (BB EKERF =405
DZENKEWER KHMAREAM
it (B s T 38 ) BRI E N S R
ZAREFRR &K

E5TA 2 F B WA ZERA S A%
BR ENBERBEERRKRRAFERE
REZEREEZHNBWAGT AR
mAERFE -

BBRBRELFEEEEZEH
BE

EERMEE(NSFIEER  R()KET
RBEBRAKZATEEEEN &
BEGNEREBBESZRRATER
BRIE -

HETIER MeRmEES
HEE:

e BASREEZTIEENARNE
HALE: %

e RUIFPHRAE HEXAKEHAS
1%%?@252%%”%@15:@%2
—#n BLHZ2REREHE
MER L

s SRMEESAWETREAAK
ERE M TAZITET A

BREAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (CONTINUED)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified
as at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in net gains
or losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is (i) held for trading, or (ii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (CONTINUED)

Financial assets at FVTPL (CONTINUED)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

° the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, deposits, loans receivables, amount due from
an intermediate holding company, amount due from a joint
venture, amount due from an associate, amounts due from
other related parties, pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
deposit, time deposits and bank balances and cash) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses. The accounting policy
on impairment loss of financial assets is set out below.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest

rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For financial assets at amortised cost, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Obijective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
in the portfolio past the average credit period, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate.
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When the trade and other
receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (CONTINUED)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and bills payables,
other payables and deposits received, amount due to an
intermediate holding company, amounts due to other related
parties and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial assets, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (CONTINUED)
Derecognition (CONTINUED)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Obligation arising from a put option on shares of a
subsidiary written to non-controlling shareholders

Put option written to non-controlling shareholders, which
will be settled other than by exchange of fixed amount of
cash for a fixed number of shares in a subsidiary is treated
as a derivative financial instrument and is recognised at fair
value upon initial recognition. Any changes of fair value in
subsequent reporting dates are recognised in profit or loss.

The gross financial liability arising from the put option is
recognised when contractual obligation to purchase the
shares in a subsidiary is established even if the obligation is
conditional on the counterparty exercising a right to sell the
shares to the Group. The liability for the share redemption
amount is initially recognised and measured at present value
of the estimated purchase price with the corresponding
debit to the non-controlling interests. In subsequent periods,
effective interest on the estimated gross obligation under the
written put option is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for bad and doubtful debts
based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables. Allowances are made on trade receivables
whenever there is any objective evidence that the balances
may not be collectible. In estimating the allowance for
bad and doubtful debts, the management considers the
credit history of customers, including default or delay in
settlement, subsequent settlements, aging analysis of the
trade receivables and the business relationship with the
customers. Where the actual outcome of the recoverability of
trade receivables is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of trade receivables
and allowance for bad and doubtful debts in the period in
which such estimate has changed. As at 31 December 2017,
the carrying amount of trade receivables is HK$400,758,000
(net of allowance of HK$20,368,000) (2016: HK$245,476,000
(net of allowance of HK$34,562,000)). Details of the
allowance for bad and doubtful debts are disclosed in note
26.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
CGUs to which goodwill and the intangible assets have been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the present value of the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGUs containing goodwill and the intangible
assets using suitable discount rates. Where the expected
future cash flows arising from the relevant CGUs differ from
the original estimation, an impairment loss may arise. Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note
21.

Determination of fair values of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed arising from acquisition of 51% equity
interest in TFKT True Holdings and its subsidiaries (the “TFKT
True Group”) and 29% equity interest in True Yoga Holdings
Limited and its subsidiary (the “True Yoga Group”) (collectively
the “True Acquisition”)
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UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

(CONTINUED)

method.

On 29 May 2017, the Group completed the True Acquisition
from an independent third party for a cash consideration
of US$36,720,000 (equivalent to HK$284,580,000). The
transaction had been accounted for using the purchase

Amongst the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, the Directors applied significant judgments in
assessing the fair values of intangible assets (mainly related
to recognition of franchise agreement,
customer relationship) and deferred income by reference to
the discounted cash flow associated with these intangible

trademark and

BELEWARKERH 2 AFEED A assets and deferred income. The fair values of intangible

/%307,585,0007% 7T }170,399,000/%
L DIREB Y BB E R EMETT

assets acquired and deferred income assumed on acquisition
date of HK$307,585,000 and HK$170,399,000, respectively,

ZHEETE- are based on valuation performed by an independent qualified
professional valuer.
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B(CHBRFTHOREBEHERE) -

RERHER T B R
EREHEEM

RERE PO RIEHRES
{2 Bz 5% 3 AR 75

BaEEs RERRHZ
et aE A

BaERE RERREZ
AR 75 B UL A

S48 M BH B KR R AR

B EKE

consultation services (such as monthly membership fees,
trial classes and personal training classes) for fitness and
health activities; and (3) manufacturing and sales of cement

and clinker and trading of cement, net of discount and sales

related tax.

Manufacture and sales of prescription
drugs and laboratory related products
Operation of fitness centres and
provision of consultation services
for fitness and health activities
Royalty fee income in relation to fitness
and health activities in Taiwan
Service fee income in relation to fitness
and health activities in Taiwan
Manufacture and sales of cement
and clinker
Trading of cement

—E—tF —E-RF
2017 2016
THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
353,774 124,461
195,763 =
31,252 =
2,074 =
275,683 214,319
485,790 294,499
1,344,336 633,279
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—E-RFETAZ=T—HBEK
tFE+-_A=+—RLFE"
AEEDRMESER BEIRBEER
URBERGHEG -BF (ANEBE
BARARE)EEFFEAEEZLER
MBREFHZFAETE LH0)E
B BERBEXR: QRIEHK: &
(B)KRFEMBRERKE = EHLEZ

KA 2%y Ep-

ENMAMBREE ZEEEHBRE
RETFAEMERG RBEERHE
6 UMD BB RN FEDERR -
SEEUTHE2HRELEDED:

e BR BHEREBERB -RER
HERTELEREHBER-

e RBREXB-KERIPLREHR
2 B A0 & B o 7 AR 75 I A8 & 45 F
EGUESEHRERREER

)\0
e KERB-HEREEKERR
KA KRB B KR -
REEAEE A 2H 5 K- HES
HEBEMEHEN 2 LED -
(i) 7HBAREE
REBHEFWARESE 2SN
IS 8

SREFAHUA Segment revenue from external

customers

PHEE Segment results
APRAERA Unallocated corporate income
AARLERR Unallocated corporate expenses
BARKK Finance costs

REtaas (58) Profit (loss) before taxation

6.

“E-tE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December
2017, the Group acquired new businesses of medical,
pharmaceutical and health business and fitness business,
respectively. The Directors, being the chief operating
decision maker, had reassessed the Group’s operations
and measurement of financial performance assessment and
identified (1) medical, pharmaceutical and health business; (2)
fitness business; and (3) cement business as three separate
operating and reportable segments of the Group.

The operating business organised and managed in each
segment represents a strategic business unit that offers
different products and services for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance. The
Group has following reportable and operating segments:

° Medical, pharmaceutical and health business -
manufacture and sales of prescription drugs and
laboratory related products.

° Fitness business — operate fitness centres and provide
consultation services for fithess and health activities and
operate the franchise business for royalty and service
fee income.

° Cement business — manufacture and sales of cement
and clinker and trading of cement.

No operating segments identified have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.
() Segment revenue and results

Analysis of the Group’s segment revenue and results is
as follows:

BR BERREEYR
Medical,
pharmaceutical and
health business
ZE-RF
2016
TEL
HK$'000

BEEY
Fitness business
“E-tE ZE-RF
2017 2016
TR Thn
HK$'000 HK$'000

KRER
Cement business
Bt ZE-5F
2017 2016
TEx TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000

EL
Total
It L3
2016
TEL
HK$'000

“E-tE
2017
TR
HK$'000

2017
TEn
HK$'000

353,774 124,461 229,089 1 761,473 508,818 1,344,336 633,279

22,151 (11,412 39,864 d 14,370 33,109 76,385

8,856
(27,389)
(21,882)

21,697

1,176
(24,983
(18,018)

35,970 20,128)



(i)

4= A

HBER #)
DEMAREE (&)
B - ZT—+FR-_ZE—X#&F
+-ZA=+— Etifmiﬁﬁ

RIS E - AT 2D & 2 &5 K
REAEE Z G BEMAR 2
MEEEE MR (BR) -
TEEARD REERARFZIA
Ko BB AR o Jit)ﬁ&’dn:éff D B K&
KAFERARBDEBRZLLERRK

ok
e S|

BEREZFER i’% °

aNkvi i
THEERAE
PHEE Segment assets
BREREEE Deferred tax assets
APRLEEE Unallocated corporate assets
GREE Consolidated assets
AHaE Segment liabilities
HEAR Tax liabilties
BOREMEE Bank and other borrowings
BEHRE Deferred taxation
APERLERE Unallocated corporate liabilities
Gaaf Consolidated liabilties
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTINUED)

() Segment revenue and results (CONTINUED)

There was no inter-segment sales during the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. The accounting
policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies. Segment results represent
the profit (loss) from each segment without allocation
of unallocated corporate income and expenses, and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker of the Company for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

(ii) Segment assets and liabilities

BE BEREEEEK
Medical,
pharmaceutical and BEEK KRER &%
health business Fitness business Cement business Total
ZB-tf T ZB-tF T ZB-tfF ZFF ZB-tfF ZT%
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

TR AL TiEn AL T TR TER TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

1,301,606 1,186,716 713,103 - 1,352,080 1249360 3,366,789 2,436,076

4,360 199
73,061 717,916

3,444210 3,154,191
——

B BEREEER
Medical,
pharmaceutical and BEEE KRER &%
health business Fitness business Cement business Total
Z8-t§ -3 5F Z%-tF T ZB-tf ZFF ZB-tfF ZTf%
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

TER TR TR TR TR TR TER TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

122,908 119,190 248,806 - 212,603 168,259 584,317 287,449

87,292 91,385
805,002 1,079,441
113,537 44,770

5,350 8,083

1,595,498 1,511,128
——
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DEER (&)

(i)

(iii)

THEEREE (#)

MEEDHRR LR D EHE DI
BRME :

s MBAEENEKREZKEDEL
WA BERERIEEENK
DREXEEE: &

s MBRBIKRELZLDE
HErBERERE RITR
HibfEE BERBRARD
FxaE-

H ftb 7 58 & B

AADHEBERK D BEEFEZ
TR

e

RERRDEE Addition to non-current assets

BERTE Amortisation and depreciation

BATEEREZEBEEL  Fairvalue (gains) losses on financial
NTEE Mz BB assets at fair value

FEHBA Interest income

REEBRE Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

BEAGEER (BERE)RME Loss on imparment reversal of allowance)
and write-off of inventories
EE-HBEATEE Share of results of an associate
ElE-HAERFEE Share of results of a joint venture
BHTHEREZBAEENE Release of prepaid lease payments
on land use rights
HERMENE BRRAEELZ  Net (gain) loss on disposal and write-off of
(hs) BBREE property, plant and equipment
BREENRHAERZHF Equity-settled share-based payments
R-HBERAZER Interests in an associate
R-MAERAZES Interests in a joint venture

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (coNnTINUED)
(ii) Segment assets and liabilities (CONTINUED)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance

and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than deferred tax assets and unallocated
corporate assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than tax liabilities, bank and other
borrowings, deferred taxation and unallocated
corporate liabilities.

(iii) Other segment information
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or
loss or segment assets:
BE BEREEEH
Medical,
pharmaceutical and BEEE KRER #5B ag
health business Fitness business Cement business Unallocated Total
28t “T-RE ZE-tF SF-5F Z8-tE STF ZB-4F “F5F ZE-tE CTRE
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
TR TAL TiEn T TER i TER AL TER TAL
HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
69583 353063 604,678 - 1814 11567 2,270 46 694705 364676
17,028 8031 18724 - 0618 20728 315 % 56745 28780
- - - - 2169 713 (6841) 2258 (9009) 1545
(098 (3243 43) S (068 (223 (1813 (339 (12587 (28814
387 174 577 - 1,732 3827 - = 2,696 4,001
(618) 576 - - 2,087 - - - 1,469 576
- - 363 - (133) (15) - - BTey) (15)
(11,666)  (4,096) - = - - - - (11,666)  (4,096)
2971 1,258 - - 180 182 - = 3,151 1440
(22) (16) - S 18 (604 - -6 (6060)
8,868 9713 - - - - 1529 4048 10397 13761
- - 13007 - - 2,601 - - 13007 2,601
21,008 32,759 - - - s - - 21098 32750
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6. DEEHR (&) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(iv) B B FEEGRREBREZ (iv) Information about major products and
g services
FEERERBE 2B AD TN The revenue of the major products and services is
T analysed as follows:
—E—+tHF —E-RF
2017 2016
FTHEx FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEEMEEREE: Manufacture and sales and trading of:
Be 77 & Prescription drugs 314,091 105,411
ER=HBER Laboratory related products 39,683 19,050
K Cement 713,641 476,375
2R Clinker 47,832 32,443
KEREFHLR Operating of fitness centres and
AR F A provision of consultation services
2 BR 75 S AR 75 for fitness and health activities 195,763 -
EHAERS RMEE  Royalty fee income in relation to fitness
RIEzEZF#EEW A and health activities in Taiwan 29,886 -
BHEEBESRER  Service fee income in relation to fitness
AR5 2 AR 75 B YA and health activities in Taiwan 3,440 -
1,344,336 633,279
vy EBREXTEZEFZ2ER (v) Information about major customers
HEz—_Z—ttF+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2017, revenue from
IEFE - REKEEB —BREFP a customer in the cement business amounting to
Z W A E375,162,0008 ¢ (= HK$375,162,000 (2016: HK$209,284,000) individually
£ —N%F :209,284,000/8 L) represented more than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

BEEERNEEBRAI0%MA Lo

129



=ed=

£ & & ¥k ANNUAL REPORT 2017

4R A BT 15 ¥R X M 51 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—T—+HF+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

HEZ

6.

130

DEEFR (#)
(vi) b & &

AEBBE_T-R"F+_-A
ST BLEFEZEEREM
KRB -REE—_T—+F+—
A=Zt—BILEFERBERSEK
B AEBZE2ERELNDE
EEmE-ERAKERELE
EBREINFRELPZWAZER
NEREEMENEZY -BH
AEBEERDEENEHER
BEEZHWEBEMNERY -

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (coNnTINUED)

(vi) Geographical information

The Group’s operations for the year ended 31
December 2016 are originally located in the PRC. With
the fitness business acquired during the year ended
31 December 2017, the Group’s operations are now
located in the PRC and Singapore. Information about
the Group’s revenue from continuing operations from
external customers is presented based on the location
of operations. Information about the Group’s non-
current assets is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets.

RENREBEEZHWA
Revenue from kRBEE
external customers Non-current assets
—E2—+tf —ZT-XF ZE—tF ZT—RF
2017 2016 2017 2016
FaET FAT FH T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
H The PRC 1,129,941 633,279 1,083,078 1,006,517
s Singapore 214,395 - 604,487 -
1,344,336 633,279 1,687,565 1,006,517
H g A 7. OTHER INCOME
—ET—t#F —E—RE
2017 2016
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
KERITZFBRA Interest income from banks 4,344 8,291
JE U B FF B A Interest income from loans receivables 6,499 11,555
REAREENRBELRZ Interest income from a non-controlling
—ZIEERRRE 2 shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary
FEHKA 6,387 6,918
KE—EHPNEZERAFZ Interest income from an intermediate
A B UA holding company 995 2,214
KEHMEWRIEZ Interest income from other receivables
F B WA 828 846
B 478 B I B Government grant and subsidy 8,725 2,530
RER} S & Sales of scrap 2,277 5,317
He WA Rental income 3,869 150
HIEU A Sundry income 6,172 5,884
40,096 43,705
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8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain

Fair value gains (losses) on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts
on trade receivables

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts
on other receivables

Net (loss) gain on disposal and write-off
of property, plant and equipment

Gain on shortfall of profit
undertaking (note)

Loss on disposal of a joint venture

—ZE—tF TE—RE
2017 2016
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(1,140) 20
9,009 (1,545)
(2,696) (4,001)
(15,154) =
(11,176) 6,060
27,125 -
(180) -
5,788 534

W

BB Truels B8 18 2 IR SR 1 7% + Active Gains
Universal Limited ([ Active Gains | * TFKT True
Holdings,z 3k % i i 3 ) B2 & & ¥ %6 4 (True
BB =B 2 RFE ABTFKT True HoldingsZ &l
WA A HTFKT TrueE@HE T —+
F+A=Z=+—BLEFE -BHE-T-N\F
+ A=+ BLFERBE-_T-—NAF+=
A=+T—BHBLEFEZLEERZERMRELT
2 5l 548,200,0003 7T * 10,900,0003 jT &
13,800,000 7T (£ H10% FAZEEE - R
TFKT TruekBHE T —+ &+ A =+—

ALFE BE-F-NF+-A=+-AL
FERBE-F-AF+-A=+-ALFE

2 EEZIREBRTIE LT B2 77,380,0003%
7L +9,810,0003 7T 2 12,420,000 F TS 2% )
Active Gains# LAE LA AN E B L FHHE R T
B2 (ITFKT Truek BT EE BISEE
BIFE)FIA100% 2 SEERIE - A It - /ﬁﬁﬂh%
FHARZHEZ2WEBITFKT TrueS BEH =
—tF+=A=+— Emiﬁz,m%ﬁﬂ@:i@
F 828,200,000 L 7 = -EE A HEZ
T N\FER-T-NF+-_A=+—BLFE

ZHHAENRZBRANGRAMBHREBHT
SR AR -

Note:

Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement for the True Acquisition, Active
Gains Universal Limited (“Active Gains”), the non-controlling shareholder
of TFKT True Holdings, and Mr. Patrick John Wee Ewe Seng, the
warrantor for the True Acquisition and founder of TFKT True Holdings,
have undertaken that if the audited consolidated net profit after tax of
TEKT True Group for the year ended 31 December 2017, year ending 31
December 2018 and year ending 31 December 2019 shall be less than
US$8,200,000, US$10,900,000 and US$13,800,000, respectively (subject
to a 10% buffer of downward adjustment which will be triggered if the
audited consolidated net profit after tax of TFKT True Group is less than
US$7,380,000, US$9,810,000 and US$12,420,000 for the year ended
31 December 2017, year ending 31 December 2018 and year ending
31 December 2019 respectively), Active Gains shall pay to the Group
an amount equal to such shortfall (including the amount of net loss in
the event TFKT True Group is loss making) on a dollar-to-dollar basis
multiplied by 100% in the United States dollars. Accordingly, the gain
on shortfall of profit undertaking represented the difference between the
consolidated net profit after tax of TFKT True Group for the year ended
31 December 2017 and US$8,200,000. The Directors do not anticipate
shortfalls of profit undertaking for the year ending 31 December 2018
and 2019 at the date of these consolidated financial statements were
approved for issuance.

131



=ed=

I

o

132

= A
=

£ & & ¥k ANNUAL REPORT 2017

BA 75 3 2% B 5= Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE-Z—tF+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

B & B AN

9. FINANCE COSTS

—E—tF —E-RF
2017 2016
THERx T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
NTBEZHE: Interests on following borrowings:
RITER Bank loans 7,254 7,225
HihfgE Other borrowings 12,980 9,454
BTIEERRRE—IE Imputed interest arising from a put
ROnHEEL ZEEFE  option granted to non-controlling
(FF=E) shareholder (note) 1,435 -
MEMESMT Obligations under finance leases 78 -
BERZHE Loans arrangement fee 135 542
BERERE Loans guarantee fee - 797
21,882 18,018
M5 Note:

R IETruells 88 = 78 2 I8 R 1 5% * Active Gains
(TFKT True HoldingsZ JEfE IR AR R ) % T —18
FRom B + A [ AN & @ ) & TFKT True Holdings
2 9% AR AN HE 7= o 3R U4 BB A] R Active GainsA
10,800,000% T Z AT fEBT{E  ETFKT Truek
BEE-_Z—+E+-_A=+—BIFEZK
B A BB & F T8 2 58,200,000% 7T
(RBE10% T AEEEE - B17,380,000%7T) °

B BTFKT True Holdingsi&{n 2 & H&E 15— &
WS & M Truellt B8 = 18 52 B B 8 R SR 0H Hi 2
FTELAZSREaBERE NEFBEKEHEUR
M Active Gains?T i A A &£ B H & B D 2 #E F IR
R BHOBEREZBBEVNIIRGTBEEZR
BERERRTE YHEERIEERERSAAR-
A it - 1% F Active Gainsix R HiEFTE L Z
B ERERENER AREE_T—LF
ToZA=THALFEZEMNERFLEBETIRZ
H (KizE8) MR A TEAZ SR BB
ER-T—+HE+ A=+ BAHRIEER

Pursuant to a shareholders’ agreement for the True Acquisition, Active
Gains, the non-controlling shareholder of TFKT True Holdings, is granted
a put option to sell to the Group 9% of equity interest in TFKT True
Holdings. The put option is exercisable by Active Gains with an exercise
price of US$10,800,000 provided that the audited consolidated net profit
after tax of TFKT True Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 shall
be not less than US$8,200,000 (subject to a 10% buffer of downward
adjustment i.e. US$7,380,000).

The gross financial liability arising from the put option is recognised
upon the completion of the True Acquisition when contractual obligation
to purchase the shares in TFKT True Holdings is established even if
the obligation is conditional on Active Gains exercising a right to sell
the shares to the Group. The liability for the share redemption amount
is initially recognised and measured at present value of the estimated
purchase price with the corresponding debit to the non-controlling
interests. Accordingly, the imputed interest arising from this put option
granted to Active Gains is recognised in profit or loss. Such gross
financial liability arising from the put option has been derecognised as at
31 December 2017 as a result of the shortfall of undertaking for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (note 8).
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S,
EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

Emoluments of directors’, chief executive’'s, employees’
and senior management for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance is as follows:

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration paid or payable to each of the six (2016:
seven) Directors and the chief executive were as follows:

SREBEAEME
AEEIEE BREAHAR EER
EAREEABMESREEM EARA
NEBRBHUEHIRENDT
EEME
BHRER AR (S8 —AF: L8
EELRSTBRAERBZHFMOT
HITES: Executive Directors:
BafAE Mr. Huang Yu
BEEGLE Mr. Ng Qing Hai*
FUTES Non-Executive Director:
REKL AL Mr. Zhang Yi™*
BYFHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors:
REELE Mr. Chan Sze Chung
R A A Mr. Zhang Ruibin
RESEE Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack
BETHAS: Chief Executive:
CE e Mr. Jiang Chaowen*

* BEBEER_T—tFE+-_A+—H
RIEHEARRRZEEHEE (RIELT
HRAEENERRITRAS ZBAL) » 1E4E
BREEARRZATES  EXARESR
BEEEZHMEBEENFRNIERES
BEERBTERRERB 2ME -

- RHEALER _ZT—tF+_A+—BH
AARZHATEEHERFRTESE I
RZF—N\F—AZ+=BEEAAA
ZHMITES-

g BREXEER—_Z—tF+-A+—H
BZERARBZERBAITE - HRNLEX
it zMEeERERNR -_T—tF+=A
T-RBE_Z—tHE+_A=1+—H8H
BERBRENTEREZIRE - BHX
EEBR-_Z-N\E-A_+=HEZ
ERARBZHITES

ok

ZB-t%
2017
He/
PR 75 8 R BRiGE
HitER BAER URORER
Salaries/ ~ BREHE AR 2R
service 24 Retirement Equity-
Eshe feeand Performance benefits settled HeBE
Directors’ other related scheme  share-based Total
fees benefits bonuses contributions payments  emoluments
TER TER TER TER TET TER
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
10 649 200 30 - 889
(Bizta)
(note a)
10 2,834 288 131 383 3,646
(Fiztb)
(note b)
10 1,800 1,088 54 1,533 4,485
(Ma)
(note a)
10 79 - - 7 166
10 79 - - 7 166
10 79 - - 7 166
- 57 - 3 - 60
60 5,577 1,576 218 2,147 9,578

Mr. Ng Qing Hai ceased to be the Managing Director of the
Company (equivalent to the role as the chief executive under the
Listing Rules) on 11 December 2017 but continued to act as an
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ng Qing Hai’s emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the
Managing Director and Executive Director during the year.

Mr. Zhang Yi was re-designated from an Executive Director to a
Non-Executive Director of the Company on 11 December 2017
and resigned as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 23
January 2018.

Mr. Jiang Chaowen was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company on 11 December 2017. His emoluments above
include his services rendered by him as the Chief Executive Office
from 11 December 2017 to 31 December 2017. Mr. Jiang Chaowen
was further appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on
23 January 2018.
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10. EEX B S5THAE-fEER 10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S,

SREBAEME (@) EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
EEME (2 Directors’ emoluments (CONTINUED)
—R-RF
2016
%4/
REER EngE
iR RNER ARG AER
Salaries/  ERBIHE S PANE:
service 2T Retirement Equity-
548 feeand  Performance benefits settled HewE
Directors’ other related scheme  share-based Total
fees benefits bonuses  contributions payments emoluments
FiET FET FAT TAR TAT ThR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HTES: Executive Directors:
bt Mr. Huang Yu 10 618 46 10 - 684
(MisFa)
(note a)
BEELE Mr. Ng Qing Hai 10 2,834 1,458 131 499 4,932
(BsEe)
(note ¢)
R G A Mr. Zhang Yi* 5 865 - 18 1,998 2,886
Bk LE Mr. Deng Jinguang" 5 170 - - - 175
BUFHTES: Independent Non-Executive
Directors:
BRELE Mr. Chan Sze Chung 10 79 - - 100 189
RIS Mr. Zhang Ruibin 10 79 = - 100 189
REERE Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack 10 79 - - 100 189
60 4,724 1,504 159 2,797 9,244
‘e RZE—R"FELtA+TZHEZZT—F i From 12 July 2016 to 31 December 2016.
+=-A=+—8-
" RZE—RF—A—HEZ2Z_ZF—X Ft " From 1 January 2016 to 12 July 2016.
A+=H-
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10. EE - BRS1THAE -EER

SREEAESME 2£)

EEME 2

NERMRATEE M RBREEIE
ARRRASEEHMRE‘EZREA
Bo A EFTRIFMITE R C e B H 4
EARAKEMBARESEMEHRZ
MIEE - ALFATRBLIFNTESZ
MelREZTESMRHZREA

REE_E—tFR_ZE—RE+=
BZ+—HILFE HEESRELM
B & o
B -

(a) SHEEFACHAEZHABEESRN—FE
YIS TEAL -
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S,

EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Directors’ emoluments (CONTINUED)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive
director’s emoluments shown above were for his services as
director of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

Notes:

(a) The amount represented the discretionary bonus of the preceding
year approved to the respective directors during the year.

(b) The amount represented the bonus on monthly target scheme
approved to the director during the year.

(c) The amount represented the discretionary bonus of the preceding
year and the bonus on monthly target scheme approved to the
Director during the year.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2016: two) were the directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2016: three) highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2017 were as
follows:

—E—tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FekHEMmEF Salaries and other benefits 2,895 2,990
BRIBFTE 2 IE4L Performance related bonuses 250 198
RIRTEFIET Bl K Retirement benefits scheme

contributions 148 167

BanEEUROBER Y Equity-settled share-based payments
(NEN 2,583 2,759
5,876 6,114
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BEE BSTBRAE -EER
SREEAESHME 2£)

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S,
EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
BEEME (&) Employees’ emoluments (CONTINUED)
"EZMENT TR TIEE : Their emoluments were within the following bands:
EE®E
Number of employees
—EB—tF —E-RF
2017 2016
1,000,0017% 7T % HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
2,000,001 TR HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
2,500,0007% 7T 2 2
3 3

REzE-_FT—+F+-_A=+—H1
EF“ $EI$E%%¥WE%?%$&MU\$
SR EMME (ZE—NF &)
EB RS % }JDA‘JZB’\)JD)\$EI1§
Z R o

REBAEWE

i

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no emoluments
(2016: Nil) were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group.

Senior management’s emoluments

AEEERERABRERE(ZE Of the senior management of the Group, six (2016: seven)
—RNFE ERB)RAAREEZTLANE were the directors or former directors of the Company
T REZNEE R EXEE -BHEZ whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The
Z—tF+= H T-BILEE - E8 emoluments of the remaining nine (2016: nine) individuals for
N2 (ZE—RF:NB)ATZHE the year ended 31 December 2017 were as follows:
N
—ZE—tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FokHEMmEN Salaries and other benefits 5,465 5,452
RERIRE ZZTEZI Performance related bonuses 697 525
RIRBER TSR Retirement benefits scheme
contributions 444 443
RanEE AR BER Equity-settled share-based payments
R 3,196 3,558
9,802 9,978
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10. EE - BRS1THAE -EER

SREEAESME 2£)

EREBEAEME (&)
BEZMENFRTHNEHE:

HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S,

EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Senior management’s emoluments (CONTINUED)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

EEHE
Number of employees

—E—+tHF —ZE-RF

2017 2016

1,000,000 7Tk A T~ HK$1,000,000 or below 6 6
1,000,001 T2 HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
1,500,0018 T2 HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

2,000,000/ 7T - -
2,000,001 T E HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

2,500,0007% 7T 2 2

9 9

BERBABEZEABEARARAET
MEBAR (A EBBEKERRA A
([E/BLEH])  ILRBA ERKESR
RoE (TBEER]) RIUR LR
ZRARAA (TR EB]) ) FARE
ZBREEE - BB EIRER:

/ﬁnﬁjﬁgﬁ
EEKERAR B2
f%i%%

R E T R

HE

Q@ "0 Q0o

2 IR

SARIREBEFEREXERTHEZ
MR EETEAMEREEBZ - E'JE?H
PRBEAEESBEBRKIEEELIZ
BARRIFEMESRIERRTE
TE4L -

The performance related bonuses included an incentive
scheme adopted by the Company’s certain subsidiaries,
namely Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
SAC”), Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited (“Allied
Wangchao”) and Shandong Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd.
(“Shandong SAC”). Criteria on the incentive scheme are:

Amount of profits

Average cost of production

Quantities of cement and clinker produced
Electricity consumption

Coal consumption

Aggregate amount of aging debts

Sales volume

@~oo0OTw

Each company bases on its annual budgeted performance to
set its targets. If pre-set targets are achieved in a particular
month, all staff will be entitled to performance related
bonus as determined for in each target level as well as on
individual’s assessed performance during the subject month.
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—ZE—tHF+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

IR 11. TAXATION
—E—tF —E—REF
2017 2016
THERx T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(ZH)ERBIE: The (charge) credit comprises:
Bl ER R 18 Current tax
— R EPEMAEH - PRC Enterprise Income Tax (1,974) (9,376)
—HENEH - Hong Kong Profits Tax (19) (19)
— IS - Singapore Corporate Income tax (6,978) -
(8,971) (9,395)
BEFE (BETR) (Under) over provision in prior years
FREE RS
—FEREMRER - PRC Enterprise Income Tax 7,475 ()
—BHENEH - Hong Kong Profits Tax 14 14
7,489 13
EFER A (FFEE39) Deferred tax (note 39) 1,363 1,957
(119) (7,425)

FPRECEMSBHKERBREWEBQ
RIZBEETHE - E%¢l$%£¢&
ERR R RK T ERA AL
HEASHBIHOEZHEB QR AT RE
TE—+FRFE— /\ﬁ5+:ﬂ
Z+—HUEFEZEEBEMREI15% °
—ﬁ%$ﬁ%ﬁ2%%@7%m73
<¢¥%$r¢$% ﬁ%ﬁa>
+_ﬂf+ E¢$F¥ﬁﬁ%m$
12.5% - AP BI R 2 E b I 8B
HE-_ZT—+HF+-A= + E¢¢
EZBEAME RS (2T —NF:
2&@0-%%%%&%&¢2W%

RIBREFREMCEMEH ARPRR
ﬁZﬁmm CBRMEET —HEPE
M@ Qa2 F B U A YRER 2 T8 40
i o

FENSHMEFESRGEFTERY
i A 2 16.5%5 &

B EFERABE T —£F
+= A=+ — I 2 R B
RT3 5 -

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the rates
applicable to respective subsidiaries. According to the
PRC tax laws and regulations, a subsidiary established
in the PRC, which was recognised as the High and New
Technology Enterprise in Shandong Province, is entitled to
enjoy the preferential tax rate at 15% for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016. Another subsidiary established
in the PRC was recognised as (B M= 2 M4 A%
IEH) and is entitled to enjoy the preferential tax rate at
12.5% for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. The
applicable tax rate for other subsidiaries established in the
PRC is 25% (2016: 25%) for the year ended 31 December
2017. A subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong is subject to
withholding tax charged on the interest income from lendings
to a PRC subsidiary at the withholding tax rate prevailing in
the PRC under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

Singapore Corporate Income Tax is calculated at 17% of the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2017.
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HEZZ—+tF+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

11. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Hiz The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the

profit (loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

—E—tF —E-RF
2017 2016
FTERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Profit (loss) before taxation 35,970 (20,128)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate
of 25% (2016: 25%)
(8,993) 5,032
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose (6,837) (10,998)
Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose 11,215 3,026
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
(596) (7,258)
Tax effect of preferential tax rate 1,293 1,470
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions 597 10
Reversal of withholding tax on
undistributed earnings 104 392
Overprovision in prior years 7,489 13
Utilisation of tax loss previously not
recognised 672 2,020
Tax effect of share of result of associate
(2,191) (4)
Tax effect of share of result of
joint venture (2,917) (1,024)
Others 45 (104)
Taxation charge for the year (119) (7,425)
EIN The domestic tax rate represents the statutory tax rate of the

major group companies operating in the PRC.
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XEEEAN (BE) 12. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
—ZE—tF ZE—RF
2017 2016
THERx T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
NEZE M (ER) IR HIE  Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived
(T A) TR IEEBES at after charging (crediting):
BTHRA (BEEEME)  Staff costs (including Directors’
emoluments)
e REMEAR Salaries and other costs 139,119 39,686
BmERE ARG BER Equity-settled share-based payments
(E7S 10,397 13,761
RRERETEIHR Contributions to retirement benefits
schemes 25,759 6,325
175,275 59,772
Z B AT B Auditor’s remuneration 2,107 2,067
WRAEZH 2 FERAR Cost of inventories recognised as
expenses 817,328 538,120
M kFEEA Research and development expenses
(FFAEAMER) (included in other expenses) 23,727 4,470
FEREEE Loss on impairment of inventories
(G ASHEA) (included in cost of sales) 1,469 576
ISR Provision of financial guarantee
(FFAEMER) (M) (included in other expenses) (note) 1,488 =
mEEHE Amortisation of intangible assets 5,231 456
WEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 158 67
M- -WERREITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 51,356 28,257
BN ITEEE Total amortisation and depreciation 56,745 28,780
BHLTMERAEZ Release of prepaid lease payments on
TENMHERKIE land use rights 3,151 1,440
EPd L Lk L Operating lease rentals in respect of
premises 66,3865 4,167

REE-_ZT—+FE+-A= + Bt
FE -AEBERAERERESET Y —
FW\ME&%AEﬂszﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁms,ooof%
T (=T — X% 1,991 ooo;m‘z)osz

FERBIRFAA L2 B TA
-

B

TFKT Truefs @ 5k ()4 £(100,000,000% & 2 &
REtBRER—BE=F ([BRAL) 2B
FMERMBERARE-—ENEER - ZERHAB
ThEER AR F—REHETFKT True Holdings 2 3E
ERBRRAIER 2B ((BRA]) -REE=
T—+tF+-A=t—BLFEBRRZE—F
BEREZEERARBMBBTFKT Truet B{E A
ZERBBERASBLEZETFE -

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
paid HK$763,000 (2016: HK$1,991,000) services fee to a
personnel services company providing temporary labours to
the Group. Such amounts are excluded from the total staff
costs as mentioned on above.

Note:

TFKT True Group granted a financial guarantee to a third party (the
“Lender”) in respect of (i) loan facilities amounting to THB100,000,000
and (i) the accrued interest payable to the Lender. The loan facilities were
granted by the Lender to an entity under control of the non-controlling
shareholder of TFKT True Holdings (the “Borrower”). The further provision
recognised represented the accrued interest up to the date when the
Lender agreed to release TFKT True Group as the guarantor in respect of
this loan facilities during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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13.

HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

AU ESRERR
BEEBR e
— AR B BRFEMS

R&H & E
R ESRERZ
BB

following data:

Loss for the purposes of basic and
diluted loss per share — attributable to
owners of the Company

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose loss per share

—E—+F ZE-RF
2017 2016
FET &
HK$’000 HK$’000
(1,806) (37,076)
—E—tF —E-RF
2017 2016

il 1%

Shares Shares

4,943,780,754

4,949,626,885

£ XBITR 2 & R B hn R 15 B0 R H
BrBx iy 22 @hat 8 (TR (D 2R AT 811 )+
BZRpEER-

HRITEARRIZERESERSR
EERL WAEEE T —tF k=
T-RNFE+-_A=+t—BILEEZF
e EEEETERRZSHEE
F71E -

Hﬁ /%\

ArmEEe ([EF2)) TEFIRM
BE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILF
BZAREBRE(ZE—RF &) -

KRARARBE_T—-—LtF+_-A
=t+—BILEFELESIRKORMNEM
BRE(ZTE—XRF:HE)-

14.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares shown
above has been arrived at after deducting the shares held by
the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”).

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the
computation of the diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options as such would
result in a decrease in loss per share.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) does not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).
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15. % HERRER®E 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BH-#E
BFR Rk
BEY BERME EEI®  Furniture,
Buildings ~ HEZ#H Plant Construction fixtures RE  BERE
and  Leasehold and in and Motor Fitness it
structures improvements  machinery progress  equipment vehicles  equipment Total

TR TER TR TR TR TER TR TR
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R cosT
RZF-7F-A-H At 1 January 2016 270,673 3364 241543 5,879 7,319 7788 - 506556

EiAEyE Effect of exchange adjustments 25,270) (938) (17,575) 2,118 (1522) (600) - (48,029)
hERBARAES Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 126,846 11,594 27,337 9,422 17,001 2,614 - 194,814
TE Additions 3,199 1117 4,073 36,800 2,170 631 - 48,890
HERME Disposals and write-off (7,194) (942) (6,166) - (435) (4,280) - (19,017)
B Reclassffication 1,469 - 9,838 (12,418) 1,085 % - -
RZE-~"F+ZF=1+-H At 31 December 2016 369,723 14,185 259,950 37,565 25,618 6,179 - 713,220
ERHZyE Effect of exchange adjustments 27,317 2,845 19,850 4,941 2,107 512 505 58,137
KEHBARMES Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries - 43,855 7,070 10,790 3,308 795 12,337 78,155
TE Additions 101 6,659 13,712 50,922 453 5,542 1285 82,757
HERME Disposals and write-off (9,558) (1812) (13,342) (1,200) (819) (3,289) (511) (30,540)
ERio] Reclassffication 1,787 7,813 430 (14,786) 655 6) 4107 -
R-E2-t%£+-F=t-H At 31 December 2017 389,430 73,545 287,670 88,223 35,405 9,733 17,723 901,729
fE DEPRECIATION

RZF-75-f-R At 1 January 2016 46,036 543 100,794 - 3,753 4550 - 165,676
ExREy2 Effect of exchange adjustments (3.271) (58) (7,236) - (344) (310) - (11,219)
rEERE Provided for the year 8,970 1,458 13,895 - 2,559 1375 - 28,257
RIEE R ERE Eliminated on disposals and write-off (3.301) (942) (3,497) - (435) (3,535) - (11,710)
A Impairment - - - - 4 8 - 12
R-E-~E+-F=1+-R At 31 December 2016 48,434 1,001 103,956 - 5,537 2,088 - 161,016
ENAEYE Effect of exchange adjustments 4109 345 8,496 - 612 139 54 13,755
rEERRE Provided for the year 11,982 12,716 16,216 - 5,776 1,971 2,695 51,356
P R S 3 Eliminated on disposals and write-off 2,697) (1,810) (6,604) - (7m) 2,565) (484) (14,931)
R-B—+%£+-A=t+-8 At 31 December 2017 61,828 12,252 122,064 - 11,164 1633 2,065 211,19
EEE CARRYING VALUES

RZF—+%F+=f=1-8 At 31 December 2017 327,602 61,293 165,606 88,223 24,251 8,100 15,458 690,533
R-B-—RE+-A=t+-R At 31 December 2016 321,289 13,184 155,994 37,565 20,081 4,001 c 552,204
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HEXKE

4.5% - 18%
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18% - 33.3%

14.3%

AR 2 R B2 B a7 -
REREREZRSE

B FBR_ZE——FALA=-+N
BRBYE=FII=0EBEH=z"
NEEETRERRRE BREA
A E#380,000,0007T (2% R4
456,018,000 T (=& — N F:
424,581,000 L) ) RIE=ZHEBEE
MEBECREREEEERKAR
EEERAREBAMEZTF KELEER
MERIER ([AEEEBE])  AEH
PARREZEZERHERIEREIE
ER-R-_ZT—+tFt+-_A=+—8H"
FEEBEIN =B EHZERE
ZE5BHMRAE X ARYG8,270,000
T(ZE—AF: AR®68,270,000
7T) (HEE RN 481,927,000 T (=&
— N 176,279,000 70) ) - KX 5 &
BEHRARRBHA-ZT——-_F+A
—HAZRE HHAZZE——F+—A8
THRBZEBERHREANGE M EREN
44

AATEZFEEZEEEER AT TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

7% 4R 3 Mt 3= Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15.

16.

HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings and structures 2.5% - 9%

Leasehold improvements 4.5% - 18%

Plant and machinery 5% - 9%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9% - 20%

Motor vehicles 18% - 33.3%

Fitness equipment 14.3%
The buildings of the Group are situated on the leasehold land
in the PRC.

Details of the pledged of assets referred to note 47.

DEPOSITS FOR EQUIPMENT AND
MACHINERIES

On 28 September 2012, Shanghai SAC entered into three
purchase agreements with independent third parties for
the purchases of certain equipment and machineries at the
aggregate consideration of RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$456,018,000 (2016: HK$424,581,000)).
The equipment and machineries under the three purchase
agreements were purchased for future use in the development
of new cement production facilities at Bailonggang, Pudong,
Shanghai (“Bailonggang Project”) and the Group and the
Company do not intend to retain such equipment and
machineries for their own use. As at 31 December 2017,
Shanghai SAC has settled the respective first payments
of the total consideration in an aggregate amount of
RMB68,270,000 (2016: RMB68,270,000) (equivalent to
approximately HK$81,927,000 (2016: HK$76,279,000)) under
the three purchase agreements. Details of the transaction
were set out in the announcement and circular of the
Company dated 3 October 2012 and 15 November 2012
respectively and note 44 to these consolidated financial
statements.
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17. Tt FEAEZFANHEFRE  17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND

USE RIGHTS
—E—+tF ZE—RF
2017 2016
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
THFERECENEE The prepaid lease payments on land use
FIEBLE: rights comprise:
FHEETZ Leasehold land in the PRC under
FREEE L medium-term lease 110,429 105,877
MMEMEL 2D AT+ Analysed for reporting purposes as:
FETR & Non-current 107,140 104,378
nE Current 3,289 1,499
110,429 105,877
MEL AT EIRFIGAEED - The leasehold land is released on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of leases.
BERM FBHFLHWE47 - Details of the pledged of assets referred to note 47.
18. REW = 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FAT
HK$’000
R COST
RZE—RF—A—H At 1 January 2016 E
MR AETE Effect on exchange adjustments (333)
WENBARMEE Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 5,466
Eé:i;—/\iJr A=+—H At 31 December 2016 5,133
fERAETE Effect on exchange adjustments 377
RZZE—+tF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2017 5,510
e AMORTISATION
RZE—RF—H—H At 1 January 2016 L
NFE N Charge for the year 67
i /—\¢+ A=+—H At 31 December 2016 67
MEH AR E Effect on exchange adjustments 9
NEE N Charge for the year 158
RZE—+t&+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2017 234
ARMEE CARRYING VALUE
RZZE—tF+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2017 5,276
RZE—RE+A=+—H At 31 December 2016 5,066
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19. B & 19. GOODWILL
FHET

HK$’000
2N COST
RZE—RF—H—H At 1 January 2016 =
WEEMBARMEE Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 219,492
MEN BT E Effect on exchange adjustments (1,937)
R-EBE—RF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2016 217,555
WEEM B A R FTE A (K1FE41) Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41) 219,417
EHARTE Effect on exchange adjustments 2,188
R-ZZB—tF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2017 439,160
RZE—tEFRAAZTHLA KTEERT On 29 May 2017, the Group completed the True Acquisition
RE—&BBLE=FETZTruelE from an independent third party at a cash consideration
=218 £ A (EA36,720,000% 5T ( 48 of US$36,720,000 (equivalent to HK$284,580,000). The
& 7284,580,0007%8 T ) o A U g m &= amount of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition was
£ MBS R219,417,000/8 7T ° 5 HK$219,417,000. Details referred to note 41.

BR 24 -
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COsT

At 1 January 2016

Effect on exchange adjustments
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

Addition
RZE-RETZA=1-8 At 31 December 2016
EXAEYE Effect on exchange adjustments
YEHBARNAEE Arising on acquistion of subsidiaries
RE Addition

3

REEAR

At 31 December 2017

AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2016

Effect on exchange adjustments
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2016
Effect on exchange adjustments

Charge for the year
i St 2 b oy At 31 December 2017
BEE CARRYING VALUES
R-E-t#t-A=t-A At 31 December 2017
R-B-R"E+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2016
B &L
(@) AEBEZHEEFEARZEZEFH HEAR

M ARERAER EER A KK
EesEYERIAREER -Eit &
ENERARAERAEAEYN AR
HAReHRERAFRELERYR
Bl BRI N EEH BRI EAF IR
FERBERAL -BMMKRZ BHEEEF
K& E B RE R R B ERER
BRI -

5+ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
+tH&+_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

RE EfeR  ERFUR arihE BFBE REER H L
Mining Club Product B  Franchise  Customer Development  Computer %
right membership license  Trademark  agreement relationship  expenditure software Total
T T T T Thn Thn TEn TEL ThL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(note a) (note b)
(Mita) (Fib)
11,001 - - - - - - - 11,001
(719) - (421) - - - - - (1,146)
- - 6947 - - - - - 6947
850 278 - - - - - - 1,128
11,222 278 6,520 - - - - - 18,020
831 - 553 (599) (1,260) (112) 286 - (301)
- - - 93475 196,576 17,534 - - 307,585
- - - - - - 6,555 236 6,791
12,003 218 7,073 92,876 195,316 17422 6,841 236 332,095
2,041 - - - - - - - 2,041
(144) - @) - - - - - (152)
7 - 184 - - - - - 456
2,169 - 176 - - - - - 2,345
173 - 4 - - - - - 217
291 - 891) - 3,798 2,033 - - 5,231
2,633 - (671) - 3,798 2,033 - - 7,193
9,420 218 7,744 92,876 191,518 15,389 6,841 236 324,302
9,053 218 6,344 - - - - - 15,675
Notes:
(a) The Group’s trademark has finite legal lives but is renewable upon

expiry at minimal costs. The Directors are of the opinion that the
Group would renew the trademark continuously and has the ability
to do so. As a result, the trademark is considered by the Directors
as having indefinite useful lives because it is expected to contribute
to net cash inflows indefinitely. The trademark will not be amortised
until its useful lives is determined to be finite. Instead it will be
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.
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20. B EE (&) 20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

MicE: (&) Notes: (CONTINUED)

(b)  PTruelt 88 FIH T KK - NEE @ True (o)  Upon completion of the True Acquisition, the Group grants and
Yogakk BIE I RIBHR A B L L5 provides True Yoga Group with non-exclusive rights to operate the
(B EBREN BEZZE—+FHA franchise business in Taiwan for a term of 30 years commencing
Z+ N A AHZF - fTrue Yogatk & from 29 May 2017 and True Yoga Group shall pay a monthly
SE AT EE -8 AN 2 HiTE franchise fee. The monthly franchise fee will be sub-divided as (i)
BEED BT EERIRSE - RE royalty fee and (i) service fee. During the year ended 31 December
E-T—+tF+ZA=+—HIEFER 2017, royalty fee income and service fee income of HK$31,252,000

RIS EBIURASZ1,252,0008 7L (= F (2016: Nil) and HK$2,074,000 (2016: Nil), respectively, are
—NF ) KRR BB A2,074,0007 T recognised.
ZE-RFE)

BRAERAUFEAFTFHZEMEELD Other than the club membership and trademark, which have

BN B EEREGSEN AT BAfE# indefinite useful lives, the intangible assets are amortised on a

8 - straight-line basis over the following periods:

PRI 504 Mining right 50 years

B MR 7F Al 7F 74 Product license 7 years

BT i 304 Franchise agreement 30 years

B BEIER 5% Customer relationship 5 years

5 & A 104 Development expenditure 10 years

E - s 3% Computer software 3 years
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& B %53 R Bd 5f Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—ZE—tHF+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

BmERELEERENG

AR EZRIE W?wﬁﬁﬁi@Z?ﬁﬁ
BREECOREME (ZT—XREF:

. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the purposes of impairment assessment of goodwill, the
carrying value of goodwill as detailed in Note 19 have been

—HE)ReEEBMNOT allocated to two (2016: one) groups of CGUs, as follows:
[EES
Goodwill
—EB—tF ZE-RF
2017 2016
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BIENIHER TSR Manufacturing and sales of prescription
EREHEE®R drugs and laboratory related products
([EfZA L) (“Unit A7) 219,746 217,555
tE g O MR 5 R Operating fitness centres and providing
EEZEARE ([EMIB])  consultation services for fitness and
health activities (“Unit B”) 219,414 -
439,160 217,555

AEBEEERE RNBE_ZT—+F
RZZB—RE+-_A=1—BLEE"
HECRBEAZREELEUME
B EAR S EABMN 2 AT WO g ER
ZEERETEZMBAREIBMMT

REEME0OMBE BV EE (A&
BrameekEmR) cRE EHE
WEEEHEEZEBHMAELRREE
MmzEBEUBERBRSELEN-

tBEEAEMN ZA B IE
NEREBETEELE T ZTEEK
RAAEEEBME;ALRIE 2 M KE
BAEWM7IReRETEA MBEMLAK
BEMBZARED B A15%%18.53%
ZE—RNEFE:155% (BHA) ) H
HEMERERAEEEEBIUET - fF
BEETEEI BB (HEMBTE -8
NVABRBEVBEBEBRAFHR 2B REMF
3% (ZZT—/NF:2.3% (BEfIA) )
Z%E%E$ﬁ%°&##§$Mﬁ%
TETER AER SHRBHEITE
2¥ﬂ§tﬁ§$ ﬁ%fﬁ#ﬁiz
EMTEBRRREEEHEELERN
XU RBEAES R ARREES - HE
NZEEMN 2 BERBREBEBYHM
BERBHAE - BEEBRE T
ZEBRZIMAERAUEEH IS
EBHENAESBSMNBZAIKESERKSE
BERESAZERESE-

Management of the Group determined that there were no
impairment in any of its CGUs containing goodwill during the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. The basis of the
recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their principal
underlying assumptions are summarised below.

For the purposes of impairment assessment of intangible
assets of club membership and trademark of the Group as set
out in Note 20, they are allocated to individual CGUs of Unit B
that are expected to generate future economic benefits.

The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs have been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering a five-year
period, and discount rates for Unit A and Unit B are 15% and
18.583% respectively (2016: 15.5% for Unit A), determined
by valuers using Capital Assets Pricing Model. The value in
use calculation were determined by independent valuers.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a steady growth rate of 3% for both Unit A and Unit
B (2016: 2.3% for Unit A). These growth rates are based on
the forecasts of the relevant industries and do not exceed
the average long-term growth rate for the relevant industries.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations
included budgeted sales and gross margins and their related
cash inflows and outflows patterns, estimated based on
the units’ historical performance and the management’s
expectation of the market development. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the recoverable amounts
of Unit A and Unit B to fall below their respective carrying
amounts.



AATEZFEEZEEEER AT TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

474 B 15 3R R M 3T Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZ-Z—tF+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

RBE QT 2R 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—ZE—tF ZE—RF
2017 2016
THERx FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
WERAN FELET Cost of investment, unlisted 21,640 2,615
N BT E Effect on exchange adjustments - 1
FEAG W BB 18 RE1E Share of post-acquisition reserves (8,633) (15)
13,007 2,601
AEBR_ZTE—+F+=H=+—H Particulars of the Group's associate at 31 December 2017 are
2 NTE 2 I EH AR M FESS - set out in note 53.
AEEBRBEBHR2EKRE 2 QA The Group’s material associate at the end of the reporting
ARRHAEREEMKT ZTrue Yoga period is True Yoga Holdings Limited, which was incorporated
Holdings Limited ° 5% 20 Fff 7£41(A) BT in the Cayman lIslands. As disclosed in note 41(A), 29%
# %2 > True Yoga Holdings LimitedZ equity interest in True Yoga Holdings Limited was acquired by
20% R AR ER T —+EF A H the Group on 29 May 2017. True Yoga Group is engaged in
T+ BEBRAEBEWE - True Yogatk operating fitness centres and providing consultation services
ErEagftsggragdh o kRt for fitness and health activities in Taiwan.
BHERA AR -
BEEEMBEREENRHE @True Summarised financial information in respect of True Yoga
Yogak B~ Hﬁ%ﬁﬂ*ﬁ%xﬁwu W e Group prepared in accordance with HKFRSs is set out below.
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REBENT 2R (&)

WA

AEREBERE2E KSR

AEBEREAFEEBER
2HEX A

Bl E

FRBEE
mBEE
FRBEE
mEBAaE

BEPNEE R R A) 2w AR
ZHER:

W
i

B RRRERA A
FEHFEE

AEBRBE QR Z
AL

AEBNBERT 2
BEmZFEE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CoNTINUED)

Revenue

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year,

attributable to the Group

Dividends received

Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Reconciliation to the carrying amount of
interest in the associate:

Net assets attributable to the equity holders
of the associate

Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest in the associate

Net assets of the Group’s interest in the associate

—2—-+tF

2017
TAET
HK$'000

224,332

(29,768)

(8,633)

186,501
120,895
(49,935)

(212,609)

44,852

44,852

29%

13,007
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7% 4R 3 Mt 3= Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENTZER 23. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE
—E—+F —E—RF
2017 2016
FHET T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
& KA Cost of investment 36,855 36,855
FEAG W BB 18 RE S Share of post-acquisition reserves (15,762) (4,096)
21,093 32,759

RBE_ET—X~"F+_A=+—8H
FTFE - AEEE—FEAFEF=H
(HIJ\J);J;%‘ EBRERRKER
*ETEEZT}?%%’ZFQEEENJ\#\E
%'J/J\B_&c}xéﬁﬁ NEIRQE3 2D
MEKAEZTBEBAZA 2EEZH

Tongfang Konta Capital L.P. ([ Konta
Capital | ) = Konta Capital$ & Apros
Therapeutics, Inc. ([Apros | + —fE1R
BEMBERBESNENEREAGE
ML zRE EAREREE RN
D TFEZEII)68.74%Ewm - AEEIK
&4,750,000% 7T (18 & 736,855,000
7 7T ) M Konta Capital " B 1A B R
BB AFHAEEFFBKonta Capitalz
99.99% % Wik —HELEWE
A A][AKonta Capitallg & 2 k1% -
At Konta Capital Eff B A £ B A
09.99% w2 & & RN AE]e

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
entered into a General Partner Investment and Shareholders
Agreement with an individual third party (the “Individual®).
Pursuant to the agreement, the Group and the Individual
jointly controlled Taisheng Investment Co., Ltd. (“Taisheng”),
and Taisheng is the general partner and in turns has full
control over Tongfang Konta Capital L.P. (“Konta Capital”)
which holds 68.74% of Apros Therapeutics, Inc. (“Apros”), a
company duly incorporated under the laws of Delaware, the
United States of America, and engaged in medical research
with a focus in immunology and small molecule. The Group
invested US$4,750,000 (equivalent to HK$36,855,000) in
Konta Capital and, accordingly, directly held 99.99% of Konta
Capital as a limited partner and also provided management
services to Konta Capital via a non-wholly owned subsidiary.
Accordingly, Konta Capital is a 99.99% joint venture of the
Group effectively.
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R—EEERTZER (&)

REB B ] RIE250,0000% Z= M B 1D
CERER RE %ﬁé—%‘“ﬁ@i AEE
AT TR PTG o IR IERE A PR (1) 3%
§Eﬁﬁ/ﬁmﬂ¢”‘a (Eﬂ_z_viJ\
AARB): K(i)Aprosih £ &1L & ¥ 5%
REMFMAEFR 2 RFEEEBERTT

E-EEZRAR RBEERZEELT

23.

INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE
(CONTINUED)

The Group has an option to subscribe for 250,000 shares
of Taisheng, which by then the Group could exercise control
over Taisheng. The option shall be exercisable at any time
after the earlier of (i) the fourth anniversary of the date of
investment (i.e. 5 August 2020) and (ii) the registration of a
patent for a lead compound by Apros. In the opinion of the
Directors, the value of the subscription option is insignificant.

The Directors consider that the investment will enhance
the research and innovation capability of the Group in the
development of medical and pharmaceutical products.

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2017

2y N

i%.u/ =% ?H%?%ﬂﬁ%ﬁé?é‘)?é

BENBEER ST TR MAEHEE

# o

REEBR-_ZT—+tF+-_A=+—8H

ZEERNB ZFEBENM S - are set out in note 54.
$ETF%5/%E7H%$E ERImERBAK

NCIR= R NPT
&

L1 & ~ 7 ([Konta
B )z E

Summarised financial information in respect of the Company’s
joint venture and its subsidiary (“Konta Capital Group”)

Capital R Z #0714 prepared in accordance with HKFRSs is set out below.
—F o

—E—tF ZTE—REF
2017 2016
THEx FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
mEEE Current assets 29,856 30,049
FERBEE Non-current assets 4 1,109
nEaE Current liabilities (15,942) (261)
FEREBAEE Non-current liabilities - =
JEIE AR R 2 — B A Non-controlling interests — deficit 7,179 1,862
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23. R— B NEZER (&) 23. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE

(CONTINUED)
—E—tF ZTERF
2017 2016
FHExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEERBESSE The above amounts of assets and
BIENT&IE ! liabilities include the following:
ReMBREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 14,058 29,765
RBTRBEE(TEE Current financial liabilities
BB SHHEREAM (excluding trade and
JEATSRIALA R s ) other payables and provision) 15,942 131
PN Revenue - -
e Depreciation (1,109) (192)
KRB R L EE Loss attributable to owners of
the Company (11,666) (4,096)
IR ERIEGEER Loss attributable to non-controlling
interests (5,276) (1,862)
REEEE Loss for the year (16,942) (5,958)

Ll B B R B AR A B S Rk NPT RE
Z A Konta CapitalEE 2 #HEE S

Reconciliation of the above financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in Konta Capital Group

B2 HER recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
—E—tF —E-REF
2017 2016
FTERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Konta Capital£s & 2 Net assets of Konta Capital Group
FEE 21,093 32,759
A B P Konta Capitalf2 B Proportion of the Group’s ownership
2B REERIA interest in Konta Capital Group 99.99% 99.99%
N B Konta Capital®2@  Carrying amount of the Group’s
ZREEERASHE interest in Konta Capital Group 21,093 32,759

24. HEHEYWE
HHEM AP E Y OERME -

24. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The balance represented completed properties located in the
PRC.
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25. 78 25. INVENTORIES
—E—t% —z—x

2017 2016
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

FEBETSIEE : Inventories consist of the following:
=& Raw materials 28,276 33,561
RS Work in progress 16,155 10,675
BURK G Finished goods 52,970 34,252
97,401 78,488

26. ENESREREREE 26. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

—B—tF —E-RF
2017 2016
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
JEWE 5 R Trade receivables 421,126 280,038
B E B RIE RS Less: Allowance for trade receivables (20,368) (34,562)
400,758 245,476
JE U = 5 Bills receivables 131,913 102,513
532,671 347,989

AEBZBRRBETEZIER —KRN
FIOREIFAEZZFEER - NIREH
ARERNBZAH2I 2 EKE 5 KA
KREWEE (MERERBE) 2REK

The Group has a policy of allowing its trade customers credit
periods normally ranging from 30 days to 1 year. The aged
analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of allowance for
bad and doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice

DHTIAT date at the end of the reporting period as follows:
—E—+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FHET AT
HK$’000 HK$’000
0&E90K 0 to 90 days 254,138 206,377
91E180K 91 to 180 days 197,028 93,456
181E365K 181 to 365 days 74,446 36,812
HiE1EF Over 1 year 7,059 11,344
532,671 347,989
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26. ERESREARERERE

(&)
EE%EH%&E}E@L Zli‘ilﬁﬁﬂéﬁ

ffBE%E %}EZIZE%E&% ii*ﬁuﬁﬁ
° 4999% T-RE H7%) 2
EEH&%%TAIE&JEH&TTFEE}@H}%%
REASEERERS NHMEHAR
I 4 380 B SXORk (B 2 B MK B 5 R ) R
WEBEHRZEEEERE  BRER
FREASEZAERBAIEHARE-

N=-FE— $+*ﬂ_+ B K&
BrEWE S HIENERSEE S ®%
a%ﬁ#&iﬁﬂiatﬁﬂﬁwl&;%@\’
EIRBEEBEEBZEREZ  EEE
%EI%Y 059,000 L (Z & — /X &F:
11,344,000 7T ) °

o S

<

EAiﬁziHHEEE?iH}ME' RBEZERE
KB Z RO T

HBE1F Over 1 year

BB ZHRAREEBE R T
ERERE SR

AATEZFEEZEEEER AT TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

k& T 5= Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

26. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and define credit limits
by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed twice a year. Approximately 99% (2016:
approximately 97%) of the trade and bills receivables were
neither past due nor impaired. Management of the Group
is of the opinion that the credit quality of the trade and bills
receivables balances that are neither past due nor impaired
at the end of the reporting period is of good quality and these
customers have long term relationship with the Group.

At 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s trade and
bills receivables balances are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$7,059,000 (2016: HK$11,344,000) which are
past due at the end of the reporting period for which the
Group has not provided for impairment loss.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables that
were past due at the end of the reporting period but not
impaired:

S —EAE
2017 2016
THT THT
HK$’000 HK$’000
7,059 11,344

The carrying amount of the trade receivables is after netting
off the following impairment allowances:

—E—LF T —RF
2017 2016
FERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH R Balance at beginning of the year 34,562 32,971
N =5 Exchange difference 2,768 (2,410)
W FE WK TR 7 R Impairment losses recognised on
BB EE receivables 4,422 4,109
f’EF’jﬂEi‘:H&@ RIEHEE 2 Amounts written off as uncollectible
A (19,658) -
F R Bz RIE Amounts recovered during the year (1,726) (108)
20,368 34,562
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26. EREZRERERREE
(%)

R-E—+E+=-A=+—H0 R&
BR B N B IR 2 4 % 520,368,000/
7T (ZZF— /N 34,562,000 7T) 2
BRI RERKE SHIE  ZEEHRT
KEEREWKESHRBEZEFPEZERSE
(BEERNERNR BEMNK &
WESHBEBRESMEERE 2 ¥
BER)EFEH AEBTERZELEH
FHEMEFER-

H o B R =R

IE

27. BRERER

) B 2 1t 2 B
Bt

B RA

HoAh YR IA (P RE)
FE YR 1T A B A

Deposits paid
Prepayments

Bank interest

Misk: HERRBEARE —ERKBIE=
7 3R IE15,664,0008 L (ZF — K F:
13,610,000/ 7T) ' IR F F E6% (= F
—RNEFE6%)FE-ARZT-N\FE
Eo

HEmEWZIE RASBEE NG T3

B R

RZE—RF—HA—HK
- RE+-_A=1+—H
EERZHNERERE

=t FrT—HA=+—~H
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Advance to suppliers

Other receivables (note)

26. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2017, included in the allowance for bad
and doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables
with an aggregate balance of HK$20,368,000 (2016:
HK$34,562,000) which was assessed after considering the
credit history of the customers, including default or delay in
settlement, subsequent settlements, aging analysis of trade
receivables and the business relationship with the customers.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

27. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS
—®—tF —T-AF
2017 2016
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
83,183 66,983
19,339 2,069
4,774 10,096
41,863 56,634
income receivable 273 5,246
149,432 141,028

Note: There is a receivable from independent third party amounting to
HK$15,664,000 (2016: HK$13,610,000) carrying interest at 6%
(2016: 6%) per annum included in other receivables which is
repayable in 2018.

The carrying amount of other receivables is after netting of the
following impairment allowances:

THET
HK$’ 000

At 1 January 2016 and 31 December 2016
Impairment losses recognised 15,15;
At 31 December 2017 15,154
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28. LOANS RECEIVABLES

—E—tF —E-RF
2017 2016
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
W E R Loans receivables
FOEAER Reverse repurchase agreements (a) 74,437 125,981
HAth B E Other loans receivables (b) 104,441 41,283
178,878 167,264
(a) ZEIBEH=Z (a) Reverse repurchase agreements
REBEEZZT — +F + During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group,
Z—t+t—BHLEFE XT&EE as the reverse repo party, entered into pledge-style bond
FREFEBLEEESFR repo transactions that were denominated in RMB with
AV AARBHBEZESE the aggregate principal amount of RMB2,517,300,000
ANEERZG ASRER (equivalent to HK$3,020,881,000) (2016:

(b)

2 517,300,0007T (
3,020,881,000#70) (==
F: AR®578,100, ooofc
645,922,000 7T ) )
BT F1E28K hziﬂi)
2.30%%13.54% (=& — X
2.06%FE9.30% )it B - :ZE %
EHEoBAERLERZE
B SRR AR I BR o

REBEE-_ZT—+H&E+-A=+
BEFEE X&BEAEA
o 568,100,0007T (B &
3,081,843,000/8 L) (—&—
PiEl:
=l

*
\_/\ ]j]]

9§%|M>MM%“

o B SF SO 3 R A am

Fﬁﬂ#
@

F: AR#465,400,0007T (
520,000,000 7T ) ) 2 i
HEOEEEREER -

HiEWRER

R—_E—+F+_A=+—8"

KN4 #5EH ARE35000,000
T & ARES50,000,0007T (5
B F B MN39,106,000 7T &
60,002,000 7T) 2 b BN &
D RIRERE12% N 6%:t 8
Wiz ARG R hEHHE A
RMEHEKRE " FRAZEKER -

73"\:7 /\EEJF H JF =

K& #2585 AR ¥35,000,00070
(¥ 8 739,106,000/ 7T) 2 &
B U B SRIR G F R12%EF B -
Wi AF AR hE B HE A
RMEHKRE —FRNZEWFE -

BB X

(b)

RMB578,100,000 (equivalent to HK$645,922,000))
through the Shanghai Stock Exchange with maturity
periods from 1 day to 28 days and carried interest
ranged from 2.30% to 13.54% (2016: 2.06% to 9.30%)
per annum. Such reverse repurchase agreements
are classified as loans and receivables and stated at
amortised cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, reverse
repurchase agreements with aggregate principal
amount of RMB2,568,100,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,081,843,000) (2016: RMB465,400,000 (equivalent
to HK$520,000,000)) had matured and been redeemed.

Other loans receivables

As at 31 December 2017, other loans receivables with
aggregate principal amount of RMB35,000,000 and
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$39,106,000 and
HK$60,002,000, respectively) carrying interest at 12%
and 6%, respectively, per annum are stated at amortised
cost. It represented the loans receivables with maturity
within one year from the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2016, other loans receivable
with aggregate principal amount of RMB35,000,000
(equivalent to HK$39,106,000) carrying interest at 12%
per annum was stated at amortised cost. It represented
a receivable with maturity within one year from the end
of the reporting period.
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29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

ZERMEE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
—E—+tF ZT—X
2017 2016
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEEERE Held for trading investments
&% Bonds (@) 31,635 79,438
WEE LT ZIAES  Equity securities listed in (b)
Hong Kong 21,324 15,849
REBUAIINET Z Equity securities listed outside (b)

PR AN 58 25 Hong Kong 428 2,783
REGMEEES Exchange-traded funds (b) 2 -
EEEBIBEREKEE LT Financial assets designated

BEREZEMEE  as at fair value through

profit or loss
R EmZ Convertible bonds listed ()

A& 5 in the PRC 36,504 -

MBI METT I Exchange rate linked structured (d)
deposits 24,827 22,434
114,720 120,504

(a)

(b)

&2

ZEEHFUET ([ET])FHE
REFZ3.99%E4.00%:t 8 o
HRAEEREHEEZSES
MERBESRE BWZEES
DIEAFEEERE -

BREBSZRXEMEE
2%
A FEFRNFEESE &

REBEIRBEEIESRZHN
e M5 EAEBEE -

(a)

(b)

Bonds

The bonds were denominated in the United States
dollars (“US$”) and carried interest at 3.99% to 4.00%
per annum. The bonds are classified as held for trading
investments since the Group intended to hold the bonds
for short term and liquidity purposes.

Equity securities and exchange-traded
funds

Equity securities are stated at fair value which is
determined based on the quoted market bid price
available on the relevant stock exchanges.
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(c)

(d)
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BItFE  KREBHEETE T
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29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (coNTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Convertible bonds

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
purchased convertible bonds of RMB30,000,000
(equivalent to HK$36,001,000). The convertible bonds
were denominated in RMB and carried interest at
2%, 2.5% and 3% per annum during the three years
duration.

Exchange rate linked structured deposits

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
entered into new principal protected exchange rate
linked structured deposits that were denominated
in RMB with the aggregate principal amount of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$24,001,000) (2016:
RMB135,000,000 (equivalent to HK$150,838,000)) with
banks with maturity periods of one month.

Structured deposits with aggregate principal amount of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$24,001,000) (2016:
RMB135,000,000 (equivalent to HK$150,838,000))
had matured and been redeemed at RMB20,617,000
(equivalent to HK$24,741,000) (2016: RMB115,997,000
(equivalent to HK$129,606,000)) during the year ended
31 December 2017 and resulted in fair value gains on
financial assets designated as at fair value through profit
or loss of RMB1,227,000 (equivalent to HK$1,411,000)
(2016: RMB1,075,000 (equivalent to HK$1,256,000)) for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

Interest rates of these structured deposits vary
depending on the movement of exchange rate between
the US$ and the Australian Dollars. Such structured
deposits are designated as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition.

Details of the pledged of assets referred to note 47.
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30. EEWRITHER EHEN

31.
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SEERAESEEY

R—ZE—+EFE+=_A=+—8"F
EEEMBETEFEROZEEF R X
0.05%%F1.50% (ZZT — 7~ :0.90%
B21.50% )it B B AES—FRIH
ZHRITIEEMEFET OB AERSE
EZ2,247,0008 L (ZE—RF &)
SN BBV ESEHRTREY D
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30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/

31.

0E90Kk 0 to 90 days

91 180K 91 to 180 days
1812365k 181 to 365 days
FB R E Over 1 year

TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December 2017, all pledged bank deposits carry
fixed interest rate ranging from 0.05% to 1.50% (2016:
0.90% to 1.50%) per annum. Except for the amount of
HK$2,247,000 (2016: Nil) that are used to secure bank
borrowings due after one year and is classified as non-current
assets, the remaining balances are used to secure short-term
bank facilities and are classified as current assets.

Time deposits with original maturity between 4 to 12 months
comprised bank balances held by the Group and carried fixed
interest rate which was 4.3% per annum at 31 December
2016.

At 31 December 20186, included in the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents are time deposits with original maturity within
3 months of HK$1,366,000 (2017: Nil) which carried fixed
interest at 0.9% (2017: Nil) per annum.

Other bank balances held by the Group carried interest at
market rates which range from 0.00% to 0.35% (2016: 0.00%
to 0.35%) per annum.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables,
presented based on the invoice date, at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

—EB—tF ZF—R

2017 2016
TERT TAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
81,559 65,230
16,793 50,373
101,539 54,833
7,621 4,992
207,512 175,428
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2. HtENRERE KRS 32. OTHER PAYABLES AND DEPOSITS
RECEIVED
e —F—x
2017 2016
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEWE BEK Payables for acquisition of property,

R B plant and equipment 1,817 3,652
WEL R F 85 Receipt in advance from customers 18,711 22,043
H A FET BB Other tax payables 35,611 25,242
H b < FRI8 Other payables 35,328 8,329
HibhEFTEEER Other accrued operating expenses 22,507 17,010
Blize Deposits received 1,887 10,070
JEREE Rental payables 7,921 -

123,782 86,346

3. RITREMEE 33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
—E—+tF —T—RF
2017 2016
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
|ITE R Bank loans 248,352 536,313
HiEE Other borrowings 556,650 543,128
805,002 1,079,441
HE R Secured 249,795 502,793
R Unsecured 555,207 576,648
805,002 1,079,441
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BITREMEERE &)

LSRR EMEEZBBERMAT :

RITEFRZEEEHE
BEERWMT:
—FA

HEMEEZEmSEA
BEWMT:
—F RN
—FA M ERNBBARME

MENELETBBRSF

RITRHEAMEE
W —FRIHAREA
mE A B ZHIA

—FiEBHRETA
3E//‘L§)5EEZMIE

R_E—+F+_A=+—8 R£1TK
H £ 380,000,000 7 ( ZF— %

/i 780,000,000/ 7t ) T3 A& 7T (I
FEBREBER 2NEER )T E-
R_TE—+FE+-_F=+—

le B3 #246,010,000/8 7T (=&
— X ¢ 136,313,000/8 70) Jh B AN &

Bz nEikAmER.

AEERESRTERMBERCEE

FIBEMNM 47

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

as follows:

The carrying amount of bank loans are
repayable as follows:
Within one year

The carrying amount of other borrowing
is repayable as follows:
Within one year
More than one year but not exceeding
two years
More than two years but not
exceeding five years

Bank and other borrowings
Less: Amounts due within one year and
shown under current liabilities

Amounts due after one year and shown
under non-current liabilities

The maturity profile of the above bank and other borrowings is

—E-tf —E-AE
2017 2016
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
248,352 536,313
381,166 380,000
180 -
175,304 163,128
556,650 543,128
805,002 1,079,441
(629,518) (916,313)
175,484 163,128

Bank and other borrowings of HK$380,000,000 (2016:
HK$780,000,000) were denominated in HK$ at 31 December
2017, the currency other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities.

H &K% At 31 December 2017, bank loans of approximately

HK$246,010,000 (2016: HK$136,313,000) of the Group were
guaranteed by the Group’s intermediate holding company.

Details of the assets of the Group pledged to secure bank
loans are set out in notes 47.
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3. RITREMEBE (&)

HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)
AEBZERMZERITRAMEE The exposures of the Group's fixed-rate and variable-rate
2RI bank and other borrowings are as follows:
—E—+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FER FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR THEHMERZTE Fixed-rate borrowings repayable:
BE:
—FA Within one year 1,166 =
—F LA EETEBBMRE More than one year but not
more than two years 180 -
MEN FERNBBAF More than two years but not
more than five years 175,304 163,128
RN TIIREE 2 Variable-rate borrowings repayable:
FEREE:
—F R Within one year 628,352 916,313
805,002 1,079,441

WAEETHENETHNE 2% BRTT

The variable-rate bank and other borrowings carry interest

MEMEENT rate, which are repriced periodically, as follows:
—E—tF ZTE—REF
2017 2016
THER FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EERITRZERENM1.35% Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate plus 1.35% - 400,000
EBIRITRERBEN2.75% Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate plus 2.75% 380,000 380,000
FREARIRIT—FHEE 1-year People’s Bank of China
&R LA125% benchmark interest rate multiplied
by 125% - 33,520
FEARBRIT-FHESE 1-year People’s Bank of China
F & 3 LA130% benchmark interest rate multiplied
by 130% 246,009 102,793
3EABBUERITRIFER S 3-months London Interbank Offered
501.75% Rate plus 1.75% 2,343 =
628,352 916,313
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33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

S
2017

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings during the years ended 31 December 2017 and

3B.WMITRHEMBEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
REE_E—tFR_ZE—RE+=
A=+—HIEFE - Zl»‘*lfiﬁ&ﬁi\ﬁﬁ
BEEZER 7H$ (TR B 5T 4 7 X 48
EREAERCRNE 2016 are as follows:
BB Effective interest rate:
FEERITAEMEE Fixed-rate bank and

other borrowings
Variable-rate bank and
other borrowings

1.20% - 10.00%

2.91% - 7.69%

1.20% — 6.84%

1.37% — 5.66%

34. EEW A 34. DEFERRED INCOME
BT 4 BY ELE WA
Government Deferred wE
grant income Total
FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(note)
(HH5E)
RZE—+tF—H—H At 1 January 2017 = - -
fEHFARTE Effect on exchange
adjustments 279 5,979 6,258
WHEW B AR FTE £ Arising on acquisition of
subsidiaries - 170,399 170,399
//J\\E Addition 6,532 142,810 149,342
MBS RER Recognised in profit or loss (119) (164,849) (164,968)
R-T—+tF At 31 December 2017
+Z—HA=+—H” 6,692 154,339 161,031

et B AR R — i_EZJ"EHA%Q
ERRFANIGRRIRLUERZ 5 B 5K

Note: Deferred income represents instalments received in advance for
prepaid membership packages or personal training classes for one
to three years.
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ELEWA (&)

AT AU BEREER ZETERAD
A7 -

34.

HE-ZT—

DEFERRED INCOME (conTINUED)

tHF+_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

The following is the analysis of the deferred income for

financial reporting purposes:

—E—+tF ZE-RF
2017 2016
FE T FH&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB E Current liabilities 114,721 -
IERBEE Non-current liabilities 46,310 =
161,031 -
fig 2% 35. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of
shares Value
BB BB
FHET
HK$’000
TR {E0.002% T2 Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each
LiRR
EE Authorised
RZZE—RF—A—H At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016
—E—RF and 31 December 2017
+-A=+—H8RK
—E—+tF
+=-—A=+—H 100,000,000,000 200,000
ERITRAR Issued and fully paid
RZZE—RF—H—H-  At1January 2016, 31 December 2016
—ZE—XRF+=-A and 31 December 2017
—t—HER-Z—+F
+-A=+—H 4,950,000,000 9,900
REBEE-_FT—+tF+=_A=+—8H During the year ended 31 December 2017, 6,756,000 (2016:
WEFE - RANRRARMDER R & DA/ '@ 1,434,000) shares of the Company were acquired at a total

K 43,484,000/ 70 ( — & — X
860,000/ /L) B E W ﬁ6,756,ooo
A% ( ZZ— /X : 1,434,0000% ) A% 17 -
ZEWRMREZRA W%Hﬂﬁé&ﬁb.ﬁ%
BEEZERHIETEINRES R
—t+F+=—_A=+—8" /%Hxﬁi%;%m
ZHE 2D 28 A8,190,0000% (=
T — X : 1,434,0000% ) °

cost of HK$3,484,000 (2016: HK$860,000) and held for the
share award scheme which recognised and accumulated
in equity under the heading of “shares held for share award
scheme”. As at 31 December 2017, the aggregated number
of shares held for the share award scheme was 8,190,000

(2016: 1,434,000).
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BRETE

NAR BT ([BREsTE])
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HE2HEEEAEEEEER  WER
SESUBERREBAEEEBR A B
EE UAERBANBEREBEE 2 A
HER-EFSrMEBHMERAE
RERIR REFHOUEAEBERKEDR
EEEE ERITIEER  1TENH
FEMEEARERRERAEBES
ANBERZERERAL  BIAREEE
RAKERAIZEE SHBE - KHE-
B (BEAEETAHKE R
A ZEMBITRIEMITES) BT A
REARRRIRGD 2 BIRE - BB ETE
BE-E——F— A+ N\BEBFTTER
AR UWER-—_ZE-—_—F—HB++AE
o

O 8 S A & 8 N AN X B ME ] E Al BB A
BB REMAETEZAA AR
TTEBRE (TERRERAREFEHEZ
FERHE) T M Al R IT Z AR A
MBRBRE  TREBARE KD E
TR 82 30% - Ith o - E R 15 B IR
RT3 3E A AN & A AR H o 8 A A At
ERELZFABRE (TEEE XU
ZRERHE ) EITE M Al BT Z AR A
Befn B - TS HRB A R BIRD HOBE R
FIEREMZBEARRB D ETRMDE
B210% ([FHEIRERE]) 3L
FHAEARERBBAARNRACEIT
PRI #EEZ210% °

MR -ZT—RFETETERIFME ([
DA ) - BUR R B I 5 B AT gt E
TZROBHEEEARZE-R_T—+
FE+-_A=+—H BEBEERETE
Al B 1T 2 IR 1D 2 #A861,700,000
f% ( == — 7<% :330,000,0004% ) -
HER-_E—+tF+-A=+—H8BK
ABEBHAQARNDETRMDER
(BN4,950,000,000/%) #97.31% (==
— N4 6.66% ) °

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted on 28 April 2011 for the purpose of
providing incentives to participants to contribute to the Group
and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract and retain human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The Board may grant an option to
subscribe for the shares in the Company to any individual
being an employee, officer, agent, consultant or representative
of any members of the Group (including any executive or non-
executive director of any member of the Group) who, as the
Board may determine in its absolute discretion, has made
valuable contribution to the business of the Group based
on his/her performance, years of service, or is regarded to
be a valuable human resource of the Group based on his/
her working experience, knowledge in the industry and other
relevant factors. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on 18 January
2012 and will expire on 17 January 2022.

The limit on the total number of the Company’s shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (excluding lapsed and cancelled options) must not
exceed 30% of the total number of the Company’s shares in
issue from time to time. In addition, the total number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme,
together with all options to be granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company (excluding lapsed options),
must not represent more than 10% of the total number of the
Company’s shares in issue as at the date of commencement
of the listing of shares of the Company on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) or as at
the date of approval of the refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit.

As a result of the subdivision of the ordinary shares in 2015
(the “Share Subdivision”), the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was adjusted. As
at 31 December 2017, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 361,700,000
(2016: 330,000,000), representing approximately 7.31%
(2016: 6.66%) of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue (i.e. 4,950,000,000), as at 31 December 2017 and
the date of this report.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant, together
with all options granted and to be granted to him/her under
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company within the
12-month period immediately preceding the proposed date of
grant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the Company’s
shares in issue as at the proposed date of grant. Any further
grant of options to a participant in excess of the 1% limit shall
be subject to the shareholders’ approval of the Company
with such participant and his/her associates abstaining from
voting.

Any option to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company or any of their respective associates must
be approved by Independent Non-Executive Directors
(excluding Independent Non-Executive Director who is the
grantee). In addition, any option to be granted to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or an Independent Non-
Executive Director or any of their respective associates which
will result in the shares issued and to be issued in excess of
0.1% of the issued shares or with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the shares at the date of the grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000 within any 12-month period is
subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting.

An offer for grant of options must be accepted within 28 days
from the date of grant. The amount payable by each grantee
of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the
grant of options is HK$1.00. The exercisable period will be
determined by the Board and in any event must not be more
than 10 years from the date of the grant of the option.

The exercise price for the Company’s shares on the exercise
of options under the Share Option Scheme shall be at least
the highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the
share.

On 22 July 2016 (the “Grant Date”), the Board has resolved to
grant to certain eligible participants (the “Grantees”), subject
to acceptance by such Grantees, a total of 148,500,000
share options (the “Share Options”) to subscribe for a total
number of 148,500,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each
of the Company (the “Shares”) in the share capital of the
Company under the Share Option Scheme. All the share
options shall be vested in accordance with their respective
vesting conditions of the share options. Further details
regarding the grant of Share Options are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 22 July 2016.
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36. BREFE (2 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
AARIBBEEREAERLD 2 BRE The details of the movements of the Company’s share options
REANZEBFBUOT : under the Share Option Scheme during the year are as
follows:
BREHE
Number of share options
&R K=B-A% RZB-RE RZB-tF
L3 -f-8 ERRY ERAN tZAZ1-B EREN TZAZT-B
ESINENE L] Exercise {7 GBS As at Granted Lapsed As at Lapsed As at
Name of RLAH price  Exercise Vesting 1 January during during 31 December during 31 December
grantees/category Date of grant per share  period period 2016 the year the year 2016 the year 2017
BT
HKS
i€z
Executive Directors
Bt Z5-nFtAztzA 068 ZE-RFrA-fzA il - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
ECRCRELACT-H
Ng Qing Hai 22 July 2016 0.68 22 July 2016 to Note 1
21 July 2020
it —E-AELAZtCR 0.68 i3 - 20,000,000 - 20,000,000 - 20,000,000
Zhang Yi 22 July 2016 068 22 July 2016 to Note 1
21 July 2020
BUFHTES
Independent Non-Executive Directors
REE ZE-AEtAZTZR 068 ZE-REtAZtZRE i3 - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
S P e
Chan Sze Chung 22 July 2016 0.68 22 July 2016 to Note 1
21 July 2020
3117 ZE3-EtAZtCA 0.68 SN s e = il = 1,000,000 = 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
ZRCEELACTR
Zhang Ruibin 22 July 2016 0.68 22 July 2016 to Note 1
21 July 2020
FEE —E-AEtAZtCR 088 —E-AFtAZfZRE iR = 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 = 1,000,000
ZEISELACt-A
Zhang Junxi Jack 22 July 2016 0.68 22 July 2016 to Note 1 - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 = 1,000,000
21 July 2020
- 28,000,000 - 28,000,000 - 28,000,000
HER “E-RELACTCR 068 —E-RELF-t-AE il - 95,800,000 (400,000 95400000 (5,300,000 90,100,000
ZECEELACT-A
Other employees 22 July 2016 0.68 22 July 2016 to Note 1
21 July 2020
Ik SN o bk 068 —F-tFtA-fzRE iz - 24,800,000 200000) 24500000 (93000000 15200000
ZB--FtA-1-H
22 July 2016 0.68 22 July 2017 to Note 2
21 July 2021
ag
Total - 148,500,000 (600,000 147,900,000  (14,600,000) 133,300,000
RERTTR
Exercisable at the end of the year 30,850,000 62,580,000
— e
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BBz BRSR—T—RNFLA-+Z

SES

—E-TF+A=+—H

AL

BTHISERRE

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

BT EEANZ25%8 BB AE BN E
HEHEE YR T XFELA
—+-HE_ZE_ZFLA-_+—
B A AT

B A A Z25%HE AR E
B mIBEEERRBE TN
—+tFtAZ+ZHREZZT=T
FELA-+—BAHITE:

B AE A Z25%HE AN E
B m2BAEERREB YN
—N\FtAZ+=ZRE=ZZE=ZF
FLA-+—BAHITE: R

BT EBEAZ25%EREARE D
AEREFTERRE YR_-F
—NF+A-+-_BE-_ZT_F
FLtAZ+—BAHITE

BBz BRSAR—T—RNFLA-+=

SES

—E-—F+A=+—H

AL

BTYIGERRE

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

BFERAZ25% B EARE S
BEHMBAFTERRE YR_-F
—+tF+tA+=ZHE=_FT=—
FEtAZ-+—Ba#HTE:

B A A Z25%HE AN R
BHYmAEERRBE TN
—N\FtAZ+ZREZ-T=—
FELAZ+—BAHITE:

B AE A Z25%HE BN E
BHMEAEERREB YN
—h&E+tA=-+=-—BE=_ZT=—
FELA-+—BA#HITE: R

BT ARAZ25% B BE AN
RHmsBFERRE UN_F
—EFtAZ+ZHRE=ZT=—
FLAZt+—RAHITE.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

Notes:

M

Share Options are valid from 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020 and
shall be vested in four tranches in accordance with the following
vesting dates:

(i)

(i

(iif)

(iv)

25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees shall
become vested on the Grant Date and shall be exercisable
from 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2020;

25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees shall
become vested on the 1st anniversary of the Grant Date and
shall be exercisable from 22 July 2017 to 21 July 2020;

25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees shall
become vested on the 2nd anniversary of the Grant Date and
shall be exercisable from 22 July 2018 to 21 July 2020; and

25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 3rd anniversary of the Grant Date and
shall be exercisable from 22 July 2019 to 21 July 2020.

Share Options are valid from 22 July 2016 to 21 July 2021 and
shall be vested in four tranches in accordance with the following
vesting dates:

(i)

(i

(iif)

(iv)

25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 1st anniversary of the Grant Date and
shall be exercisable from 22 July 2017 to 21 July 2021;

25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 2nd anniversary of the Grant Date and
shall be exercisable from 22 July 2018 to 21 July 2021;

25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 3rd anniversary of the Grant Date and
shall be exercisable from 22 July 2019 to 21 July 2021; and

25% of the Share Options so granted to the grantees
become vested on the 4th anniversary of the Grant Date and
shall be exercisable from 22 July 2020 to 21 July 2021.
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36.

170

BRESTSE (2

ZEBBRERAREIBHEZAFEEAE
433,492,000 7T » Jh iR 1 & M H R
FEAERAA (—HERNEHY &/
BrBUILRAERBEMLERMT)E
trfhEEr - BE-_ZT—+tE+=
A=+—HIEEE 10,397,000/ T
(ZZF—7XF:13,761,000/ 7t ) N 18
HHRANERSEREEUR D BER
AR

AT A A = A (A
B o LA T 2 BAEN T

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

The fair value of these share options at the Grant Date was
amounting to HK$33,492,000, which have been arrived at
the basis on the valuation carried out by Norton Appraisals
Limited, a firm of independent and qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group. For the year ended
31 December 2017, HK$10,397,000 (2016: HK$13,761,000)
was recognised as equity-settled share-based payments to
the profit or loss.

The fair values were calculated using the trinomial option
pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

R-ZT—RE R-B—+tF

+tA=+=H tA=+=H

E-F-%F E-F=-—F

+tA=+—H tA=+—8H

GG Tog:d AT

Exercisable Exercisable

from from

22 July 2016 to 22 July 2017 to

21 July 2020 21 July 2021

TEE Exercise price HK$0.687% 7T HK$0.68% 7T
12 B B ) & Risk-free rate 0.575% 0.618%
B (MIEE) Volatility (note) 41.18% 42.12%
1% B U 5 & Dividend yield 0% 0%
BEREE Employee turnover rate 0% 0%
REITHEEH Early exercise multiplier 2.8 2.8

Miet: ARARBTEXBHREAEE  Hit
ERAIEXBRARFANBUZRAETZ
TG 0E - 1 IEE 2R IR -

HEBREATEESER BHR
R RN EE Y BT BREY
BEEEETIBEHES THE N
EFER.

Note: Due to the substantial changes of the major business of the
Company, instead of historical volatilities, average volatilities of
companies with major business comparable to the Company was
adopted.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables
of certain subjective assumptions.
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37. R BB & 37. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

RZE—AR"FNALA=-1+H ([ yi
) xQ Thémxfﬁi@\%ﬁ‘l‘%(
HERBE]) §ESG
(MEEEE])EE: LATﬁE TBZ#TMEJJ
TEBRBELERBRE YALTERZ
BRRE-—FTERBEFEEAT E=F
2R RER G BN ET & 2 Rk MEE
(== (@¢E1ET\5E%%$ATB—?%€2T
WIERA G o H NS BT
BRIELERMZASEEMAERRZ
- ﬁﬁ/\%‘%%ﬁﬁ%%&ﬁ@ﬁ%
(TwE2BER) )RBARARG
(M@ l) e

)I]ﬂﬂ =) E]

WMEE=SREMM E/ B L Lt
2 SRR ([EE R |) A BGE K
IR BB BT B2 10% - Al

EESH B LA SRS
B o

REBEBRMDEBFEAIRT - RETERE
B REBRONHESHBE TFEENK
MBEHCDBITRNDEEZ1% -

HREMNBHZERTROER S
4,950,000,0000% f% 17+ #1R & A% 19
,%%m;ﬂ&ajz,imwa =& B
#495,000,000/% i 7 M a] & ¥ —
LETRECZCEBROEZEEHE A
49,500,0000% f& 15 ©

e

ﬁ@%ﬁﬁ:g*tEJr — A
BIEFE - ARQAGFCEEBHES
R R FTEE E6, 756 000 %
— N4 1,434, oooﬁx)ﬂxﬁ'
#) 53,484,000 0 (—ZF — X
860,000/ L) cRE = f t¢
+-A=+—BItFE- ﬁ%ﬂﬂim%ﬁﬂxfﬁ
EENET &I MR TR 8 HEV TR D
BERODARERA [ BlHEE: +%IJ%
BEZ2BH I ETHERNMERES -

—~ TIF

B>

On 20 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted the share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives to selected
employees (the “Selected Employees”) in order to retain them
for the continual operation and development of the Group
and to attract suitable personnel for the growth and further
development of the Group. The Board may award shares of
the Company (the “Shares”), pursuant to the terms of the
Share Award Scheme, to the Selected Employees including
without limitation, the directors, executives, officers and other
employees, whether full-time or part-time, of any member of
the Group from time to time who the Board considers, in its
absolute discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the
business development of the Group.

The Board shall not make any further award of Shares
which will result in the total number of Shares awarded (the
“Awarded Shares”) and approved by the Board under the
Share Award Scheme, to be in excess of 10% of the total
number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date.

The maximum number of Awarded Shares which may be
awarded to a Selected Employee under the Share Award
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the Adoption Date.

As the total number of Shares in issue was 4,950,000,000
Shares as at the Adoption Date, the maximum number of
Awarded Shares that may be awarded under the Share Award
Scheme is 495,000,000 Shares and the maximum number
of Awarded Shares that may be awarded to a Selected
Employee is 49,500,000 Shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
has purchased 6,756,000 shares (2016: 1,434,000
shares) amounting to approximately HK$3,484,000 (2016:
HK$860,000) through its trustee on the Stock Exchange. No
share was awarded to Selected Employees under the Share
Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2017.
The acquired Shares was recognised and accumulated in
equity under the heading of “Shares held for share award
scheme”.
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B 405 B & &

REREFMEBEFEARAEERNGEE R
FEIECHENUNLEEINGEERE
BERANZET-

FhlEBEARE (RARAZHEBA
AEBTRNIEERRENEEFE
RBEAR R 75 FT i
T2 RAEEMBANBRABRMNE
BzZE%-

R-_ZE—tF+-_A=+—BHZzEf
EHEBEATER

—_

B E 424,092,000 T (=&
— N 24,092,000 7T ) %
ﬁﬁwﬁﬂuiiz&.—f@éé

¥ EBEER HEES TﬁﬁﬁA
iﬁ%%ﬁﬁé%ﬁ%l ST ARG E 2 &

2. L;‘tﬁﬂﬂﬁ%éf%&M%i
Z¢¥%E&%§8,722,0007§
7t( T — N4 8,722,000/
J0) TR R ER WL E
AR INE K &

3. RZZE—t&tA AE£EERE
EA:f +tFRAFIZEE W
i —#MTFKT True Holdings
552%5,000,000%71 (BER
38,750,000/ L) - A it N &
E A TFKT True HoldingsZ # i%
£ H51%IE N E=54% o FE % f% 1
HREEeEEMAEWRE RN
BRalEIER s ENREAT
B 2 %£782,666,0008 T E R
HEmfEENMERFEEAND B R
2,104,000 JT 562,000/ T

Eé%jii:%—tiwL:ﬂer—Elt
FE BERAREBERBRTFKT TrueEE
f’Ei%?ﬁ%Ft I A27,237,000& T E K

BMBIERA-ERERADN—BR
TEKT True HoldmgsiH % % 2R 452 )
ZER ARAEEREBGRIZERE
HETFKT True HoldingsZ B% 5 LA A%

REMETRZMEIEZEMS  FtR
E—RBRRZHE - Bk - IR IER
ERENERHLR-

AR B R ST 2 P B R A % R BB Ok )
H B ZR RIS 3 75 R 2 HE ot - A0 ZRAR
FREMBRABMELERRE 2K
EEREM-

38. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s share premium and reserves
and the movement therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The special reserve represents the difference between the
nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company (or
the subsidiary of the Company) and the nominal amount of
the shares of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a corporate
reorganisation in the preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange in previous years.

Other reserves as at 31 December 2017 comprise the
following:

1. reserve fund of HK$24,092,000 (2016: HK$24,092,000)
which is used to expand the enterprise’s working
capital. When the enterprise suffers losses, the reserve
fund may be used to make up unrecovered losses under
special circumstances;

2.  enterprise expansion fund of HK$8,722,000 (2016:
HK$8,722,000) of Shanghai SAC, Allied Wangchao and
Shandong SAC. The enterprise expansion fund is to be
used for business expansion and, if approved, can also
be used to increase capital; and

3. in July 2017, the Group further injected US$5,000,000
(equivalent to HK$38,750,000) in TFKT True Holdings
pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement signed
in May 2017. Consequently, the Group’s shareholding in
TFKT True Holdings was increased from 51% to 54%.
The difference between the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest and the fair value of consideration paid
in relation to the deemed acquisition of additional interest
in a subsidiary of HK$2,666,000 has been recorded in the
other reserves and translation reserve at the amount of
HK$2,104,000 and HK$562,000, respectively.

The Lender agreed to release TFKT True Group as the
guarantor in respect of the loan facilities granted to the
Borrower amounting to HK$27,237,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2017. In view that the Borrower is an
entity under the control of the non-controlling shareholder of
TFKT True Holdings, the Directors of the Company considered
the discharge of this guarantee is an event resulting from
transaction with the shareholder of TFKT True Holdings
in the shareholder’s capacity and therefore as a deemed
contribution from a shareholder. Accordingly, the discharge of
this guarantee is recorded in capital reserve.

The remittance of retained profits of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC outside the PRC is subject to approval
of the local authorities and the availability of foreign currencies
generated and retained by these subsidiaries.
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39. IEEFIE

RBEERRUERANFEERBEFE
N REREZEERCELERERE
(BE)HENTEERRM:

RZZ-RE-A-H At1 January 2016
EXERE Exchange differences
WERBARMES Arising on acquisition of
subsidiaries
REBHENR (GTA) Charge (credit) to profit or loss
RZB-RF At 31 December 2016
+ZA=+-H°
EXER Exchange differences
WENBARMES Arising on acquisition of
subsidiaries
RESENR (FTA) Charge (credit) to profit or loss
NZE—+F At 31 December 2017
+-A=+-A°

AT BB REER ZBLEREAS
FROAT

39.

DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period and during the current and
prior years, deferred tax liabilities (assets) were recognised
in respect of the temporary differences attributable to the
following:

RARBR  EBEH

REEE ZENR ATEEEER

NERBHE Allowance  Withholding Fair value

Accelerated for taxon  adjustments REFS

tax doubtful undistributed  on business Tax Hitr BE
depreciation debts earnings  combination losses Others Total
ThR FiET FET TR TAR TAT ThR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
29,859 (13,251) 2,087 - - 517 19,212
(2,306) 904 (115) 1,510) - 2 (3,025)
5,979 (50) - 24,577 - (165) 30,341
88 (957) (392) (110 - (1,957)
33,620 (13,354) 1580 20,957 - 232) 44,571
2,510 (840) 12 1,766 (123) 17 3,440
(16) - - 63,372 (414) (415) 62,507
190 3,408 (104) 2,791) (2,318) 250 (1,363)
36,304 (10,786) 1588 85,304 (2,855) (378) 100,177

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

—E—+F —E-RF

2017 2016

FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

RIETRIBEE Deferred tax assets 4,360 199
EEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (113,537) (44,770)
(109,177) (44,571)

R-_EBE—+HF+-_A=+—"H &Xx&EE
WA AE203,471,00008 T (ZF—
% 110,858,000/ 70) 2 Hat R & A
FRIBE B BRI ARG F - AEE
2Rt A E 811,420,000 L (=&
—RNE E)BERELHEEE-BAR
RRFRREH G B ER
# T B IEE1E192,051,0008 T (=&
— 7N % 110,858,000 7T ) FE R IR &
MEEE-RN_E—tF+=-_A=1+—
B A%44,738,000& 0 (Z & — X
F 52,292,000/ 7T ) 2 ARE AR IBE
BEERFRAEZLSHNE M TR H
FRIEEE A ER A -

The Group had estimated unused tax losses of
HK$203,471,000 (2016: HK$110,858,000) at 31 December
2017, which were available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of tax
losses of HK$11,420,000 (2016: Nil). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
of HK$192,051,000 (2016: HK$110,858,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Unused tax losses
of HK$44,738,000 (2016: HK$52,292,000) at 31 December
2017 will gradually expire in five years and the remaining
unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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R—ZZE—tF—H—H
WEWBARTEL
ERAETE
FIMNEE

)RR

RZE—+tF+-_A=+—H

RIFEXERF 2 HEWHZ

’ilﬁﬁ*ﬁfﬁfﬂiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁéﬁf)Si
EREGPLMEESL  BRHAKE
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41. WEE M B 2 =

A RZZE—+tFRHAZ
AEBTERE — % B
T 2 Truelt B8 =18

8 536,720, ooo%fc(
284,580,000/8 L) c % &
7 % A BR o B Ui B
BARMELA>HBESEA
219,417,000/ 7T ° TFKT Truefk
B N True Yogafk Bt F 45 & 42
SO RREESMEREAR
o WHETFKT TrueEBEEEIR

EXAEE
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40. PROVISION OF REINSTATEMENT COST

FET

HK$'000

At 1 January 2017 -

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 16,519

Effect on exchange adjustments 526

Additional provision 1,898

Utilisation of provision -

At 31 December 2017 18,943
N Under the terms of the rental agreements signed with

landlords, the Group should remove and re-instate the rented
premises for fitness centers at the Group’s cost upon expiry
of the relevant rental agreements. Provision is therefore made
for the best estimate of the expected reinstatement costs to
be incurred.

41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(A)  On 29 May 2017, the Group completed the True
Acquisition from an independent third party for a
cash consideration of US$36,720,000 (equivalent to
HK$284,580,000). The transaction had been accounted
for using the purchase method. The amount of goodwill

; arising as a result of the acquisition of subsidiaries was

HK$219,417,000. TFKT True Group and True Yoga

Group are engaged in the operation of fitness centres

and provision of consultation services of fitness and

health activities. TFKT True Group was acquired so as to
achieve better returns and development.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$4,023,000
has been excluded from the consideration transferred
and have been recognised as an expense in the
current year, within the other expenses line item in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
(%) (A)  (CONTINUED)
FET
HK$’000
BERE Purchase consideration
ReRE Cash consideration 257,455
JERRE Consideration payable 27,125
284,580
RERAHAKBEER Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
FREEBEzATEE assumed at the date of acquisition are as
mE: follows:
M- WE K& Property, plant and equipment 70,214
BEEE Intangible assets 307,585
BB EE Deferred tax assets 845
Heke Rental deposits 13,453
BIERRITE R Pledged bank deposits 2,162
Mﬁz%ﬁ%m Trade receivables 1,918
H Ath U kT Other receivables 5,376
fﬁ@&ﬁfﬁ%%‘i% Cash and cash equivalents 10,740
BB 5% Trade payables (2,081)
b &SRR Other payables (38,861)
R E M BB 7 5RIB Amounts due to other related parties (174)
B RS R IR B Provision for financial guarantee (24,565)
RAETIE Deferred taxation (63,372)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (5,868)
BEMRERME Obligations under finance leases (5,114)
EIEWA Deferred income (170,399)
1B IR A B Provision of reinstatement cost (16,519)
FT R FEERE Total identifiable net assets acquired 85,340
REBEHPMKBEELEE The fair values of intangible assets (mainly related
(TZHERFETHE BELE to recognition of franchise agreement, trademark
FBAEREBR) RAEAERELEIRA and customer relationship) acquired and deferred
Z’Aﬂ?{ﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁf‘ﬁi BB =E income assumed in business combination are based

EEEMETZHEEE -

on valuations performed by an independent qualified
professional valuer.
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(CONTINUED)
() (A)  (CONTINUED)
FEWE S RIE R E M E W% The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date
HRKEBEBHZAFEES of acquisition amounted to HK$7,294,000. The gross
7,294,000 T o MU BE B H3 contractual amounts of trade and other receivables
Eﬂﬁlﬁﬁfuﬁlm RIE K H i & U acquired amounted to HK$7,294,000 at the date of
IEZ & KB FERT,294,000% acquisition.
7TEI o
FET
HK$’000
WEEEZ2mE Goodwill arising on acquisition
RE Consideration 284,580
N JEIE AR A Plus: non-controlling interests 41,817
W T EE Less: net assets acquired (85,340)
B — B N A 25 Less: interest in an associate, representing 29%
Bl True Yogafk B =~ equity interest in True Yoga Group (note)
29% M ARE = (Pi3E) (21,640)
219,417

Wit Z& @B WETrue Yogak B29%
BEMDEZRE  HEREREE
EBMEEMEETEERAR
Tﬁz’JEjJTﬂET’\True Yogatk B~ BH IR

BeRhefT2HEEBET

MUENBEZR SRR

FEH
SEYRLFEIMAT :

= (8

N
&

IR e RIREEHEY
B AFEEARE XN ZRE

AERWBAEEZREREFR
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—+F+=-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Note: The amount represents the allocated consideration for
acquiring the 29% shareholding of True Yoga Group,
which is determined based on a valuation carried out by
the management with the assistance from Greater China
Appraisal Limited, an independent valuer, by reference of the

discounted cash flow of the True Yoga Group.

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in the current year in respect of the acquisition is as follows:

FTET
HK$'000

Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Less: Consideration satisfied by cash in the current year

10,740
(257,455)

Net cash outflow on acquisition in the current year

(246,715)
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41. WEHEB DT (#) 41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(A)

(%)

RUEE B B FE R 2 TFKT Trues
léH PREE IR B A ERE

H=RWRE S ENFEED®E
ReBZEEBSTE EEE
%8 /541,817,000 7T

WBEEEAZEEBEARBTFKT
Truess B BB W AR - RAEH
HERBRNEREB NI RAE
Z2EB-AEE—EFETEHRER
BRREEEVCRERT -KAEE
AEREERDGEITFKT Truesk
ERFEAEESMICERS X
RETEZHRE -EEEERS
$’$IZ¥?‘ WHEBBER
EE BBRVEEEEBEUAK
ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ% cHREEFLE
REEREEYE BWTruelk B =
IE{"/\$%@Z¥AW R BK o

HARZEFHFEAT

a3l 48 2
BECHRBGH NALEERE

EHLBRKBRELE ZEAE A
R

NEE WA BETFKT Truet: &
EFEFTEH 27,295,000 7T ° X
FEWABIETFKT Truetk B A
B A4 2229,089,000% 7T,

Wk EEEN -_ZT—+F— A —
=R E‘JZ!KEJ*ZZ!S%@H&)\
48 %8 & 51,510,731,00008 7T
i A 4F JZ Y4 7 & £37,044,0007%
TLoBEEAREHKR RO AR
E&H&zﬁ%%lﬁﬁézgftﬁfﬁf
B REBEERE A EK
Z%«**uﬁz)\&%iﬂaff DI
TERZREHE 2 TEM -

(CONTINUED)

A)

(CONTINUED)

The non-controlling interests in TFKT True Group
recognised at the acquisition date was measured at the
present ownership interest’s proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets and amounted to HK$41,817,000.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefit of expected revenue growth,
future market development and the assembled
workforce of TFKT True Group. The Group has been
looking for investment opportunities in the universal
health sector from time to time. The Group could
leverage its resources to facilitate the TFKT True
Group to expand the business in China and capture
the opportunities of the fitness and health industry.
The management has reviewed the business of the
Group and has been actively exploring the medical,
pharmaceutical and health industry businesses and
other investment opportunities. The True Acquisition is
in line with the business strategy of the Group as fitness
centres belong to universal health industry.

These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Included in the profit for the year is HK$7,295,000
attributable to the business generated by TFKT True
Group. Revenue for the year includes HK$229,089,000
generated from TFKT True Group.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2017, total Group revenue for the year would have been
HK$1,510,731,000 and profit for the year would have
been HK$37,044,000. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2017, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.
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1% 3 % Mt 3% Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
tHF+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(A)

(CONTINUED)

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of
the Group had TFKT True Group been acquired at the
beginning of the reporting period, the Directors have
calculated amortisation of intangible assets acquired
and recognition of revenue on deferred income assumed
on the basis of the fair values arising in the initial
accounting for the business combination rather than
the carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition
financial statements.

On 25 August 2017 and 15 November 2017, the Group
entered into agreements with the shareholders of /&
BIs R B EN e IR IR X MT B R AR A8 (Shanghai Guorui
Tongshun Environmental Protection Technology Co.,
Ltd.) (“Guorui Tongshun”), an associate of the Company
which principally engaged in provision of energy
performance contracting in the PRC, where the Group
further purchased 46% of shares of Guorui Tongshun
at a consideration of RMB4,600,000. Accordingly on
15 November 2017, Guorui Tongshun becomes a 85%
owned subsidiary of the Group and has been accounted
for using the purchase method. Guorui Tongshun
was acquired so as to achieve better returns and
development for cement business.
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41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
(&) (B) (CONTINUED)
EKE E-—FPFBE(BER Further details of the acquisition, including the
B -MWEBRHEEEMERA consideration, provisional assets acquired and liabilities
B)HINWT - recognised are set out below.
FAET
HK$’000
REBHAKWBEER Provisional fair value of assets acquired and
FREEEZ R liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are
AFEBEBT: as follows:
Y BB kEE Property, plant and equipment 7,941
FE Inventories 240
EKE S m)\ Trade receivables 144
H b fE U 3 Other receivables 3,214
R1T %.‘Eﬁﬁ‘-\&iﬁfﬁ Bank balances and cash 2,560
EAE SHIER Trade and other payables
,Etﬁﬂﬂ’éﬁm (2,311)
Fris BB rl s Rl 3 E E4RE Total identifiable net assets acquired 11,788

J& U & 5 5k I8 B E Al e U R T

The provisional fair value of trade and other receivables

RWEHBHZ2ERAFEE 7% at the date of acquisition amounted to HK$3,358,000.
3,358,000/ 7T  FT B FEULE 5) The gross contractual amounts of trade and other
FRIB N E b E W GRTE A Uk BE B HA receivables acquired amounted to HK$3,358,000 at the
2B H4a%E 53,358,000 7T © date of acquisition.
FAT
HK$’000
WEEEZEREE: Provisional Goodwill arising on acquisition:

RERE
2% 31 7 B 3 () IE
ﬁﬁhﬁﬁﬁﬁé\ pd
NEEE
o FERE AR R
o ﬁﬁ'qyﬂ\%ﬁ*ég

AEREBBEREEZ
BeMREFEY
MHEFROT

B RTITA R MR &
W ARFEREUABREXMNZ
RE

AERBBMELEZ
Be R FR

Cash consideration 5,620
Fair value of previously held equity interest in
Guorui Tongshun

4,627
Plus: non-controlling interests 1,741
Less: net assets acquired (11,788)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in the current year in respect of
the acquisition is as follows:
Bank balances and cash acquired 2,560
Less: Consideration satisfied by cash
in the current year (5,520)
Net cash outflow on acquisition in the current year
(2,960)
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A H & A B 1R B 3 (R IR AR A
¥ T PRE & 2 46,0008 7T © A Hi
i WA B 45 B 3 A JIE PR 2E A 2
130,000/ JT °

M EEEN _—_E—+FE—F—
HER E!HZ!K&FZZIS%@LI&U\
48 %8 JE /51,345,346,00008 JT
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RZE—RFLtA+=—H K&
BB ANTERMTEEE R
BRAR(AREZHENMIZRA
AWBER S EEXEBEBRE AT

(ATfBdt R E X B BEFRAF)
(TRITBEEE | ) 2 60% 0% AR #E 25 -
BN EABAR291,200,000
7t (48 & 338,871,000/ 7T ) °
ZRGEBE—BEB IS -6
WEEERBEEAR AWE
EEZEE LT A219,492,000
BIL-BHEERENE QA
(TRIFEEEE] )R ERIERH
ERH % BB EL T
BB WREBER S BEEEB S EE
BEREELQRNREERE-

W B8 2 fE AKX 42,910,000/ 7T
FBEFAEHEHZRE FTERE
:Kt:;f—/—\iqL—ﬂ =t E!Jt

FEAEGABRa EMEEm KR
FAZEMERRATERRE
FHO
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41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

B)

(CONTINUED)

Included in the profit for the period is HK$46,000
attributable to the additional business generated by
Guorui Tongshun. Revenue for the period includes
HK$130,000 generated from Guorui Tongshun.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2017, total group revenue for the year would have been
HK$1,345,346,000, and profit for the year would have
been HK$36,191,000. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessary an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been competed on 1 January 2017, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

On 12 July 2016, the Group completed the acquisition
of 60% of the equity interest in AT &XEEA

AR (It REAXAREFRAQAF) Tongfang
Pharmaceuhcal Group Co., Ltd (formerly known as
Beijing Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd) (“Tongfang
Pharmaceutical”’) from FI T ERFELEEETEA
[R A 7], an intermediate holding company of the
Company, for a cash consideration of RMB291,200,000
(equivalent to HK$338,871,000). The transaction is a
related party transaction. This acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method. The amount
of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition was
HK$219,492,000. Tongfang Pharmaceutical and its
subsidiaries (“Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group”) is
engaged in the manufacturing and sales of prescription
drugs, including chemical drugs and traditional
prescribed Chinese medicines. Tongfang Pharmaceutical
Group was acquired so as to achieve better returns and
development.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$2,910,000
has been excluded from the consideration transferred
and have been recognised as an expense in the year
ended 31 December 2016, within the other expenses
line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(C) (CONTINUED)

FAET
HK$’000
Purchase consideration
Cash consideration 338,871
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition are as
follows:

Property, plant and equipment 194,814
Prepaid lease payments on land use right 107,431
Investment property 5,466
Intangible assets 6,947
Deferred tax assets 212
Inventories 59,697
Biological assets 3,437
Trade and bills receivables 43,724
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

52,412
Amounts due from other related parties 94,617
Amount due from an intermediate holding company 22,579
Cash and cash equivalents 223,347
Trade and bills payables (34,278)
Other payables (27,482)
Amount due to an intermediate holding company (13,912)
Amounts due to other related parties (11,064)
Tax liabilities (7,398)
Deferred tax liabilities (30,553)
Bank and other borrowings (429,762)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 260,234

REBEHTAMKEDR BE
RiEAR LB REZ BN
EFRBEZAFEELNERBILA
EREXGHEMH2ENE BE
REBEHBZITEEBRBRAUNR L1
EREZENEERETEET
ZIEEEE-

ERESHREREREZE  Ei
FEU IR BB T R R —
B IER AR RPN EE B
87 A {EE A195,805,000/%
T-RWEBHEWHEERE S
HEREMEWRIB 2 A 458
£96,760,0007% JT o 78 B 1~ A Uk
OZzaHRERENKWEBHZ
Z1EMGEA1,601,0000 7T °

The fair values of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments for land use right acquired
in business combination are based on valuations
performed by an independent qualified professional
valuer with reference to depreciated replacement cost
of property, plant and equipment and market value of
prepaid lease payments for land use right.

The fair value of trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, amounts due from other related parties and
amount due from an intermediate holding company at
the date of acquisition amounted to HK$195,805,000.
The gross contractual amounts of those trade and other
receivables acquired amounted to HK$96,760,000 at
the date of acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition
date of the contractual cash flows not expected to be
collected amounted to HK$1,601,000.
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WEHME QR (2) 41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
C) (#&) (C) (CONTINUED)
FET
HK$’000
WEELEZEHE Goodwill arising on acquisition
FrigzE 2 (& Consideration transferred 338,871
N FEfERR R AR Plus: non-controlling interests 140,855
BTN FEE Less: net assets acquired (260,234)
219,492
REE-_ZE—R"F+_A=+— An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
AEtFEREELEBEREZRE X equivalents in the year ended 31 December 2016 in
ReSBYREFEINOT respect of the acquisition is as follows:
FET
HK$’000
FrkERe NS EEY Cash and cash equivalents acquired 223,347
W AFEAR SIS Less: Consideration satisfied by cash
ZRE in the current year (338,871)
REFWENE AR Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries
FREEZRE R FE in the current year (115,524)
RUEE BB R 2R E#EEE The non-controlling interests in Tongfang
RS NIRE R RS Pharmaceutical Group recognised at the acquisition
R U EE 5 AT 5 B F & E B FER date was measured by the present ownership interest’s
R EORIFTE BESRE proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
#140,855,000/8 7T ° acquiree’s identifiable net assets and amounted to

HK$140,855,000.
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41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(C)

(CONTINUED)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefit of expected revenue growth,
future market development and the assembled
workforce of Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group. In
order to capture the opportunities of the medical and
healthcare industry, the Company has established a
wholly owned subsidiary, It REEEHFEEREFREE
ABR2A7A (“Huakong Kangtai”). Huakong Kangtai will
focus on the investment in and operation of medical and
healthcare businesses and Tongfang Pharmaceutical
Group will continue to focus on its pharmaceutical
businesses, it is expected that Huakong Kangtai
and Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group may provide
mutual support for integrating the upstream and
downstream supply chain in the medical, healthcare
and pharmaceutical aspects. For instance, Huakong
Kangtai may create new sources of sales for Tongfang
Pharmaceutical Group, and Huakong Kangtai may in
turn benefit from the existing operational experience
from Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group. As such, the
Directors believe that the acquisition of Tongfang
Pharmaceutical will generate synergies with the Group’s
existing medical, healthcare and pharmaceutical
businesses and raise the Group’s profile in the industry.

These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Included in the loss for the year is HK$4,944,000
attributable to the business generated by Tongfang
Pharmaceutical Group. Revenue for the year
includes HK$124,461,000 generated from Tongfang
Pharmaceutical Group.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2016, total group revenue for the year would have been
HK$904,413,000, and loss for the year would have
been HK$38,746,000. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2016, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.
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41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(C) (CONTINUED)

In determining the “pro-forma” loss of the Group had
Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group been acquired at
the beginning of the current year, the directors have
calculated depreciation of plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments on land use right acquired
on the basis of the fair values arising in the initial
accounting for the business combination rather than
the carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition
financial statements.

42. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The PRC employees of the Group are members of state-
managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to
make the specified contributions.

The Group’s subsidiaries in Singapore participate in a
defined contribution scheme operated by Central Provident
Fund Board in Singapore. The assets of the scheme are
held separately in funds under the control of trustees.
The expenses recognised in these subsidiaries represent
contributions paid and payable to the plan by these
subsidiaries at rates specified in the rules of the plan.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”). All qualifying employees in
Hong Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. Both employees’ and the
Group’s contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s
monthly relevant income with the mandatory cap, and the
Group will make 5% top-up contribution if an employee’s
monthly basic salary exceeds the mandatory cap.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions of the Directors
and staff for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016
are stated in notes 10 and 12 respectively.
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

43. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
the above arrangement and other non-cancellable
operating leases for premises as the production facilities
for manufacture of cement and premises for fitness centers
which fall due as follows:

—E—tF ZT—X
2017 2016
THER FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB —F Not later than one year 90,999 7,287
—FLNFETBBRAF Later than one year and not later than
five years 130,891 14,249
HBRAF Later than five years 514 1,109
222,404 22,645
AEEEREHAA The Group as lessor

B R - AR EE B TR RRE
BEHARBSITLAR

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

—E—+tF —E—XHF

2017 2016

TERT FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

NHEE—F Not later than one year 1,809 379
—FLNEFETBBRT Later than one year and not later than

five years 6,477 11617

BBAF Later than five years 2,395 1,990

10,681 3,886
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44. EREE 44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
REBABUTEARRE: The Group had the following capital commitments:
—ZE—tF ZE—REF
2017 2016
THER T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEI N ERREE Capital commitments contracted
IR CETE ST for but not provided in
BN the consolidated financial
statements:
—m—E&E QA — Capital contribution to a joint (a)
H& venture 480,019 446,927
—mAERA — Capital contribution to
Tongfang Konta Tongfang Konta Capital L.P.,
Capital L.P.HE a joint venture 36,812 36,812
*Eﬁﬁ%% B E R — Acquisition of property,
B plant and equipment 47,952 45515
- RE—BEIFZ — Subscription of shares in (b)
& 15 a company - 1,356,722
564,783 1,885,976
(@ HUWARTNR=—_ZFTE——F—-H (@) As announced by the Company on 15 February 2012,
+HEBEFAH RZE——&F= Shanghai SAC entered into the (BARZER"AREEE
A+=H LEEHMEHGLZE B & {E##) (the Bailonggang Project Construction
EEgEM (EB)BER AR (A Cooperation Agreement*) (the “Cooperation Agreement”)
BEBREME (SE)RARA) and the (BIRFZZAEAFR (JRA) W) (the Principle
(ITEB#EMFT L CARER Agreement for the Establishment of the Joint Venture
FE%‘E 1E A ] E\T’ET)?%E%>> (ra
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Hz*ﬁﬁmﬁzﬁﬁtw& H*z &R
H‘sz’] ERKRLAERT A
E&E@E E;%Iﬁaom—ﬁﬂ
é.—:a?ﬂjé%ﬁazrsilm
SEERAIFMEARZ250% D58 A
#400,000,0007T (=& — X
: AR #400,000,0007T) (48
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T R E R

Company?*) (the “JV Principle Agreement”) with /&7
M (%8 ) EBR A7 (Shanghai Building Material (Group)
Company Limited*) (formerly known as L /&E&EH
¥ (52 8) 4 A 7 (Shanghai Building Material (Group)
General Company*)) (“Shanghai Building Material”), a
state-owned enterprise, for the purpose of setting up
a joint venture company (the “JV Company”) pursuant
to the terms and conditions therein on 13 February
2012. Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement,
Shanghai Building Material and Shanghai SAC agreed to
establish the JV Company to operate and manage the
Bailonggang Project under the terms of the JV Principle
Agreement after the relevant government approvals
for the Bailonggang Project being obtained. The
commitment on capital contribution to a joint venture
represents the 50% share of registered capital of the JV
Company by the Group amounting to RMB400,000,000
(2016: RMB400,000,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$480,019,000 (2016: HK$446,927,000)). Details of
the transaction were set out in the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 15 February 2012 and
30 January 2014, respectively, and the circular of the
Company dated 16 March 2012.

Remark: * English name for identification purpose only
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44, EREE (&) 44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@) (#&) (@ (CONTINUED)
RZE-—ZFAAZ %J\El E On 28 September 2012, Shanghai SAC entered
sl i uTI_T\ﬁﬁﬁTﬁ - LABE into three purchase agreements for the purchases
B THENL#eE ﬁfﬁ%/\ of certain equipment and machineries at the
K #380,000, OOOTE(f T—N aggregate consideration of RMB380,000,000 (2016:

£ AR #380,000,0007T) (48
& MR #4456,018,0008 0 (=&
— N 424,581,000 1) ) °
R-_ZE—+F+-_A=+—8"
EEBEHBMEINZ=ZNEEWRH
BPREZZEBHANKEHEARE
68,270,000 (ZZE—R"F: A
R #68,270,0007T) (HME R L

RMB380,000,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$456,018,000 (2016: HK$424,581,000)). As at
31 December 2017, Shanghai SAC has settled the
respective first payments of the total consideration
in an aggregate amount of RMB68,270,000 (2016:
RMB68,270,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$81,927,000 (2016: HK$76,279,000)) under the three
purchase agreements. The equipment and machineries

81,927,000t (==& /\¢ under the three purchase agreements were purchased
76,279,00087T) ) c IRIE =10 for future use in the Bailonggang Project and the
EmEBE 2 RERKETER Group and the Company do not intend to retain such

KARAEABER AEELAK
RAIEBHZERE LR EE
BR -REERAMKILE  LBE
Bt T AR 5 AR BE R B AR BRI ROR AR
RS B &S E AT S A
BECERBEIRBEERETRED

A REAATEBE RS &
MEBETAERE AL
AR BN KA SR AR BR T 1R B A
EMHETABRZERE LK
2 AEﬂﬁﬁAé Al i it &
APl 2 HE - RXBFFITED B
RARBHABMA_T——F+H
EEZQi&E%E F—_F

equipment and machineries for their own use. After
the JV Company is established, Shanghai SAC may
transfer, by way of disposal or otherwise, the equipment
and machineries purchased at cost or novate the rights
and obligations of the purchase agreements at cost to
the JV Company in accordance with the relevant PRC
rules and regulations, or subject to the relevant PRC
rules and regulations, may transfer such equipment and
machineries at cost by way of contribution in kind to
satisfy its proportion of the registered capital of the JV
Company. Details of the transaction were set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 3
October 2012 and 15 November 2012 respectively.

+—A+HBZA

HRBE=HEERZEEZ Since the equipment and machineries under the
HEEEEBEERKARDE three purchase agreements were purchased for
BIEE MAEERAEERE future use in the Bailonggang Project, the total
= Z BAE(PDREZ=HEE commitment of the Group to the Bailonggang Project,
MEETCAE)ERAAR including the commitment under the three purchase
#¥400,000,0007T ( ﬁia?ﬁém@ agreements, would be limited to RMB400,000,000
446,927,000 7L (=T —RF: (equivalent to approximately HK$446,927,000 (2016:
446,927,000 L) ) + Bl A — & HK$446,927,000)) being the commitment on capital
BERBILE 2 &E- contribution to a joint venture.
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H A& 2RQ7A - Binex Co., Ltd.
([Binex ] — B RERIZS
FBEEEHFXITEDRER
#: (Korean Securities Dealers
Automated Quotations of Korea
Exchange) Emz 2 7) -
Able Partners Co., Ltd.*Binex
Holdings Co., Ltd. " Lee, Hyuk-
Jong’t & K Jeong, Myung-Ho
EEIT—HROHRBEBE B
AN AB(KBEREETEE
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44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

()

On 29 November 2016, the Company, Binex Co.,
Ltd. (“Binex”, a company listed on Korean Securities
Dealers Automated Quotations of Korea Exchange),
Able Partners Co., Ltd., Binex Holdings Co., Ltd., Mr.
Lee, Hyuk-dong and Mr. Jeong, Myung-Ho entered
into a share subscription agreement, pursuant to which
the Company (or through its wholly owned subsidiary
designated by it) has conditionally agreed to subscribe
from Binex, and Binex has conditionally agreed to
issue to the Company (or through its wholly owned
subsidiary designated by it) 13,182,298 shares of voting
common stock of Binex. Based on the subscription
price of KRW16,000 per share, the total subscription
consideration is KRW210,916,768,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,397,725,000). The proposed
acquisition is subject to the fulfilment of the conditions
precedent pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 16 December 2016.

After revising the commercial arrangements
contemplated under the share subscription agreement
and in view of the prevailing market conditions, the
Company and other parties to the share subscription
agreement commercially agreed to terminate the
proposed subscription of equity interest in Binex. On 31
May 2017, the Company, Binex and the majority Korean
shareholders entered into a termination deed pursuant
to which the involved parties agreed that the share
subscription agreement and all related agreements
signed in relation to the share subscription agreement
would be terminated and ceased to have any force or
effect from the date of the termination deed. Details of
the termination were set out in the announcement dated
31 May 2017.
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45. E X E R E R 45. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AEEERLALN  RRAEE YK
AR EGE  WEBELES RS
& 4 A AR R A A A B 4 o A
B BEERE L FERRTE -

AEFBZEAFEBREER (X28%E
PYGESSPT KRR < RITRAMBE ) IA
NABREGELD  BREDBEITRA
R RE RN EEEFRTEANG
BotERRE 2 —Hn EFEEEE
RERAREERRRIEEZ B - 2R
EEzE@d AKERBEBRBITHK
0 BB RETHESKELRE
BEBAFHERBENLERE -

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners of the Company through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
mainly includes the bank and other borrowings disclosed in
note 33 and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits.
The Directors review the capital structure on an annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through issuance of new
shares and share buy-back as well as the issuance of new
debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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46. €M T A 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SRMIAZER Categories of financial instruments
—E—+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

TREE Financial assets
FRERERATEEAE Financial assets at fair value through

BEZEHMEE profit or loss
HIEEEKRE (H7F29) Held for trading investments (note 29) 53,389 98,070
EEBBIBRERIXZAFEE Financial assets designated as at fair

BEZERMEE value through profit or loss (note 29)

(FF3E29) 61,331 22,434

114,720 120,504
B ERERIE Loans and receivables
JEWE 5B REWEE  Trade and bills receivables (note 26)

(KtzE26) 532,671 347,989
Hap ez kit Other receivables and deposits

CEF A EL At i e 3kTE (included in other receivables,

e MFERFIE) deposits and prepayments)

(FF5E27) (note 27) 61,202 57,843
FEUERTT FI B ULA Bank interest income receivable

(T AE A e Y 5k (included in other receivables,

e RFEMIE) deposits and prepayments)

(Mt&E27) (note 27) 273 5,246
R E K (H7E28) Loans receivables (note 28) 178,878 167,264
—REFR T ERAFRK Amount due from an intermediate

(P 3E48) holding company (note 48) - 89,385
—BEERAFRK Amount due from a joint venture

(Ht5x48) (note 48) 7,972 131
—RBE R RRR Amount due from an associate

(HMt5x48) (note 48) 34,667 =
H b B 5 R Amounts due from other related

(Hi5£49(c)) parties (note 49(c)) 208,961 168,865
ZRHERITFER (M530)  Restricted bank deposit (note 30) - 2,518
SRR TE (M5E30)  Pledged bank deposits (note 30) 35,762 421,416
BERHAANE+ A2 Time deposits with original maturity

7EHIF S (M93E30) between 4 to 12 months (note 30) - 22,347
RekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents (note 30)

(FF#E30) 381,450 581,137

1,441,836 1,864,141
1,556,556 1,984,645
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46. TR T B (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CcONTINUED)
SMIAEZER (&) Categories of financial instruments
(CONTINUED)
—E—LF —E—RF
2017 2016
FET TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

REBHEKATEZ SR A Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
BN EZHBELENEE  Trade and bills payables (note 31)

(M$5E31) 207,512 175,428
HibERZIE LD UWIZE4E  Other payables and deposits received
(d‘)\ﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘%ﬁnlﬁ& (included in other payables and
2iize) (M5E32) deposits received) (note 32) 45,136 26,024
mEYE- h“_uﬁ)%& Payables for acquisition of property,
R R plant and equipment (included in
( ﬁ]\ﬁﬁﬂgﬁ KIE & other payables and deposits
BliEe) (MFE32) received) (note 32) 1,817 3,652
Hh et £ & A Other accrued operating expenses
(FF AEAth fE T FRIE K (included in other payables and
BliEE) (Bﬁész) deposits received) (note 32) 22,507 12,513
R—REFNERAFFKIE  Amount due to an intermediate
(Ft5E48) holding company (note 48) 17,011 24,230
R E M BB 7 SRR Amounts due to other related parties
(MI3£49(c)) (note 49(c)) 57,974 9,528
BT R EAMEE (M7£33)  Bank and other borrowings (note 33) 805,002 1,079,441
1,156,959 1,330,816
ctREAREEEERBEK Financial risk management objectives and
policies
AEEBZETESMTEHN EXZ The Group’s major financial instruments are listed above.
EEMIAFBEREBAMEAREE- Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
FAZEemIAZARBEMSR respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
Bex () 2 & By 9|\*f%zﬂ 2 R E A ERE instruments include market risk (interest rate risk, foreign
B EERREAESMERR -GN currency risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
ﬂﬂ%ﬁ?%ﬂﬁﬁZﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁTY o E 1B The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
EaBERkERZEREE R EE The management manages and monitors these exposures to
BB B EEE BB ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CcONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to certain fixed-rate pledged bank deposits, restricted
bank deposits, amount due from an intermediate holding
company, loan to a non-controlling shareholder of the Group’s
subsidiary, time deposits, loans receivables, other receivable
and bank and other borrowings (see note 33 for details of
these bank and other borrowings).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank balances and bank and other borrowings
(see note 33 for details of these bank and other borrowings).
For interest rate linked structured deposits, which are
grouped under other principal protected deposits, interest
varies depending on the movement of the Shanghai Interbank
Offered Rate (the “SHIBOR”).

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate
its exposure associated with interest rate risk. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
necessary actions when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate, London Interbank Offered Rate
and the interest rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China
arising from the Group’s bank and other borrowings.
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46. TR T B (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CcONTINUED)

TREABEEREERBE (#)
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Market risk (CONTINUED)
Interest rate risk (CONTINUED)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rate for non-derivative
instruments relating to bank balances and floating-rate bank
and other borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of assets and
liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. 200 basis points increase or
decrease for bank and other borrowings and 15 basis points
increase for bank balances represent the management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. It is expected that the interest rate for bank balances
will not decrease in the next twelve months from end of the
reporting period.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 200 basis
points in respect of bank and other borrowings and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year ended 31 December 2017 would decrease/increase
by HK$10,075,000 (2016: loss for the year would increase/
decrease by HK$15,070,000).

In addition, if interest rates had been increased by 15 basis
points in respective of bank balances and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31
December 2017 would increase by HK$437,000 (2016: loss
for the year would decrease by HK$791,000).

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its interest
rate linked structured deposits which are principal protected
and their interest varies depending on the movement of the
SHIBOR. As 31 December 2017, there was no outstanding
interest rate linked structured deposits.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in bonds and listed equity securities. The
management closely monitors the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise. The
management considers the exposure of other price risk for
its investments is not significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CcONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Market risk (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rate. The Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC
other than Hong Kong and Singapore. As at 31 December
2017, the Group has bank balances, pledged bank deposits,
amounts due from other related parties, amounts due to other
related parties and bank and other borrowings (2016: bank
balances, amounts due to other related parties and bank
and other borrowings) denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the respective group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary
liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entities are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE =L

—§-tF -B2-AF CZ®-tF -2
2017 2016 2017 2016
FTER TET TER TExT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
32,610 2,499 2,343 -
87,606 770,574 387,334 782,589
12,523 - 21,748 -
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Market risk (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency risk (CONTINUED)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against the relevant foreign
currency. 5% sensitivity rate represents the management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis includes the financial
assets and financial liabilities denominated in the relevant
foreign currency, and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rate.
A positive or negative number below indicates an increase
or a decrease in profit for the year (2016: decrease/increase
in loss for the year) where RMB strengthen 5% against the
relevant foreign currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
in these currencies, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the result for the year.

—E—+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
NEEFEEE Result for the year

ETT usD (1,135) (125)
BT HK$ 11,240 451
g T SGD 346 4

EERKE Credit risk

AEBZEERRTIZEERE SN
B R SRR S Hoth R ROR BB 1R
RERATEEREZSREE B
3 —HPNERQIFRK - —HE
BRAIRF - —HBERBRK - EMh
BB T R XRBIRITER  SHEAF
RITHER - EFFRARRBITHESRNE
TBM-

AEERAXZHFREBITEEIME
AEEARIUBEIRZEREER
- HE RS SMBIR KM 2 &R
ERRATRMEECRASRE-

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
bills and other receivables, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans receivables, amount due from
an intermediate holding company, amount due from a joint
venture, amount due from an associate, amounts due from
other related parties, restricted bank deposit, pledged bank
deposits, time deposits and bank balances and cash.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CcONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (CONTINUED)

In order to minimise credit risk, the management has
delegated a team to be responsible for the determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Independent companies are engaged to investigate
the credibility of customers, and guarantees or pledges of
assets provided by them on a needed basis. In addition,
the management reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt, bills receivables and other receivables
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk on other principal protected deposits is limited
because they are principal protected and the issuing banks
are reputable banks with good credit ratings.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group’s
pledged short-term bank deposits, time deposits and bank
balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings in
Hong Kong and the PRC.

The credit risk on loans receivables, amount due from an
intermediate holding company, amount due from a joint
venture, amount due from an associate and amounts
due from other related parties are limited because
the management of the Group determines that these
counterparties are in strong financial position.

The Group has concentration risk on amounts due from
a non-controlling shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary
amounted to HK$158,607,000 (2016: HK$147,673,000)
and loans receivables amounted to HK$178,878,000
(2016: HK$167,264,000) representing 11.1% (2016: 7.9%)
and 12.6% (2016: 9.0%) of total loans and receivables,
respectively as at 31 December 2017. The Group will monitor
the level of exposure to ensure that follow up actions and/
or corrective actions are taken promptly to lower the risk
exposure.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings and
on balances mentioned above, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables
consist of a large number of customers, spread across
diverse industries and geographical areas.
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46.

RZB-t§+=B=+-8 At 31 December 2017

ERNESHERENRER Trade and bills payables and other payables
Eft RN FE

R-ERNBERARHE Amount due to an intermediate holding company

REMEBHRE Amounts due to other related parties

RARABER-F8
FARAMER-ES

Bank and other borrowings - variable rate
Bank and other borrowings - fixed rate

HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

mETH
TS AERRE
Weighted HIMEA AAEIE REGE
average Less 1238 A 3 months 125%F Total FESE
effective than 1-3 to 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months 1 year years  cash flows amount
% TER TER TR TER TR TER
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- 166,516 39,421 71,085 - 216,972 276,972
- 17,011 - - - 17,011 17,011
- 57,974 - - - 57,974 57,974
4.69 2,193 493,735 142,878 - 638,806 628,352
1.26 186 32 2,602 212,500 215,660 176,650
243,880 533,528 216,515 212,500 1,206,423 1,156,959
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46. TR T B (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CcONTINUED)
cTEREAKREEEEREE &) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (CONTINUED)
REMERR (&) Liquidity risk (CONTINUED)
FEEERFEREEZE (&) Liquidity and interest risk tables (CONTINUED)
METH
ELTIE B354
Weighted ~ 2RM{EA 3ERZIE RELE
average Less 1238 A 3 months 1256 Total FReE
effective than 1-3 to 1-5  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months 1 year years cash flows amount

% TR TiEn TR TR TR TR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZE-AETZB=1-H At 31 December 2016
ENESHTARENZER Trade and bills payables and other payables

EftENZE - 134,401 7,486 74,982 748 217,617 217617
R—BENMERARNE Amount due to an intermediate holding company - 24,230 - - - 24,230 24,230
REMBERAFE Amounts due to other related parties - 9,528 - - - 9,528 9,528
BOREMEE-2S Bank and other borrowings - variable rate 3.00 2,112 794,934 125,125 - 922,171 916,313
BOREMEE-ES Bank and other borrowings - fixed rate 1.20 163 326 1468 199,180 201,137 163,128

170,434 802,746 201,575 199,928 1,374,683 1,330,816

WZEF R EFEMNFERRET 2 The amounts included above for variable interest rate
HErFIEHE =R Bt A Bl IESTAE instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
TRABErFE T A SR EE - to change, if changes in variable interest rates differ to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

EMIAZAFEESE

2B RE B2 £ B R AN SR [ a0 R B E & IR
THMEEMBBZATFEBZER-

AEBETEREERNSHBEHR
ZRFEEFE - TREHEEZETS
BEERFEEZTA (LEEMER
2 ERMREAE)  KARRERF
BEAEMAGAEZAIBRIEEM
HAFEEFERERAFEESFR
BB (E—ZE=BR)2EH -

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair value of various financial assets and liabilities.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

AFEE
&
EREE AFEER Fair value fAERMRTEBAE
Financial assets Fair value at hierarchy Valuation technique and key inputs
—E—tF —ZT—RF
2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
BIFEERE
Held for trading investments
82 31,635 79438 HE_HK  FERBZBE-
Bonds Level 2 Quoted prices from pricing services.
REE LT ZRAES 21,324 15,849 F—H/  WHABEAE-
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong Level 1 Quoted bid prices in market.
REEUI £ 2 IRARE 5 428 2,783 B—H  TIHABREAE-
Equity securities listed outside Level 1 Quoted bid prices in market.
Hong Kong
RHMEBERES 2 - B8 MR EAR-
Exchange-traded funds Level 1 Quoted bid price in market.
EEEBERERATEE
EECERMEE
Financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss
R T2 AR & 36,504 - FIB SRBERMA I RE:
Convertible bonds listed in the PRC Level 2 Quoted price from financial institutions.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (CONTINUED)

AFEE
&
TREE DNEEER Fair value AERITRETEHAE
Financial assets Fair value at hierarchy Valuation technique and key inputs
ZB-tF -TAF
2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
PE R R EE TR 24,827 22,434 HE_#H BRReRE - RERKEREE 2 HX (F
FA R 3 5 A R A MR HA 4 T 35 ERAG 2 B fiR
&%1 BEE) Ra M EGARKEER
B UNARMASEAZZSEF (MEA)
ZIEERR 2R EFHIEE
Exchange rate linked structured Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
deposits estimated based on the probabilities of
future exchange rate movements (which are
modelled using the implied volatility prices
at the end of the reporting period from
the foreign exchange options market) and
contracted interest rates, discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk of the Group
or the counterparties, as appropriate.
114,720 120,504
REBE_ZT ti&_ = /‘\¢+: There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
A=1+—BLEFE - F_HH years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
FEZRzEWEER -
EERR TEEREREYBREAR The Directors consider that the carrying amount of the

?‘%ﬁﬁﬁ&$§ﬂ%§2$%ﬂ’éﬁ§&$%ﬁiﬁ%
ZEmSBEEQNTEERES ZFEAQ
Efﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁfﬁiﬁ/flﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂ
REBEMEE -

NP

Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.
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EERH

R-_E—+FE+-_A=+—H XK
B 2R M H M fEE249,795,000
BT (ZEE—RXF :502,793,000/8
JT) B F?ﬁﬁ-ﬁﬂﬁﬁ - P
% HASR 17 R & 100,003,000/ (= F
—7N%:98,831,000/8 70 ) RV EHE
3,414,000 T (ZE—AF:E)BE
LATRBITE B B4R

HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

47. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s bank and other
borrowings of HK$249,795,000 (2016: HK$502,793,000),
short-term bank facilities in respect of the issuance of bills
payable to suppliers amounting to HK$100,003,000 (2016:
HK$98,831,000) and finance lease of HK$3,414,000 (2016:
nil) were secured by the following:

—E—4tE —T—REF
2017 2016
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT REEY Buildings and structures 155,271 105,999
B 5 K i 2% Plant and machinery 54,339 _
T A BN ERIE Prepaid lease payments on land use
rights 99,524 45,655
bE 3 15 60 45 18 1 17 3K Exchange rate linked structured deposits 24,001 22,434
EEMRITER Pledged bank deposits 35,762 421,416
368,897 595,504
—BEHRNERAT,—B4E  48. AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) AN
ENFE —HEBEQARRR INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY/
(R—BHRNERAT, — B A JOINT VENTURE/AN ASSOCIATE
EERQAT/ —HEE QT
MIE)
R = 2 — g A elEL S - — (5] 0 — As at 31 December 2016, amount due from an intermediate
MENMNERAGTRFIEBERAZFRNEZE holding company represented the provision of loans to the
i A &) $e it & 355,900,000 T & intermediate holding company amounted to HK$55,900,000

33,500,000/8 T ' 2 EERAEHE
IREREE.66%N5.44%5 8 A @&
BERBE_ZT—+tF+_A=+—
BIEFERKEE-

*F‘aﬁﬂPﬁﬁﬁi’Aﬁj**F‘aﬁA%@ﬂ
R E R B R (R—F

Al —Hag Rk —HE
H) BEEE %%‘&ZA&ET

and HK$33,500,000, which were unsecured, interest bearing
at 5.66% and 5.44% per annum. The balance has been fully
repaid during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Amount due from (to) an intermediate holding company, a
joint venture and an associate are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand.
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490. BB AR Z R

202

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES
BrAER A SRR N E M I FTIRE In addition to the transactions, balances and commitments
IR EHRREAEN RBEEZZT disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
—+tF+_A=+—HBItFE AEH statements, during the year ended 31 December 2017, the
BB 2R REBRIT Group had transactions and balances with related parties as
follows:
(a) XEZWME (@) Summary of transactions
(BXN)EHA
(Income) Expenses
—E—+tF —T—REF
2017 2016
Bt 5 THEx T T
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
rEEWBARZ Non-controlling shareholders
FE1E AR IR R of the Group’s subsidiaries
—F B WA — Interest income () (6,387) (6,918)
—BEREER - Management fee
expense 89 89
— & A7 An associate
—BREBIA - Management fee income (1,344) -
—SIEERA - Royalty fee income (ifi) (29,886) -
—RBEKA - Service fee income (iii) (3,440) -
R ERA A Intermediate holding
company
—F B A — Interest income (995) (2,214)
(b) TEEEEAERHE (b) Key management personnel
compensation
—E—+tF ZE-RF
2017 2016
FHExT FH&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
HFeLEMEEERN  Salaries and other short-term benefits 13,319 12,266
BES B B AR Post-employment costs 659 601
BEEEURND A Equity-settled share-based payments
=S AN 5,342 6,355
19,320 19,222




40. BEE AR F R &tk (&)

(c) EHABME

REBEE

BT AN E & A A
—BIFERBERZ
LEN

& Uit < £ [ 4 B 1 )
—RIFEBEBERZ
A8

REERARZ —H
[ 2 P /8 X B R

—HBR R

AEEMBRRZ
— R IR R K

H Al BB 7T R K

REBAE

FERN RSB E R A
—BIFERBERZ
@)

RASE KB A
FEFR AR 2 FROR

REREIERCR 7]
—ERREKBREZ
RIH

REAREEN B QA
— % FE R B SR 2
Z—HERZFA

RASEKM B QA
—REE A

RPN IEE R E
—RREHMBRRZ

IR

R EL A B B 07 SR
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(c) Summary of balances

Current assets

Loan to a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group’s
subsidiary

Interest receivable from a
non-controlling shareholder
of the Group’s subsidiary

Amount due from a fellow
subsidiary of the ultimate
holding company

Amount due from a
shareholder

Amount due from a
non-controlling shareholder
of the Group’s subsidiary

Amounts due from other
related parties

Current liabilities
Dividend payable to a
non-controlling shareholder
of the Group’s subsidiary
Amounts due to
non-controlling
shareholders of the
Group’s subsidiaries
Amounts due to a fellow
subsidiary of the ultimate
holding company
Amount due to
an entity controlled by a
non-controlling shareholder
of the Group’s subsidiary
Amount due to a director of
the Group’s subsidiary
Amount due to a fellow
subsidiary of the
intermediate holding
company

Amounts due to other
related parties

Mo =E
Note

(i

(i

(i

(i
(i

(i

—E—tHF —E—RF
2017 2016
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
158,406 147,486
201 187
22,763 21,192
466 -
27,125 -
208,961 168,865
6,846 2,500
28,083 494
12,044 6,534
2,336 -
7,822 -
843 -
57,974 9,528
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40. BEE AR R &tk (&)
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(C) Fs Eﬁﬁi% (#&)

(d) 7

W

(i)

RERHREHIEER - BRT

MAEENE AR Z —BIFER
BREHEZRER - R _T—tF

+ZA=+—R BERALRE
FEAA5% (ZF—RF :4.15%)
R REEAREARZT—N\F
AARZZE—NEXNA(ZZE—RX
FoE - ERFAR_T—+F
NAVEE - ZERHMEREFE
BEXS(EEREMAA) -
SHBENARRAREA-ZT—+
FRA-+ANB(ZZE—X"F: =
T-RNFRA-t++HH)ZAE-

EHAEER T ERAREX
ﬁ“%?fr ETRANA [F5 4R
Rep|ZEHE-

Bz N ERR R RRITE
SEREZ BRENHE

iﬂﬁ 7% 3 &= B 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(c) Summary of balances (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(il

The transactions and balances represented the provision
of entrusted loans through a bank to a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary. As at 31 December
2017, the principals of the loans bear interest at 4.15%
(2016: 4.15%) per annum, were unsecured and were
repayable in May 2018 and June 2018 (2016: May 2017 and
June 2017). The transactions also constituted connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Details
of the transactions were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 26 May 2017 (2016: 27 May 2016).

The balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and were
repayable on demand.

These transactions fall under the definition of ‘continuing
connected transaction’ under the Listing Rules.

(d) The guarantee provided to the Group in relation to the

bank

borrowings by the Group’s intermediate holding

company is set out in note 33.
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50. MEXKMELEBE2YHEE  50. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

TREMARERE EHHEL RS
EE (BERLRERLED) B
ERBHELAMEY NS RBOMN
AERLREBERAEERAR S
RBENSEARELBRENE -

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

BIEER
BRE-&
R-H bR
PNERAT REM  EEZEE
HERE HE BE¥J%  Obligation
Eft Amount HE  arising from
Hftt  Obligations due to an Amounts  a put option
Ef5E under  intermediate due to to non-
[E) Other finance holding other related  controlling ag
Borrowings payables leases company parties  shareholder Total
THR FET T FET FEL T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(F333) (Fiskds)  (MiER49(0)
(note 33) (note 48) (note 49(c))
RZE—+t5-A—H At 1 January 2017 1,079,441 864 - 24,230 9,528 - 1,114,063
BEBLHE Financing cash flows (306,553) 20,238) (2,206) (8,637) 3,151 - (334,483)
KEHBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 5,868 368 5,114 - 174 - 11,524
FERRE (FriEa1(a) Consideration payable (note 41(a)) - - - - 27,125 - 27,125
TRERE New finance leases - - 212 = - = 212
By #ERRE-E Obligation arising from a put
DR AR option to non-controlling shareholder - & = = = 81,900 81,900
SNE R Foreign exchange translation 26,246 - 138 1,418 11,332 - 39,134
Flsx it Interest expenses - 20,234 78 = = = 20,312
&8 (Fiko) Imputed interest (note 9) - - - - - 1,435 1,435
BIFERRTHAERBRR—IE  Derecognition of obligation arising from a
RICHEEL 2 RE put option to non-controlling shareholder - - - - - (83,335) (83,335)
AIRTHERER 2B S Dividend distribution to
non-controlling interests - - - - 6,664 - 6,664
WZZE—t&+-A=+—H At 31 December 2017 805,002 1,150 3,414 17,011 57,974 - 884,551
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51. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

51. XD 8 2 M BARR =

206

—E—+F —E—K
2017 2016
FHET FA&TT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RBEE Non-current assets
W HWEREHE Property, plant and equipment 1,943 79
BB AR ZIE Investments in subsidiaries 457,171 420,902
R—HEEERA = Interests in a joint venture 21,093 32,759
[ IEINEIVNES Amounts due from subsidiaries 642,475 427,687
1,122,682 881,427
REBEE Current assets
HhEWFHIB R TEFIE  Other receivables and prepayments 7,229 10,405
BREBERREAEEER Financial assets at fair value through
BRI EHEE profit or loss 52,958 95,287
=R WVNCIDNEA Amount due from a joint venture 7,972 131
EHERERITER Pledged short-term bank deposits - 400,000
BeENREEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 10,931 212,146
79,090 717,969
REBAE Current liabilities
HEmENZKIEBERETER Other payables and accrued expenses 5,388 8,083
—FREEHZRITEE Bank borrowing due within one year - 400,000
5,388 408,083
RBEEFE Net current assets 73,702 309,886
BEERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 1,196,384 1,191,313
BAR FE Capital and reserves
AR A Share capital 9,900 9,900
0w ERFEE (M) Share premium and reserves (note) 1,186,484 1,181,413
A Total equity 1,196,384 1,191,313
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51. AR R 2B RRFT (&)

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

51. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Bt 5 Note:
BB RERREE Share premium and reserves
ARG PYS)
4R RE®EZ
BEZRGY EERERE
Shares Employee
R EE held for ~ share-based ERfE REEF
Share  share award compensation Translation Retained HE
premium scheme reserve reserve profits Total
T FHET THET T T FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WZZ-R"E—A-H At 1 January 2016 1,215,024 - - (26,099) 8,834 1,197,759
ARAAEESE Loss for the year of the Company - - - - (19,510) (19,510)
HRRZIIERELEL Exchange difference arising on translation to
EXEHE presentation currency - - - (9,737) - (9,737)
REBREH B RS Recognition of equity-settled share-based
BEEURNARRZHR payments under share options scheme - - 13,761 - - 13,761
BRM BRE Share options lapsed - - (22) - 22 -
AR REFEEE RN Purchase of shares for share award scheme - (860) - - - (860)
R-E-x&+-A=+-8  At31 December 2016 1,215,024 (860) 13,739 (35,836) (10654) 1,181,413
ADRARFEBHE Loss for the year of the Company - - - - (11,746) (11,746)
REBEFIEELZESEE  Exchange difference arising on translation to
presentation currency - - - 9,904 - 9,904
REBERET B ER Recognition of equity-settled share-based
ARG AR 2 R payments under share options scheme = = 10,397 = - 10,397
BRI BRE Share options lapsed = - (2,426) = 2,426 L
AR REHEEERSD Purchase of shares for share award scheme - (3,484) - - - (3,484)
WoT—+%&+-A=+-H  At31 December 2017 1,215,004 (4,344) 21,710 (25,932) (19974) 1,186,484

R-B—tF+=A=+—0 ARFTESE

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders

FAQNBRE 2 iR ARGEE,215,024,000
7 0 B 2 38 255 1850,975,0008 7T (= F
— N B fn %18 1,215,024,00058 TR B 2 1R
2 :HE18383,272,000 7T ) °

of the Company as at 31 December 2017 represented the share
premium of HK$1,215,024,000 and net of realised accumulated loss of
HK$50,975,000 (2016: share premium of HK$1,215,024,000 and net of
realised accumulated loss of HK$33,272,000).
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52. fff & 2 T & H 52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
ViN/N Tﬁﬁﬁf%ﬂ%@ ARZE—tFER Particulars of all subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
—E-RE+ZA=+— E Z & rm December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:
T
BETRAR
EERRA/
gMAL/ BRRERER rEEEEZ
By Paid up issued ERRA#ES
Place of - EE ordinary share Effective equity
AREHE incorporation/ Place of capital/paid up interest attributable TTER
Name of company registration operations registered capital to the Group Principal activities
ZE-tE ZTR%
2017 2016
% %
All-cement Limited EBREAES BB (E 100 100 REBRRKEEH
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding and
cement business
All-Shanghai Inc. EBRIES BE 15,376,500 7T 83.33 8333 REALERRKEER
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$15,376,500 Investment holding and
cement business
Fester Global Limited EBREAES BB (E 100 100 ®REZR
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
SRBRATE RBRIES ik 137 100 100 #®EZR
Fortunate Gold Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
EMEARLA BE Bk 18T 100 100 RERR
Fully Fine Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
Gratwick Limited EBRAHS 3 E 100 100 RAER
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
Greater Vision Limited EBREAES BB (E 100 100 ®REZR
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
AEEBERDA 7k E 1B 100 100 ®REZR
Kingway Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BEBRAT BE Bk 18T 100 100 RERR
Kingwood Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
FEREERERA HeHs Tt 100%7T 90 - RE#RK
Konta Investment Management Cayman Islands Hong Kong US$100 Investment holding
Co. Ltd.
SAC Intellectual Properties Limited RERZEHE B E 100 100 REER
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
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52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
BRTRAR
EERRA/
gAY/ EHREMER rEEEEZ
R ] Paid up issued ERBRARES
Place of F-$iE ordinary share Effective equity
NRER incorporation/ Place of capital/paid up interest attributable TEER
Name of company registration operations registered capital to the Group Principal activities
—E-tE —T-RF
2017 2016
% %
IWRBAERKERRAA HE(EREEAF HE 14,360,000 7T 100 100 EEREEKRRAR
(RBRENBREX
2%))
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement The PRC The PRC US$14,360,000 Manufacture and sales of
Limited (BREARA cement and clinker
(RBRENBREX
2%))
IR EBARBERERAA HE(EREEAT HE 1,000,000% T 100 100 4ERHEEH
(SNEDEAEE) )
Shandong Shanghai Allied The PRC The PRC US$1,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and sales of
Cement Co., Ltd. (BREAAR slag
(SNEDEABEE) )
FEBAKEERAR HE(BEREERT HE 104,000,000 & 50¢ 500 BEKERAH
(ABRERNAE))
Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC The PRC US$104,000,000 Trading of cement and
(BREAAR clinker
(REREERAE))
TBKRERERAR BE Hib 10,000,000% 7T 100 100 REER
Shanghai Allied Cement Holdings ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 Investment holding
Limited
Sharkview Limited EBRAES Hib E 100 100 REER
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
EBBR A EBRENES 7E (E 100 100 REZR
Splendid Link Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
EhE-+ HE(BREERT HE AR #120,000,0007T 60 60 REBBRUARHER
(#9hEE)) HERNE
Tongfang Pharmaceutical The PRC The PRC RMB120,000,000 Investment holding and
(BREAAR manufacturing and sales of
(FHNEE)) prescription of drugs
ERER (LR ENH ALK HE(EREERA HE - 60 60% MEBEEM
BRAR (ENEBE))
The PRC The PRC & Research and development
(BREARA of medical products
(EABE))
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52. B AR &SR () 52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
ERITRMRE
EERRE/
FMREL/ EHREAMER AEEEGZ
R ] Paid up issued ERBRARES
Place of F-$iE ordinary share Effective equity
ARER incorporation/ Place of capital/paid up interest attributable TEER
Name of company registration operations registered capital to the Group Principal activities
Bt —T-RF
2017 2016
% %
ARASEREERAR HE(EREERA HE AR 5,360,000 607 60" HEREERFE
(FERAANRER
BREEAEE))
The PRC The PRC RMB5,360,000 Manufacture and sales of
(BREARA prescription drugs
(FERAANRER
BREEAEE))
RELZERELEEERDA HE(EERELRE) TH ARE 39.6 306" HERHEERAH
18,007,322.357C
The PRC The PRC RMB18,007,322.35 Manufacture and sales of
(Kt BBEAAR) prescription drugs
BERAABERLA PE(ERAEAT FE ARE20,723,4187 35.65% 37.652% BUELHERNE
(BAAREXZER) )
The PRC The PRC RMB20,723,418 Manufacture and sales of
(BREARTA prescription drugs
(BAARERER) )
AR (L) £ HE(EtEREEAR) FE AR #8,400,0007 33.26% 33.26" EEERZEEEM
BRAH
The PRC The PRC RMB8,400,000 Trading of laboratory related
(EtEREAERAR) products
RERBEAZEERAA HE(EREERA HE AR 1,000,000 39.6% 39.6% BERNE
(BAANRERZER) )
The PRC The PRC RMB1,000,000 Trading of prescription drugs
(BREAAR
(BANRARER) )
EREFRLENWE RE (EREERHA HE — 35.65 3752 MEBEER
BRAA (BAANREXZRD
EABE))
The PRC The PRC Research and development
(BRELATA of medical products
(BAANRER
ERMEABE) )
AEEBREERES HE HE - 100 100 REZERRGEERM

(RN BBRAR
The PRC The PRC Investment holding and
corporate advisory
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52. B A RIEHR (&) 52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
BRTRAR
EERRA/
2RI/ BAREMER rEEEEZ
R ] Paid up issued ERBRARES
Place of F-$iE ordinary share Effective equity
NRER incorporation/ Place of capital/paid up interest attributable TEER
Name of company registration operations registered capital to the Group Principal activities
—E-tE —T-RF
2017 2016
% %
EEMRCEEREN HE(EREEAT HE = 100 100 REZRRLERM
(RIDERRT (RBRENEE))
The PRC The PRC Investment holding and
(BREARA corporate advisory
(RBRENEE))
IrEERRBRERER RE(EREEAR HE = 100 100 REAER
BRAR (ENBE))
The PRC The PRC Investment holding
(BREARA
(EABE))
FERE (R ENHEHL  PE(BREERF T AR#10,000,0007C 100 - EEex
BRAR (ENER))
The PRC The PRC RMB10,000,000 Inactive
(EREERA
(EABE))
B3 R I8 HE(EREEAF HE AR #10,000,0007C 85" NA  REEARERER
(BnEE))
Guorui Tongshun The PRC The PRC RMB10,000,000 Provision of energy
(BREAAR performance contracting
(BmEE))
REREFRAR 0 EE BT 100 - REER
Glorious Mark Investments Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS$1 Investment holding
Limited
TFKT True Holdings REHS EipIIb 5,050,000% T 54 - RAER
Cayman Islands Singapore US$5,050,000 Investment holding
Nation Valley Investment Limited ~ £BRZ#HS gl E 54 - REER
British Virgin Islands Singapore US$1 Investment holding
Profit Heaven Management Limited B Z#2S A% e 547 - REBRK
British Virgin Islands Singapore US$1 Investment holding
BH(EMRSARBAERRA  BE HE AR 4,558,774 547 - @ERSHLRERME
R%
True Yoga (Xiamen) Co., Ltd. The PRC The PRC RMB4,558,774 Operating of fitness

centres and provision of
consultation services
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52. B AR &SR () 52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
ERITRMRE
EERRE/
gAY/ EHREMER AEEEGZ
R ] Paid up issued ERBRARES
Place of F-$iE ordinary share Effective equity
ARER incorporation/ Place of capital/paid up interest attributable TEER
Name of company registration operations registered capital to the Group Principal activities
—E-t§ -—T-iF
2017 2016
% %
True Fitness Holdings g g 1H KT 547 - BERR
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
Singapore Singapore SGDA1 Investment holding
True Fit Pte. Ltd. EiglIb GigIIb ST 547 - BERSROREMRE:
k%
Singapore Singapore SGDA1 Operating of fitness

centres and provision of
consultation services

True Fitness Pte. Ltd. g A% 4,474,000%7 MK 7T 547 - BERSPORRHES
MR
Singapore Singapore SGD4,474,000 Operating of fitness

centres and provision of
consultation services

True Yoga Pte. Ltd. A% g 100,000 A1 T 54+ - BERgHORRHES
%
Singapore Singapore SGD100,000 Operating of fitness

centres and provision of
consultation services

True Fitness (STC) Pte. Ltd. g ;g 1,700,000 3% 7T 54 - BERFPLRREHRER
FR %
Singapore Singapore SGD1,700,000 Operating of fitness

centres and provision of
consultation services

kox

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

k=102

RER - KB B EETERNES

et Remark:

5 %A Rl AR A B H83.33% a2 M 5 This company is held and controlled by a 83.33%-owned subsidiary
BARIFE RES - of the Company.

& ZENRIRR EERA L - i These companies are held and controlled by Tongfang

Pharmaceutical.

# ZERRIARTRKT True Holdings¥s & &2 ##  These companies are held and controlled by TFKT True Holdings.
il o

* ZATRBE_E—+FE+-_A=+— * This company becomes a subsidiary of the Company from an
AEFEBRARBZEBERAIKNABER associate of the Company during the year ended 31 December
AlZ KB AE - 2017.

** ZENRBARTRREELEEBR AR > These companies were set up by Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings
A BB SRR - Limited and there was no paid up share capital.
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a ,\ﬁ%%iﬁz%ﬁﬁ T Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017
BeENTER 53. PARTICULARS OF ASSOCIATES
ARARBERNRR_TE—tFR_F Particulars of associates of the Company as at 31 December
—*\E‘I—:HE‘I——EIZQHZZDT 2017 and 2016 are as follows:
BHR FEEEL
ZHER ERRAER
Rt LeEny Paid up Effective equity TEER
INGER: Place of Place of registered RER interest attributable Principal
Name of company registration operations capital Voting power to the Group activities
ZE-tF ZE-RE ZBE-tf CZET-1F
2017 2016 2017 2016
% % % %
il B (BREM HE ARE TER 39 TER 39 RESRHEER
(BIMEE)) 6,000,0007T
The PRC The PRC RMBS6,000,000 N/A* N/A* Provision of energy
(EREAAA performance
(BRAE)) contracting
PERNERERAR REHE a2l e 29 - 29 - REER
165,245,0007T
True Yoga Holdings Limited ~ Cayman Islands Taiwan New Taiwan dollar Investment holding
165,245,000
e Remark:
* ZARRBE_T—+tF+=A=+— * This company becomes a subsidiary of the Company from an
AEFEBRARRZEBERAKN AR associate of the Company during the year ended 31 December
Al Z ML) 2017.
SERAEH 54. PARTICULARS OF JOINT VENTURE
AKRAREERANR_ZTE—tFE=F Particulars of joint venture of the Company as at 31
—RNETZA=+—HZEHOT: December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:
BRTRME
EBRRA/
BHREMES rEEESZ
Paid up ERBRARS
SMAL Y mEwy ordinary share Effective equity TEEE
NG Place of Place of capital/paid up REE interest attributable Principal
Name of company incorporation operations  registered capital Voting power to the Group activities
ZE-tE N3 ZE-tf§ “E-RF
2017 2016 2017 2016
% % % %
Konta Capital RERS £f2ARE 100% 7T 50 50 99.99 999 WEREER
Cayman Islands The United US$100 Research and
States of development of
America medical products
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55. A E KFIERERE 2IESE  55. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
EMBATZFHE SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

TRETARARBEEEREERER The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
ZIHEETEWBARZFFE: subsidiaries of the Company that have material non-
controlling interests:
FERERRE2EEE
BERREELA
Proportion of ownership PRMEFERERZ
interest and voting B (FE) R FERER
NGE:S rights held by Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of company non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
“E-tf 2R ZEB-t§ T-RF CZB-t& CTRF
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
TEL TR TER FET
% % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
LasaKEERAR 50 50 8,016 9,558 403,576 375,940
Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd.
RAgEE 40 40 14,876 (1,864) 110,292 96,891
Tongfang Pharmaceutical
RPEXZFZEMBAA 37-45 37-45 7,168 1,975 58,284 39,024
Non-wholly owned subsidiaries of Tongfang
Pharmaceutical
TFKT True Holdings 46 - 6,454 - 43,641 -
BEFERER 2 ANEEANERA 8,896 5,374
Individually immaterial subsidiary with non-
controlling interests
624,689 517,229
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EMBE AR Z25FE (&)

BEAARBEAEANIFERER ZW
BRABZHBEMREHINMAT - AT
BHRENBEZEZREERNBHEAZE

B e

LBBaKEARAF

B EE

FRBEE

mEBAE

FRBEE

ARBBREG R

FRIE S

AATEZFEEZEEEER AT TONGFANG KONTAFARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

474 B 15 3R R M 3T Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

amounts before intra-group eliminations.

Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd.

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

Non-controlling interests

55. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Company’s
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below presented

—E—t% e
2017 2016
THT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
921,516 824,565
157,829 148,982
(246,544) (202,130)
(25,681) (19,580)
403,544 375,897
403,576 375,940
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55. BEEREEREZZHES
EMB AR Z25EE (&)

55. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

216

LBBEKEERIT (£)

(CONTINUED)

Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (CONTINUED)

—ZE—tF ZE—RF
2017 2016
TER FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 485,790 320,008
& AF58 Net expenses (469,758) (300,902)
AN R A Profit for the year 16,032 19,106
A AR G & Profit attributable to owners of the
Company 8,016 9,553
FE 128 PR HE A5 PG 8 A Profit attributable to non-controlling
interests 8,016 9,553
2N 2 4 A Profit for the year 16,032 19,106
ARABREGEEMEE  Other comprehensive income (expense)
W (ZH) attributable to owners of the Company 27,961 (25,772)
3'5? HXT/EE mEMEMAE2ME  Other comprehensive income (expense)
@ () attributable to non-controlling interests 27,954 (25,772)
AEZHME2E Y= Other comprehensive income (expense)
(ZH) for the year 55,915 (51,544)
NATIREREIEEEY S Total comprehensive income (expense)
(X )4z attributable to owners of the Company 35,977 (16,219)
JEfER S R 2 EUNEE  Total comprehensive income (expense)
(X )4z attributable to non-controlling interests 35,970 (16,219)
AEF2EWKE (L) 4% Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year 71,947 (32,438)
DR T IEERRE R 2 R Dividend distribution to non-controlling
interests 6,664 1,499
EEXB RS (RE) Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating
MAF R activities (77,458) 36,288
REXB RSN Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing
(R ) F activities 76,907 (41,746)
BEEMK IS REFE  Net cash outflow from financing activities - (3,920)
eI FRE Net cash outflow (551) (9,378)
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55. BEEREEREZZHES
EMBE AR Z25FE (&)

55. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)
EPE: Tongfang Pharmaceutical
—E—tF TR
2017 2016
THERx FH T
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 568,310 345,066
IERBEE Non-current assets 612,377 439,954
mENARE Current liabilities (775,728) (316,551)
FEREEE Non-current liabilities (212,968) (191,783)
NN R g Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 23,415 140,771
[T BRI R ES Non-controlling interests of Tongfang
Pharmaceutical 110,292 96,891
AARSEXMERT 2 Non-controlling interests of Tongfang
JETE R A Pharmaceutical’s subsidiaries 58,284 39,024
WA Revenue 353,774 124,461
BR¥RE Net expenses (309,427) (130,049)
AEEmH (EE) Profit (loss) for the year 44,347 (5,588)
RN BIPREFE(R T (F518) Profit (loss) attributable to owners of
the Company 22,303 (5,699)
[ 7R IEERER Profit (loss) attributable to non-controlling
FEMR & (BiE) interests of Tongfang Pharmaceutical 14,876 (1,864)
BHEEHRBARZ Profit attributable to non-controlling
FE 122 AR 4 2 FE A Vi A interests of Tongfang Pharmaceutical’s
subsidiaries 7,168 1,975
REE T (FE) Profit (loss) for the year 44,347 (5,588)
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(CONTINUED)

55. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Tongfang Pharmaceutical (CONTINUED)

Other comprehensive income (expense)
attributable to owners of the Company

Other comprehensive income (expense)
attributable to non-controlling interests
of Tongfang Pharmaceutical

Other comprehensive income (expense)
attributable to non-controlling interests
of Tongfang Pharmaceutical’s
subsidiaries

Other comprehensive income (expense)
for the year

Total comprehensive income (expense)
attributable to owners of the Company

Total comprehensive income (expense)
attributable to non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income (expense)
attributable to non-controlling interests
of Tongfang Pharmaceutical’s
subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year

Dividend distribution to non-controlling
interests

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating
activities

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Net cash inflow from financing activities

Net cash inflow

—E—+tHF —E—RF
2017 2016
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
15,439 (9,326)
4,079 (2,810)
3,661 (2,241)
23,179 (14,377)
37,742 (15,025)
18,955 (4,674)
10,829 (266)
67,526 (19,965)
(71,016) 40,410
(67,676) (148,577)
185,370 304,489
46,678 196,322
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Hz—

T—tF+ZA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

56. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 23 January 2018, the Company and THTF Energy-
Saving Holdings Limited (the “Subscriber”) entered
into a subscription agreement pursuant to which the
Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe and
the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue
400,000,000 shares of the Company at a price of
HK$0.5 per share.

On 23 January 2018, the Group also entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with Shenzhen
Shiao Wan Yun Investment Co. Ltd. and Sea Best
Group Limited (collectively as the “Vendors”) for
the acquisition of remaining 40% equity interest in
Tongfang Pharmaceutical, at a total consideration
of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$243,902,439), of which (i) RMB100,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$121,951,220) shall be
satisfied in cash and (i) RMB100,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$121,951,220) shall be satisfied by
the issue of 243,863,777 shares of the Company to the
Vendors at the price of HK$0.5 per share.

The transaction is subject to the fulfilment of certain
conditions, which includes, among others, the
passing of an ordinary resolution by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 16 March 2018 to approve
the issue of 243,863,777 of the Company’s shares
as settlement of part of the consideration of the
acquisition of remaining 40% equity interest in Tongfang
Pharmaceutical as contemplated under the sale and
purchase agreement (“EGM”). On 16 March 2018, EGM
was held and the resolution was approved.
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Results
Revenue

Profit (loss) before
taxation
Taxation

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) for the year
attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings (loss) per
share (HK cents)

Assets and liabilities

Total assets

Total liabilities

Non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to
owners of the
Company

BEEt-BA=t-HLEBREE

Financial year ended 31 December

—2-=Ff —Z-mF —FT-hF —FT-RE ZB-LF
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
TR TET TR TET TERT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
703,468 733,125 465,739 633,279 1,344,336
62,618 46,107 (26,985) (20,128) 35,970
(16,396) (18,083) (2,829) (7,425) (119)
46,222 28,024 (29,814) (27,553) 35,851
32,564 17,280 (34,237) (37,076) (1,806)
13,658 10,744 4,423 9,523 37,657
46,222 28,024 (29,814) (27,553) 35,851
0.82 0.43 (0.69) (0.75) (0.04)

RtZ-RA=t-AH

At 31 December

“F-ZF —EF-NmFE —F-hf F-AF IZEB-tF
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
THET TR THET THET TR

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

1,625,996 2,426,774 2,629,925 3,154,191 3,444,210

415,688 713,025 1,021,320 1,511,128 1,595,498
430,169 429,058 400,946 517,229 624,689
780,139 1,284,691 1,207,659 1,125,834 1,224,023
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